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IBC Corporate Information

About This Report

Alaris Holdings Limited’s (“Alaris” or “the Group”) 2020 
integrated annual report provides relevant 
information relating to the economic, environmental, 
social activities and financial issues of the Group for the 
year ended 30 June 2020. The content and structure 
of this report conforms to the recommendations and 
the principles laid out in the King Report on Corporate 
Governance 2016 (“King-IV™”), and complies with the 
South African Companies Act (Act 71 of 2008), as amended 
(“the Companies Act”), the Listings Requirements of the 
JSE Limited (“the JSE Listings Requirements”) and the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

It provides an account of the Group’s progress to date 
and offers a forward-looking perspective in terms of 
future goals, targets and strategies. It aims to provide 
a transparent, balanced and holistic view of the 
Group’s performance.

The report summarises key aspects of the Group and 
provides a strategic overview of the activities within 
the Group. The underlying strength of the report 
is the commitment to corporate governance and 
ethical behaviour.

Board responsibility for integrated annual report 

The board of directors of Alaris Holdings Limited 
(“the Board”) acknowledges responsibility for the 
integrity of the integrated annual report. The directors 
have applied their minds to the report and believe that it 
covers material issues and fairly presents the consolidated 
performance of the Group.

The Board approved the release of the 2020 integrated 
annual report.

An electronic version of this integrated annual report is 
available on the Alaris website: 

www.alarisholdings.com
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ABOUT ALARIS

ALARIS VALUES

ACCOUNTABILITY
I Take Ownership to 

Produce Output
I Make Change Happen

EXCELLENCE
I Continuously Teach 

and Learn
I Deliver Quality

INNOVATION
I Innovate for My Client

INTEGRITY
I Promote Openness

I Respect Others

CLIENT
CENTRIC

I Understand the Needs 
of my Clients.

I Respond Swiftly.
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11 Strategic Overview

  Our Vision

    Be a leading global radio frequency (  “  RF  ”  ) technology h  olding 
Group by investing in RF-  related technology companies.

    Extracting the core aspects from Alaris’ vision statement best 
describes the nature and values of the Group:

  

  Our Mission

    The mission of Alaris is to invest in global RF technology 
companies with similar business models that inter-operate as 
innovative bespoke product and solution design factories for 
their partners.

  

  What We Are All A  bout

    Alaris Holdings Limited is a  n     RF 
technology holding company listed 
on the JSE   AltX   since July 2008.

    The Alaris Group consists of:

    Alaris Antennas  ,   headquartered in Centurion, designs, 
develops, manufactures and sells state-of-the-art, 
specialised broadband antennas and other related RF 
products used in the communication, frequency spectrum 
monitoring, testing and measurement, electronic warfare 
and other specialised markets. Its client base consists of 
system integrators, frequency spectrum regulators and 
players in the homeland security space, located across the 
globe – mostly outside of South Africa – in the Americas, 
Europe and Asia.

    COJOT,   founded in 1986 and located in Espoo, Finland, 
serves military and public safety markets globally. With 
more than 30 years of experience, COJOT designs, 
develops and manufactures innovative broadband 
antennas that improve the connectivity, coverage and 
competitiveness of radio equipment deployed to save lives 
and protect property.

    mWAVE  ,   based in Windham, Maine in the United States, 
is a leading global provider of advanced custom and 
commercial microwave antenna solutions. The company 
was established in 2004 and designs and manufactures 
standard and custom microwave antenna products for 
commercial and government applications spanning the 
scientific,   defen  c  e   and academic communities.  

    Alaris USA  , trading as a division of   mWAVE   Industries and 
based in Windham, Maine, sells and supports specialised 
antennas and other RF related products designed by 
COJOT and Alaris Antennas to its customer base in North 
America. Its products are used in the communication, 
frequency spectrum monitoring, testing and measurement, 
counter unmanned aircraft systems   (  “  UAS  ”  ), electronic 
warfare and other specialised markets. Like COJOT and 
Alaris Antennas, Alaris USA clients are system integrators, 
frequency spectrum regulators, government end users and 
players in the homeland security space. 
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Highlights 

Alaris Holdings Limited and its Subsidiaries’ Five-Year Financial Review Total Operations

The below historical numbers are affected by the following transactions during these five years:

• African Union Communications (“Aucom”) acquisition was consolidated into the Group from February 2014. 
The acquisition included an earnout mechanism that resulted in complex accounting treatment with non-recurring 
adjustments to profits over the three-year earn-out period. 

• COJOT acquisition was consolidated into the Group from May 2016.

• Aucom disposal was effective May 2017. 

• mWAVE acquisition was consolidated into the Group on 1 October 2018.

• Alaris USA LLC doing business as mWAVE came into effect on 1 June 2019.

• COVID-19 pandemic influencing the world economics. 

• Operations as reported in the financial statements should be used as the baseline for the future.

  June 2020 June 2019 June 2018 June 2017 June 2016

Revenue (R’000) 242 753 245 184 187 075 228 658 248 499
Operating EBITDA (R’000) 50 551 61 156 47 895 42 154 75 349
Trading Operating Profit/Loss (R’000) 39 535 54 125 42 722 36 070 67 557
Profit/Loss after tax (R’000) 30 985 41 081 32 919 31 822 21 491

Total Assets (R’000) 283 388 218 395 155 626 155 752 277 837

Cash holdings (R’000) 110 268 41 836 51 679 65 083 94 481
HEPS (cents) 25.89 34.29 28.35 14.61 13.47
EPS (cents) 25.88 34.29 28.35 20.66 13.47
NAV per share (cents) 185.27 137.87 100.18 67.03 84.52
Tangible NAV per share (cents) 130.93 89.48 66.28 34.92 43.68
Actual number of shares in 
issue (less treasury shares) 119 346 231 120 073 330 116 116 771 116 116 771 158 116 771
Number of employees at year-end 130 138 119 116 136 

Current Financial Year Highlights

Revenue decreased by 1% from R245.1 million to R242.8 million

Profit after tax 
decreased by 25% from R41.1 million to R31.0 million

Earnings per share 
decreased by 25% from 34.29 cents to 25.88 cents 

Cash balance of R110.3 million

Consolidated Value-Added Statement

R’000 June 2020 June 2019 June 2018 June 2017 June 2016

Revenue 242 753 245 184 187 075 228 658 248 499
Net cost of raw materials, goods and services (79 876) (77 871) (53 589) (90 853) (111 395)
Wealth created by trading operations 162 877 167 313 133 486 137 805 137 104
Other income 1 689 1 111 738 295 18 131
Finance income 1 802 430 380 1 320 1 532

Total value created 166 368 168 854 134 604 139 420 156 767

Distributed as follows      
Employees      

Salaries and other employee benefits 108 858 95 295 76 502 65 140 54 039
Providers of capital      

Finance cost 558 174 392 4 940 5 211
Providers of services      

General operating expenses 5 157 11 975 9 827 30 806 25 850
Government      

Income taxes 9 794 13 300 9 791 9 822 20 181
Retained for growth 42 001 48 110 38 092 28 712 51 486

Amortisation of intangible assets 4 886 4 280 2 731 3 081 5 190
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 3 216 2 749 2 442 3 003 2 601

Depreciation on right-of-use asset 2 914 – – – –
Net profit after dividend 30 985 41 081 32 919 22 628 43 695

 166 368 168 854 134 604 139 420 156 767

Highlights (continued)
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Our DNA – Business Processes

What We Do
Alaris Holdings Ltd is a leading global radio frequency (RF) 
technology holding Group that invests in RF related 
technology companies and has been listed on the JSE 
AltX since July 2008. The Group’s strategy is to increase 
its involvement in global RF technology and electronics 
companies with similar business models that inter-operate 
as innovative bespoke product and solution design 
factories for their partners.

The Group is uniquely positioned for growth across all the 
subsidiaries and is built on a solid foundation of four key 
strategies: 

• Extensive expertise in RF products, 

• Owning and continuously developing intellectual 
property, 

• Design of antenna and RF system solutions and

• The global footprint of its subsidiaries and the global 
application of its products.

The Group’s active global expansion allows for an 
enhanced product and service offerings, based on an 
extended knowledge spectrum across the subsidiaries. 
Not only do the Group’s customers benefit from access 
to highly skilled engineers across the globe, but the 
companies are uniquely positioned to serve as trusted 
advisors in providing customers with technologically 
advanced, customised solutions.

Although the COVID-19 pandemic had a noticeable 
impact on the Group’s performance, sustainable organic 
growth will remain a strategic priority for the Group. The past 
year has seen an increase in joint development projects 

across the entities in the Group, which have proven to 
be successful.  The companies remain strongly focused 
on research and development, and hold invaluable, 
exploitable patented technologies that can be monetised 
into the future. Cross-selling opportunities and processes 
are in place to further capitalise on synergies between the 
subsidiaries. Operationally the same enterprise resource 
planning (“ERP”) system has been implemented across 
the subsidiaries to improve reporting and to support the 
objective of operational alignment in the Group. 

The design and development of new products based on 
the uniquely combined skill sets of the Group provide an 
opportunity to reach into untapped market segments where 
this expertise can be leveraged. With a core organisation 
value of being client-centric and supporting the creation 
of bespoke solutions, the focus is on the core deliverables 
which the client requires. This results in the provision of 
competitive features and enables increased performance 
for end users. A technological edge is achieved through 
relentless commitment, product innovation and excellent 
service. 

The Group’s global strategy remains one of international 
expansion, aligned to the move into antenna system 
solutions and a stronger focus on RF/microwave electronics, 
thereby extending the range and competitiveness of our 
offerings to our customers. By diversifying into different 
territories and entering new market segments, the 
management team’s focus is to ensure ongoing profitable 
organic and acquisitive growth for the Alaris Holdings 
Group and its stakeholders.

The Group is divided into the following segments: 

Alaris Holdings and 
corporate services

Technology holding company that invests horizontally to exploit its knowledge in 
terms of:

• Offering products (sometimes with services) 

• Focus on system houses and operators

• Focus on client intimacy

• Technology innovation to stay ahead of market and support clients (give our 
clients a competitive edge)

The foreign subsidiaries are 100% owned by Alaris Investment Holdings UK Limited which 
is also reported on under this segment

Alaris Antennas • Specialist DF antenna systems supplier

• Owns IP

• Provide customer solutions through innovative bespoke product design

• Provide competent technical advice by understanding our clients’ requirements

• Excellent service through rapid response

• Wide product offering and solutions tailored to clients’ needs

COJOT • Provide customer solutions through innovative product design

• Owns IP

• Provide competent technical advice by understanding our clients’ needs

• High quality of products designed for outsource manufacturing

• Excellent service through rapid response

mWAVE • Designs, manufactures and supports a wide range of standard and custom 
microwave antenna products for commercial, government and defence 
applications

• Specialises in parabolic grid antennas, solid parabolic antennas and high 
performance, millimetre wave and wide band feed assemblies

• Covers 100 MHz to 110 GHz frequency range with wide product line 

• Owns IP 

• Owns and operates outdoor and indoor antenna test ranges, which are used to 
support new antenna development and production verification

• Offers third party testing for its clients

Alaris USA • Provide competent technical advice by understanding our clients’ needs

• Excellent service through rapid response 

• Wide product offering with flexibility to customer needs

• Provide customer solutions through partnership with COJOT and Alaris 
Antennas

Our DNA – Business Processes (continued)



9ALARIS HOLDINGS     Integrated Annual Report 2020| 8 ALARIS HOLDINGS     Integrated Annual Report 2020| 

Our DNA – Business Processes (continued) Our DNA – Business Processes (continued)

Increase in 
Product Portfolio

Identification of 
new markets, 
cross-selling 
opportunities and 
acquisitions

New products 
developed in 
the DF, LPDA and 
OMNI product 
categories. 
In addition, a new 
PANL has been 
developed

Developed new 
products

Perforated 
parabolic 
antennas. Hybrid 
feed systems and 
large-aperture 
feed systems for 
earth stations

Product offering 
available as from 
1 July 2020

Opportunities Acquiring new 
intellectual capital 
through strategic 
business activities

Antenna system 
solutions with a 
stronger focus on 
RF/Microwave 
electronics. 
Expand on existing 
key application 
areas with new 
products and 
new production 
processes. 
Tapping into new 
market segments 
with access to a 
large sales and 
R&D resource 
pool across the 
subsidiaries

Access to a larger 
sales and R&D 
resource pool 
across Alaris and 
COJOT should 
improve growth 
opportunities

Development of 
high-performance 
multi-band 
custom feeds to 
repurpose large 
aperture earth 
stations and 
tracking antennas

US-based entity 
allows for closer 
interactions with 
US customers

Drive growth in 
various territories 
including the USA, 
MEA and Europe

Entry into new 
market segments, 
and addition of 
distributors, agents 
and system houses

Smart antenna 
technology 
indicates good 
opportunity 
for sales 

Design and 
manufacture of 
small aperture 
earth stations. 
High Power 
Omni-directional 
antennas for 
test range flight 
termination 
systems

Major part of 
global electronic 
warfare market is 
located in USA

Companies 
and Brands

Alaris Holdings, 
Alaris UK and 
Alaris Antennas – 
Corporate division

Alaris 
Antennas – gain 
the advantage

COJOT mWAVE with 
brands: Gabriel 
Antennas and 
Mark Antennas

Alaris USA

Markets Global 
Technology 
Investment 
Holding. 
Corporate head 
office costs 
allocated to this 
division

Defence system 
integrators, 
homeland 
security, spectrum 
monitoring, test 
and measurement 
equipment 

Defence system 
integrators, 
homeland 
security, spectrum 
monitoring

Defense 
contractors, 
public utilities, 
railroads, 
broadcasters, 
stock traders and 
other industries

Defence system 
integrators, 
homeland 
security, spectrum 
monitoring, 
government 
end users

Major Regions RSA, UK Europe, USA, 
Middle East and 
Asia (“MEA”), and 
RSA

Europe, MEA 
and USA

North America North America

Products 
and Services

Regulatory fees, 
non-exec and 
head office 
structure cost, net 
foreign exchange 
gains/losses, legal 
and consulting 
fees for 
acquisitions

Wideband 
direction finding, 
RF/microwave 
electronics, 
counter-RCIED, 
monitoring, 
jamming, 
counter-drone, 
communication, 
antenna 
systems, test and 
measurement 
services 

Wideband 
antennas with 
improved 
connectivity, 
coverage and 
competitive 
performance, 
for the RCIED, 
C-UAV and 
communications 
market

Microwave 
antenna design, 
point-to-point 
antennas, 
airborne, prime 
focus, Cassegrain, 
horn, satellite 
earth station feed 
design, and test 
range services

Extended product 
and service 
offering of Alaris 
Antennas and 
COJOT products 
and services

Business Model Manage cost 
against value 
added by services

Design, 
development, 
manufacture 
and sales of 
specialised 
antenna solutions 
for clients, either 
from existing 
designs or by 
customisation, 
high value with 
low volume

Design, 
development and 
sales of antenna 
products by taking 
cognisance of 
customers’ needs 
and adjusting 
product features 
accordingly. 
The manufacture 
of products is 
outsourced 
through 
partnering 
with contract 
manufacturers 
and a professional 
service provider 
network, higher 
volume with 
lower price

Custom and 
commercial 
design and 
manufacturing of 
antenna products, 
either from existing 
design or new 
development

Wide product 
offering with 
flexibility to 
customers’ needs. 
Provide customer 
solutions through 
partnership with 
COJOT and Alaris 
Antennas

Being based in the 
USA, allows our 
US customers to 
do business with 
a US entity while 
offering support 
from within a 
similar time zone
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 Strategic OverviewWhere We Operate

The corporate offices for Alaris Holdings are located in the Gauteng province of South Africa. The COJOT offices are 
situated in Espoo, Finland and mWAVE as well as Alaris USA are operating from Windham, Maine in the USA.

In order to ensure close proximity to our clients, the subsidiaries in the Group have numerous business partners based around 
the world. The companies supply system houses with specialised antennas. This is primarily through system integrators and 
manufacturers who use custom-designed antennas as part of their product offering, and these constitute a valuable and 
sustainable sales channel. 

COJOT outsources its manufacturing to companies in Finland and Estonia, while Alaris Antennas and mWAVE manufacture 
at their premises in Gauteng, South Africa and Windham, USA respectively. Alaris USA sources its products through 
the subsidiaries.

Major operations

Alaris Antennas COJOT mWAVE Alaris USA

1 Travertine Avenue PL 59 33R Main Street, Unit 1 33R Main Street, Unit 1
N1 Business Park 02271 Espoo Windham, Windham, 
Centurion, 0157 Finland ME 04062 USA ME 04062 USA
South Africa    

Understanding our stakeholders’ interests 

Stakeholder Requirements Engagement Challenges Status

Investors and 
shareholders

Generate sustainable 
returns for investors 
and shareholders

Investor relations and 
communication 

Continuously 
delivering profitable 
growth

Consistent growth 
in earnings and 
increase in global 
footprint which should 
enable future growth 
opportunities

Financial results 
reporting and 
discussions

 Increase 
communication

Annual General 
Meeting

Individual 
engagements

Clear strategy

Clients Our clients expect a 
speedy response to 
requests by offering 
technical expertise of 
innovative antenna 
system solutions and 
system components, 
giving them the 
competitive edge

Client-centricity 
– Understand client 
requirements by 
regular engagement 
with the client and 
offering applicable 
technical solutions 
that address the 
needs of the customer 
through product 
design/solution 
development

Providing innovative 
antenna systems 
and cutting-edge 
technology solutions at 
a market related price 
and within reasonable 
time frames at the 
desired quality

Focused sales strategy 
with more frequent 
travel to improve 
proximity to clients 
globally

Successful integration 
of Alaris USA to be 
closer to US customers

Gaining market share 
in the USA

Proven sales growth in 
the USA 

Gaining market share 
through the presence 
of mWAVE and Alaris 
USA

Partners The agents promoting 
our products require 
innovative solutions 
and technical support

High level 
communications and 
active day-to-day 
support

Ensuring that our 
partners remain 
the leaders in the 
marketplace and 
expanding our global 
footprint 

The Group has shown 
a steady increase in 
agents and partners 
who actively promote 
our products

Partner channel to be 
increased in the US 
and Europe

Employees Ensuring personal 
growth

Continuous 
engagement at all 
levels and increased 
leadership interaction

Retaining and 
recruiting key 
employees and 
scarcity of engineering 
skills 

Actions addressing 
areas of concern 
identified from staff 
surveys 

Inspiring and 
innovative platform for 
individuals to grow

Schedule training 
programs and social 
interaction

Scheduled internal 
and external training 
programs including 
management and 
product training across 
the global teams

Mentoring 
programmes

Being the employer of 
choice in our industry

Offer employee 
benefits, job security, 
incentive programme 
and internal career 
advancement

Closer co-operation 
between the entities 
with possible global 
career opportunities
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Strategic Overview (continued)

Stakeholder Requirements Engagement Challenges Status

Industry players Being the RF 
technology solutions 
provider of choice

Attending worldwide 
trade shows, offering 
effective and 
innovative antenna 
designs and system 
solutions 

Ensuring that we are 
the leaders in the 
market

Attending worldwide 
trade shows and 
adding innovative 
products to the 
Group’s portfolio

Suppliers Ensuring accurate 
orders and timely 
payments

Experienced and 
specialised staff visiting 
supplier premises 
and engaging in 
discussions when new 
materials are required 

Building a trusted 
relationship

Ensuring that 
suppliers deliver 
quality products at 
reasonable prices 
timeously

During the second 
half of the FY, 
Covid-related 
circumstances had a 
challenging impact on 
the supply chain

Quality team performs 
supplier audits 
to ensure quality 
products are delivered 
on time 

Expand supplier 
database two create 
redundancy in options 
to procurecloser 
relationships formed 
with suppliers 

Outsourcing to be 
introduced

Community Uplifting the 
community with 
social development 
programs

Staying abreast of 
community concerns 
and providing a 
platform for education

Ensuring that 
the community 
experiences our 
company as a 
responsible citizen, 
adding value to the 
community and 
environment

Stationery project 
– collection of 
engineering drawing 
equipment and 
stationery for Louis 
Botha Children’s Home

Care in disaster project 
– collection of food 
for those impacted 
most by COVID-19 
circumstances 

Mandela Day project 
– animal food and 
blanket collection for 
the SPCA in Midrand 

Food drive in Maine. 
Donated cash and 
food to the local food 
bank in Windham, 
Maine to distribute 
to those impacted 
most by COVID-19 
circumstances

CHOC Childhood 
Cancer Foundation 
– money donated to 
assist CHOC to ensure 
that the children 
are safe, are able to 
attend treatment and 
that the parents and 
caregivers are relieved 
of the financial stress

Government and 
regulators

Complying with 
regulations

Meeting with relevant 
officials and regulators 
on a regular basis 
and actively staying 
involved in discussions 
regarding changes in 
regulations

Ensuring compliance 
as well as keeping 
abreast of 
developments

In addition to 
the Board taking 
accountability for 
compliance, the 
Group is audited on 
a regular basis by 
independent third 
parties to ensure 
the required levels 
of compliance are 
maintained

The Group’s strategic focus areas of extensive expertise 
in RF products, owning and continuously developing its 
intellectual property, provision of antenna system solutions 
and the ever-expanding global reach of its products 
provide a solid foundation and unique position for growth 
to all entities – Alaris Antennas, COJOT, mWAVE and 
Alaris USA.

Alaris Antennas provided a solid result amidst the storm of 
the COVID-19 pandemic and the continuously increasing 
challenging market conditions in South Africa. During the 
first half of the year, the company provided positive growth 
in revenue and PAT, and with the strong pipeline, a solid 
foundation was laid for an outstanding year. 

The company was set on a clear path to achieve 
outstanding results, when Alaris Antennas had to go into 
hard lockdown from 27 March to 16 April 2020. An essential 
services certificate was obtained and as from 17 April, 
Alaris was able to start ramping up production again. 
Some staff members continued to work from home, 
adhering to governmental guidelines. As per Health & 
Safety requirements, various measures were put in place 
to mitigate the risk of exposure. Regular Health and Safety 
Committee meetings were held to monitor the situation 
closely. Challenges were experienced from a supply 
chain and freight forwarding perspective to ship orders to 
customers globally. 

The healthy results of the first half can be attributed to three 
high value orders, which included large volumes on two 
fully developed products. The high-volume manufacturing 
resulted in healthy margins for the company. The strategy of 
focusing on closer client interaction earlier in the program 
cycle to ensure that Alaris products are designed into a 
larger system, is bearing results. 

Lockdown and COVID-19 restrictions have taken their toll 
on the performance of the entity in the second half of the 
year. Although the team at Alaris exhibited commitment 
and determination to achieve the set target by driving to 
execute all orders by year-end, a few of the larger orders 
moved into the first two months of the new financial year. 
A reasonable financial result was reached in the end. This 
result is also testament to the value of the Group’s emphasis 
on client-centricity by ensuring we focus on delivering 
quality products.

As per the defined strategy, Alaris executed on large repeat 
orders during the first half, allowing the engineering team 
to focus on the design of products that were identified in 
the product roadmap to secure future programs and new 
customers. This led to the innovative development of three 
new products, adding to its competitive advantage and 
ability to develop cutting-edge technology solutions for its 
clients in a niche market. 

The company has established itself in the industry as a 
specialist Direction Finding (DF) antenna supplier, with a 
highly skilled and specialised team of engineers uniquely 
positioned to support the company’s objective of being 
the preferred supplier and partner of advanced RF 
products. The company will be using this key differentiator 
to encourage further expansion into antenna system 
solutions and RF/Microwave electronics.

One of the company’s key strengths lies in its ability to 
develop and hold its own IP as it continues to invest 

significantly in research and development, adding to its 
competitive advantage in a niche market. 

Alaris Antennas is a South African based organisation, 
and products are manufactured on site in Centurion. 
Approximately 90% of the company’s revenue is derived 
from exports – providing a strong justification to continue 
the push to increase the Group’s footprint globally.

The management team is confident that its continued focus 
on quality and the ongoing development of cutting-edge 
technological products, will continue to place Alaris 
Antennas in an ideal position for future expansion of 
market segments and offerings. The strategy to focus on 
closer client interactions earlier on in the program cycle, 
to ensure that Alaris products are designed in, seem to be 
converting into sizeable opportunities. The team is grateful 
for the company’s strong balance sheet and order book, 
which made it possible to weather the storm and is excited 
about the positive outlook into the new financial year. 

COJOT’s years of design, development and manufacturing 
expertise have enabled the company to offer reliable 
and durable antenna equipment to some of the most 
demanding environments in the world. Like Alaris 
Antennas, the company has a strong client-centric 
approach, resulting in close relationships with its customers. 
The company makes use of a direct sales team and 
selected channel partners to build its order book. 

The company has a team of highly skilled engineers 
with many years of experience in the design and 
development of innovative wideband antennas that 
improve the connectivity, coverage and competitiveness 
of radio equipment deployed to protect and save lives. 
The company has established various partnerships with key 
contract manufacturers, providing efficiency, scalability 
and seamless quality to its client base.

Several switched beam antenna (SBA) sales projects have 
been secured and the outlook for growth in this field is 
encouraging. The Group’s engineers are well-positioned to 
drive this trend. The use of SBA can enhance the usability, 
performance and spectrum management of complex 
communication networks in various ways by combining 
the advantages of higher gain directional antennas with 
mobility and directional selectivity. Improved signal levels 
support higher data rates and longer communication 
ranges whilst interference, both intentional and 
non-intentional, is minimised. Communication between 
the nodes is also more secure and has a reduced spectral 
signature. SBA antennas can be used for RF detection and 
tracking in C-UAV systems.

Over the past couple of years from the date of the 
acquisition in 2016, COJOT has established itself as a 
valuable asset to the Group. The MIDAS range and 
product line of smart antennas are set to provide a unique 
competitive edge to its customers and contribute to the 
organic growth of the Group.

As a major part of the global electronic warfare market is 
located in the USA, mWAVE is perfectly poised for organic 
growth. Its product lines complement those of the Group’s 
other subsidiaries, providing a further positive outlook for 
future growth. 

Strategic Overview (continued)
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Strategic Overview (continued)

Profits can be increased by improving margins and focusing 
on customised product sales. The sales team has managed 
to unlock several such opportunities with current and new 
customers. 

Operational and marketing activities to align the company 
with the Group’s strategic objectives will be a key focus 
for mWAVE in the year to come. A new website, full 
implementation of Salesforce for customers’ relationship 
management and a focus on lead generation and 
management will be key projects. mWAVE is also expanding 
its network of independent sales representatives for better 
market coverage and penetration. 

The growth of the Alaris USA division of mWAVE, will play 
a key role in increasing exposure of Alaris Antennas and 
COJOT products into the North American region and 
building relationships with new and existing customers. 
The efforts of Alaris USA will be assisting in the promotion 
of the Alaris Group initiative of cooperative cross-selling, 
enabling an ever-expanding product offering to customers.

Alaris USA’s competitive advantage lies in its ability to 
offer a broad range of specialised products through its 
partnerships, and with the support from the technical teams 
in Finland and South Africa, the capability to create and 
develop customised solutions for its customers. Its status as 
a US based entity allows the company closer interactions 
and relationships with its customer base in North America, 
giving Alaris USA invaluable access to the largest defense 
market in the world. 

Products are designed and manufactured by two other 
subsidiaries of the Group, namely Alaris Antennas in South 
Africa and COJOT in Finland. Its close relationship with the 
technical teams in both locations has allowed for several 
new opportunities to be created, and the company is 
entering into new market segments. Further opportunities 
for growth exist in the addition of distributors, sales 
representative agents and new system houses as clients 
and expanding business in large contractors. 

It is expected that opportunities will be developed where 
the requirement from US customers will be for products to be 
made in the USA. Alaris USA may include the development 
of its own design and manufacturing capacity to be able 
to service this need, taking advantage of the existing 
capabilities of mWAVE and bolstering these as required. 

The Group’s purposefully driven global expansion allows 
for an enhanced product and service offering, based on 
an extended knowledge spectrum across the subsidiaries. 

Not only do the Group’s customers benefit from access 
to highly skilled engineers across the globe, but the four 
companies are uniquely positioned to serve as trusted 
advisors in providing customers with technologically 
advanced and customised solutions.

Sustainable organic growth will remain a strategic priority 
for the Group, whilst operational activities are continuously 
aligned as the operations expand.

The companies in the Group are strongly focused 
on research and development, and hold invaluable, 
exploitable patented technologies that can be monetised 
into the future. Cross-selling opportunities and processes 
are in place to further capitalise on synergies between 
the subsidiaries.

The design and development of new products based on 
the uniquely combined skill sets of the four companies 
will continue to provide competitive features and enable 
increased performance for end users. All four entities 
relentlessly strive to provide their customers with a 
technological edge through constant product innovation 
and excellent service. 

This year the Alaris Holdings Group had to face the impact 
of the COVID-19 pandemic, not only on operational 
activities and its deliveries to customers world-wide, but 
also as a result of this, an impact on the financial results. 
The Group’s revenue decreased by 1% from R245.2 million 
to R242.8 million. The Group’s PAT (Profit After Tax) declined 
by 25% from R41.1 million to R31.0 million. The Earnings Per 
Share (EPS) decreased by about 25% from 34.29 cents to 
25.88 cents.

Given the circumstances, the management team is grateful 
for the strong balance sheet in order to be able to steer 
the Group and its companies successfully through these 
difficult times. It is with a positive outlook and a calculated 
optimism that the new financial year is awaited.

The Group’s global strategy remains one of bold 
international expansion. Prospects for the period ahead are 
decidedly positive. By diversifying into different territories 
and entering new market segments, the management 
team’s focus is to ensure ongoing profitable organic and 
acquisitive growth for the Alaris Holdings Group and 
its stakeholders.

The following strengths and opportunities will give us an advantage over our competitors and will give us the opportunity 
to grow: 

STRENGTH WEAKNESS OPPORTUNITY THREAT

Need to capitalise on Need to shore Need to invest in Need to identify

JSE AltX listed since 
2008 resulting in a steadily 
maturing organisation 
benefiting stakeholders

Interaction with stakeholders 
to be increased

Territorial growth with focus 
on USA (largest market) 
through mWAVE and Alaris 
USA, as well as Europe via 
the presence of COJOT

Illiquid share

Profitability of Alaris 
Holdings Limited and cash is 
generated within the Group

No gearing on balance 
sheet

Improved client-centricity 
and proximity through 
additional acquisitions

Economically unstable 
environment e.g. supply 
chain, currency fluctuations, 
downgrades in credit 
ratings and infrastructure 
breakdown in SA

Own IP Small market cap and low 
multiples

Strong Balance sheet to 
enable future growth

Company valuation 
reduction could impact on 
acquisition deal structures

In-house specialised 
technical expertise allowing 
for product customisation

Limited RF/microwave 
electronics capability in the 
Group

Untapped market segments 
where existing expertise can 
be leveraged 

Antennas and RF technology 
converging

International clients, 
territorial diversification 
and increased international 
footprint

Too antennas focused, 
need for diversification

Move from antenna 
components to antenna 
systems to increase barrier to 
entry to competitors

Skills shortage in the 
engineering field

Focus on strong client 
relationships and outward 
looking awareness

 Stronger focus on 
RF/Microwave electronics

Counterfeit components

Dominance in a niche 
market with established 
relationships

 Cross-selling and joint 
development projects across 
subsidiaries 

Change in political alliances 
and reversal of globalisation

Diverse product types 
servicing global RF system 
integrators

 Advantage of increased 
product portfolio across 
the Group, including new 
technologies

Disruptive technologies that 
could make our products 
obsolete (AESA)

Blue-print knowledge of 
running global subsidiaries in 
the RF technology space

 Communications market 
offers good opportunities

Insourcing by system houses

More than 90% of the 
Group’s revenue is 
generated outside of South 
Africa. Even of the 10% which 
is generated locally, a large 
percentage is destined for 
export

 Improved access to 
international supply chain 
and outsourcing partners

 

  Group CTO: unlock 
synergies, orchestrating of 
technical group activities, 
roadmap control, drive 
efficiencies, and unlock 
international funding

 

  Improved investor relations 
driving multiples up

 

  Small player in a large 
market

 

Strategic Overview (continued)
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    Moderating Our Behaviour   

    Risk
    The Board is ultimately responsible for the system of 
internal financial control established by the Group and 
place considerable importance on maintaining a strong 
control environment. To enable the Board to meet these 
responsibilities, it has delegated various functions to the 
Audit & Risk   C  ommittee which amongst other things sets 
standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of 
error or loss in a cost-effective manner.

    Risks are assessed on an on  going basis by management 
and any significant changes are discussed. Pre-emptive 
decisions are taken when risks are identified to minimise 
the impact of these risk factors on the economic, social 
and environmental responsibilities of Alaris.

    Remuneration
    The Group’s remuneration policy is in-line with Alaris’ 
values and objectives. Target incentives, which are 
recommended by the Remuneration Committee to the 
Board for approval, are in place to ensure that exceptional 
employees are rewarded for their efforts in a controlled 
and authorised manner.

    The long-term portion of the remuneration policy is 
addressed via the Share Incentive Trust where share 
options were allocated to certain senior employees as a 
mechanism to align their interests with shareholders whilst 
retaining their services. 

    Governance
    The Group is committed to on  going and effective 
communication with stakeholders. It subscribes to a policy 
of sound corporate governance and open and timeous 
communication in line with   the   JSE Listings Requirements.
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  GOVERNANCE   

    Ethics
    Alaris has always employed a multi-cultural employee 
team and engaged with customers and suppliers from 
a variety of cultures. Alaris considers racism, sexism  ,   and 
other forms of discrimination entirely unacceptable. This 
is communicated via our Company policies and culture. 
Management ensures prompt reaction to eliminate any 
contradictory behaviour.

    The Board constantly considers the short  -   and long-term 
impacts of the Group’s strategy on the economy, society 
and the environment. Where possible our products are 
designed to ensure that the natural environment is not 
compromised. 

    All employees of the Group are required to maintain the 
highest ethical standards in ensuring that the Group’s 
business practices are conducted in a manner, which in 
all circumstances, is above reproach. The responsibility of 
the Social and Ethics Committee is to ensure that Alaris and 
its employees act in a responsible manner to be a good 
corporate citizen. Strict codes of conduct are in place to 
ensure that an honest and credible working environment is 
created and sustained. 

    Executive directors of the Group and its subsidiaries are 
required to make an annual written declaration that they 
are not aware of any corruption or bribery that transpired 
in the day-to-day operations of the Group.

    Employees are regularly reminded that any suspicions of 
fraud  ,   corruption   or unethical behaviour can be reported 
on an anonymous basis if required to the chairman of the 
Board or the   chairman of the   Audit & Risk Committee. Such 
concerns can also be reported to the Group CEO and 
Group CFO.

    The impact of Alaris’     decisions on internal and external 
stakeholders is monitored on a constant basis and 
feedback is investigated and resolved where possible.
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    “  Beware of work urging that revolutionary 
change of everything is needed. This is the 
fallacy of jumping directly from description to 
theory. If the authors imply that their findings 
apply to all companies in all situations, don’t 
trust them. Usually things are the way they are 
for pretty good reasons. We need to know 
not only where, when, and why things must 
change but also what should stay the same     … 
Progress comes from refining theories to explain 
situations in which they previously failed, so 
without continuing our examination of failure, 
management theory cannot advance  .”   
    – Clayton Christensen.   

  Chairman’s Review

    Charmain’s   r  eport 2020
    I always have a positive mind-set when I think of Alaris. 
In preparation of this report, I asked myself, why? It is 
  definitely not   based on a false reality that there are no 
challenges at the Alaris Group. Between Murphy and 
the invisible hand of Smith, believe me, Alaris has its 
fair share of business challenges to deal with   on a daily 
basis  . My positive mindset is also not triggered by visions 
of tranquil board meetings. Talking straight is a core 
Alaris value and that makes for robust conversations at 
management and board level. Neither is it the fact that 
Alaris have been performing exceedingly well over the 
last number of years. Yes, it’s always slightly easier leading 
when things are going well, but we all know that delivering 
good results year-on-year is not a pain free ride at all.

    Pondering over the senses of positivity and energy that 
Alaris ignites in me, I concluded that   trust   is at the core of 
them. Trust in your team makes it easy to be vulnerable with 
them. There is no need for roleplay, elephants-in-the-room, 
stonewalling or apprehension. It paves the way for 
self-acceptance and the acceptance of others. For open 
conversations. For the sharing of fresh ideas, the source 
of all innovation. For the relentless questioning of own 
strategies and plans. For honest, constructive feedback. 
For giving well-deserved praise. 

    No wonder then that leadership author Patrick Lencioni 
sees trust as the foundational element of functional 
teams, and Gallup includes the question, “my fellow 
employees are committed to doing quality work,” as 
one of   12   questions in their employee engagement 
survey. Involved in this element is a keen awareness of 
work standards and of group members' performances. 
However, adherence to high standards cannot be 
forced; it must be developed and arranged by a talented 
manager. The best managers foster in their teams an 
environment of honest and complete communication, 
an understanding of each other's work, and respect for 
each other's efforts and results. Is this not at the core of 
trust? The compelling thing about trusts is that you should 
work on it when you don’t need it, for when you need it, it’s 
too late to work on it. Being   the company   it is, fortunately, 
Alaris had ample trust currency in the bank to weather a 
storm that nobody saw coming.

    It has been a year of two extreme halves. Recall that 
the Alar  is financial year starts on   1   July   each year. It thus 
started off in a context where moderate global optimism 
was on the rise. Many of us looked at 2020 as the dawn 
of an exciting decade. Even the term 2020 holds some 
significance in leadership jargon,   in itself calling   for 
reflection and a critical review of strategy. The start of 
each new decade offers an opportunity for rebirth, 
repositioning and plotting of new trajectories. This would 
be the decade that the Fourth Industrial Revolution would 
change the face of business, and as a tech company 
Alaris was ready to go.

    Then COVID-19. A true black swan event. I am yet to find 
an enterprise who had it on their risk-matrix. If we ever 
doubted the interlinked nature of our world, this was a 
harsh wake-up call and painful reminder that we need 
to remain agile in our thinking, at company level but also 
on a personal level. The future suddenly was not what it 
used to be. And it certainly had its effects on business at 
Alaris, hitting us as we settled into the second half of our 

financial year. I deeply thank and salute the Alaris team for 
bringing us home safely and posting solid results amidst the 
toughest time in recent business history. 

    Two other events also signalled the end of an era but got 
lost in the chaos of COVID. This was the passing of two 
management giants who significantly shaped our busines  s 
thinking since the early 1990  s, namely   Clayton   Christensen      
and   Jack Wel  ch  , almost positioned at the extremes of 
management approaches. Christ  e  nsen the theoretical 
innovator, contributing the concept of the innovator’s 
dilemma based on the S-curve of growth. He reminded 
us of the power of sound theory as a basis of learning. 
On almost the opposite side, Welsh the operator, acting 
quickly and decisively, reminding us to trust our gut, to 
strive to be best in class, and never to accept mediocrity. 
They empowered   us with three imperatives to survive and 
strive post-COVID: Theory. Action. Agility. I believe that if we 
live these imperatives in an environment of trust, Alaris will 
recreate a future that will inspire us forward. 

    Thus, I cannot else but to present this annual report to you in 
any other state of mind than that of positivity. 

    Coen Bester
    Chairman
    Alaris Holdings Limited
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CEO’s Review (continued)

Global

Own IP

RF Technology

Components/
Antenna Systems

“The secret of change is to focus all of 
your energy, not on fighting the old, but on 
building the new.”
 – Socrates

  CEO’s Review

    The Alaris financial year 2020 was severely disrupted by the 
pandemic which emerged in December 2019. Back then 
no-one would have imagined what a dominating and life 
changing event it would become.

    The Alaris group, and specifically Alaris Antennas, was on 
a solid growth path until the South African government 
ordered the country to implement a hard lockdown on 
27     March 2020. Alaris Antennas had to close production for 
three weeks, until we were able to start operating again 
under an essential services   certificate  . It took another three 
weeks to ramp up our South African production facility 
back to full capacity. All other staff were able to work from 
ho  me and find their feet in this   “  new normal”. Subsequent 
issues which emerged for Alaris Antennas were supply 
chain bottle necks, logistics and export permit challenges. 

    It was most insightful to observe how the different countries 
in which the Alaris Group operates, handled this crisis. 

    The impact on COJOT (Finland) was minor as   the contract 
manufacturers (CM  s) in Finland and Estonia continued 
operating. Only a small number of the COJOT staff took 
to working from home to comply with the required social 
distancing rules at the facility. 

    In the USA we observed a mixed arrangement. Most 
companies, including   mWAVE  , in the state of Maine, USA, 
were able to continue working as per normal with only 
a couple of staff working from home to comply with the 
necessary social distancing regulations. However, the 
impact on the supply chain came from suppliers specifically 
around the New York area which caused some delays. 

    Financials
    Due to the impact of   the pandemic, the Group’s   revenue 
decreased by 1% from R  245.2 million to R  242.8 million. 
The Group’s PAT (Profit After Tax) declined by 2  5  % from 
R41.1 million to R  31.  0   million.   Earnings Per Share (EPS) 
decreased by about 2  5  % from 34.  29   cents to 2  5.88   cents.

    More than   90%   of the Group’s revenue is generated in hard 
currency. Of the sales to the South African customers, 75% 
is also destined for export. This implies that 97.5% of the 
Group’s revenue is generated from outside of South Africa.

    Alaris   Antennas’s     revenue decreased   by 3% from 
R129.9 million to R  126.0 million and PAT decreased by about 
22% from R29.7 million to R23.2 million.   

    Our sales team, under the leadership of Claire   Nitch  , was 
able to attract the largest amount of orders in the histo  ry 
of the company during the FY  2020. Alaris Antennas was 
poised for significant growth in this financial year. Despite 
formidable lockdown management by the Alaris Antennas 
MD Gisela Heyman and her team, effectively   six   weeks of 
operations were lost as a result of the   conditions the   Covid   
pandemic created. We were unable to make up for this 
lost time and hence a revenue balance of   R  27   million,   

which was earmarked for FY  2020, could only be invoiced in 
July and therefor  e   this revenue will fall into the new 
financial year. 

    COJOT   was less impacted by the pandemic from an 
operational point of view. Yet, revenue decreased by about 
11% from R85.5 million to   R  76.1 million. PAT decreased by 
almost 32% from R23.6 million to   R  16.0     million. This decrease 
is due to a delay of the second phase of a specific project 
out of the UK, which is NATO funded.    

    Samu     Lentonen  , managing director at COJOT, reports 
that good progress was made on a smart antenna system 
development for a USA prime contractor. This project is 
jointly run between Alaris Antennas and COJOT and has 
significant potential for the future. 

    COJOT expanded its office and laboratory space during 
the first half of the financial year, which provides an 
environment for improved quality testing systems on their 
own premises. 

    mWAVE   LLC’s   revenue increased by 115% from R32.1 million 
to R68.9 million. PAT decreased by 14% from R3.3 million to 
R2.9 million.   Financials were consolidated into the Alaris 
Group for the first time for a complete financial   year. 
The drop in reported profits, despite significant increase in 
revenue, is due to several larger investments being made 
in FY 2020. 

    mWAVE’s   MD, Peter     Farnum, and his team, successfully 
implemented the Group’s ERP system at our US operations. 
Additional office and laboratory spaces were established, 
and the company’s organisation was restructured to 
enable further growth. 

    Towards the end of the financial year a successor MD, 
Jim     Detert  , was onboarded.   Peter     Farnum  ,   will assume the 
role of COO moving forward until he retires possibly in   two   
years’ time. 

    Alaris USA LLC,   a division of   mWAVE   and managed by Ralph 
  Prigge  , was established at   mWAVE   as a sales channel for the 
Alaris Antennas and COJOT product lines. The margins for 
the sale of these products only reflect as sales commission. 

    We are excited about the unlocking of some significant 
opportunities in the USA for Alaris Antennas and COJOT 
going forward.

    Strategy
    Our financial results demonstrate the importance for 
Alaris to operate glo  bally. In addition, as a client-  centric 
organisation it is essential to be close to our customers and 
partners to discuss bespoke solutions and hence extending 
our global footprint remains top priority. 

    The products of the Alaris Group’s subsidiaries have 
developed over the years from a components-based 
offering to more complete antenna systems solutions. 
This transition requires us to further deepen and broaden 

our expertise and know-how into the microwave and 
RF     electronics space. With this strategic direction in mind, 
the     Alaris management team is actively seeking and hard 
at work to unlock merger and acquisition opportunities in 
this     field. 

    The inclusion of sophisticated microwave and RF electronics 
into our antenna system solutions allows us to stay relevant 
and these developments provide the required support 
to our customers and partners. It increases the barrier to 
entry for competitors, allows all Group entities to maintain 
healthy margins and enables us to move up in the value 
chain, while at the same time our IP base is increasing 
significantly. 

    The graph above depicts the four strategic pillars of the 
Alaris Group. 

    It is very important to realise that modern warfare 
and security is consistently moving away from being 
human-based towards a machine-based environment. This 
trend is growing, and it enhances the need for microwave 
and RF systems to provide high-speed, high data rate 
secure links to control and operate devices like drones 
and other remote-controlled vehicles. On the flip side, 
countermeasures to prevent the use of these platforms are 
also getting increasingly intelligent   and also   rely heavily on 
RF and microwave technology. 
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    The Group moving forward   
    The pandemic undoubtedly changed the immediate and 
future landscape. Several key measures relating to sales 
and business development were established on Group 
level to create a mechanism to look forward as much as 
we can. 

    A key strategic objective for the FY 2021 is to further 
strengthen our RF and microwave electronic design and 
manufacturing capabilities for the Group. Ideally, we will 
achieve this through an acquisition in this field of expertise. 
The accomplishment of this important goal will allow us to 
build on our path of offering high-performance antenna 
systems to our customers. 

    Fostering this capability will allow for diversification and 
will further secure the continued and sustainable growth of 
the subsidiaries in the Group. The company’s excess cash is 
earmarked for this requirement as further growth is pivotal 
to us. We are acutely aware of our small size on the stock 
exchange which hampers the growth of our share price. 

    The Group needs to shore up its m  arketing, public- and 
investor-  relation activities. We  ,   for that reason  ,   established 
the position of a GMO (Group Marketing Officer) and 
onboarded Jenny   Heyes   into this position. She will 
co-ordinate our marketing and public  /  investor relations 
activities from a Group point of view. Several initiatives 
were launched under this new role. 

    Going forward,   A  laris   Group CTO, Chris Vale, will co-ordinate 
the research and development activities amongst the 
subsidiaries concerning the product roadmap, technology 
requirements and supporting the execution of high-profile 
product and system developments. This role of the   centre 
will be supported by a T  echnology committee which 
was established as part of the Alaris Holdings board and 
is led by Chris Vale. The committee is supported by two 
board members, Coen Bester and   Carel   van der Merwe, 
in addition to the attendance of the CEO, CFO and the 
respective technical authorities from the subsidiaries. 
The committee also receives continuous input from subject 
matter experts and technical research, provided by a 
UK company.

    As indicated in my previous review, economic and political 
conflicts are increasing. While this is certainly a negative 
development worldwide, it does mean that defence and 
homeland security budgets are on the rise around the 
world. The footprint we have created in the USA will allow 
us to participate in this market space in the years to come.

    The focus of the   A  laris     management remains to ensure 
profitable growth well north of inflation for all companies in 
the Alaris Holdings Group.

    Thank you
    I would like to extend a warm welcome to all staff who 
joined the Alaris Group during this financial year. We are 
excited to have you on board. 

    The disruption caused by the pandemic resulted in 
hardship for all of us. Whilst the unprecedented situation 
and the uncertainty are challenging conditions, we all 
need to adapt and consider it as just a hurdle on our path 
which we shall overcome. It remains my firm belief that the 
Alaris Group is destined for great things. 

    Your unwavering dedication and tireless commitment to 
take the Alaris Group forward is immensely appreciated, 
and I would like to thank you deeply for that. 

    I further appreciate the support and inspiration from our 
long serving and our   newest   board members. 

    A warm welcome to our new anchor sharehol  der   Tadvest     –
     thank   you for your regular and constructive contributions 
and support thus far. To all other shareholders, I wish 
to extend a word of appreciation for your trust and 
commitment to Alaris. 

    And last but certainly not least, to our customers   worldwide 
  –     thank you for your confidence in our company, 
our     people, our technologies, and our services. 

    We are incredibly excited about the future and we look 
forward to the growth and opportunities that lie ahead.

    Jürgen   Dresel
    Group CEO
    Alaris Holdings Limited
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Financial Director’s Review (continued)
  Financial Director’s 
  R  eview

    “It is not the strongest of the species that 
survives, nor the most intelligent that survives. 
It is the one that is most adaptable to 
change.”  –     Charles Darwin

    The 2020 financial year has been a year filled with change. 
  During the   first half  ,   the Group   was performing ahead 
of expectations with strong profitability and cash flow  . 
  Then the 2019 Novel Coronavirus   (“COVID-19”)   broke out.   
Businesses around the world had to a  djust accordingly  . 
He  re in South Africa, a hard lock  down was implemented 
and we, as management, had to change and   adapt 
  overnight.   We knew that changing might be a painful 
exercise   in these uncertain times  , but we also knew that 
change was needed in order for us to grow as a Group. 

    For the Group, the second half   was more challenging 
than the first  .   As the Corona  virus   spread across the globe  , 
governments re-appropriated   government   spending 
towards medical budgets   to fight the pandemic   and 
  defense   project funding   was   often put on hold  . This had 
a   knock-on   effect on Alaris’s revenues as various projects 
where delayed as a result.  On a positive note   Alaris 
Holdings is fortunate to have subsidiaries spread   across   the 
world  ,   limiting the exposure to a single country’s   defense   
budget and spending.

    COJOT was able to continue   manufacturing as   our COJOT 
products are   outsourced to a   manufacturing   company 
  based   in Estonia  ,   where   the implemented   lockdown 
regulations   were not as strict  . The staff at COJOT   successfully 
  continue  d   to work from home without any disruptions   to 
operations  .   Unfortunately,   this entity   experienced delays 
in finali  s  ing various orders as the end customers were not 
available to provide final   decisions due   to the lockdown 
restrictions. These delays have resulted in income 
recognition being delayed to the new financial year. 
Delays were also experienced with the t  esting of products 
  as various testing     measures   require   eye   contact between 
staff members. 

    In the USA each state had different rules and regulations 
  to deal with the Corona   virus.   mWAVE   has a small staff 
  complement   which   allows   for easier application of social 
distancing protocols  .    O  ffice staff   was encouraged   to work 
from home  .   The manufacturing employees were able   to 
continue to work at the manufacturing plant and   practice 
  effective   social distancing while manufacturing,   due to 
the low number of staff on  -  site.   mW  AVE  ’s   supply chain is 
  heavily     dependent   on ke  y suppliers based in New York. 
  As   New   York was   one of the   hardest   hit metros in the USA, 
and as result of the strict lockdown imposed in that   city, 
delays   where experienced by   mWAVE     with the   delivery of 
raw materials needed in the production   of finished   goods. 

    At Alaris Antennas in South Africa, hard lockdown was 
implemented on 27 March 2020. All the office employees 
were able to continue to work from home, but  , as required 
by the lockdown regulations,   manufacturing had to come 
to a stop  .     Alaris w  a  s proactive when the lockdown was 
announced  ,   with   all the employees   working   as much 
overtime as possible to   ensure all items that could be 
completed by 27 March 2020 were completed and   shipped 
to   our   customers.   Alaris Antennas was   in a fortunate 
position to have a   strong   order book to ensure significant 
growth from the prior year. However, with the hard 
lockdown implemented, about   six   weeks of production 
was lost   –     three   weeks in hard lockdown, and   three   weeks 
to ramp production up to full capacity   subsequent to the 
end of the hard lockdown  .   After   production   returned to   full 
capacity   longer working hours (including overtime) were 
implemented to   make up for lost time during the lockdown  . 

  Other   obstacles   emerged for the Company as a result of the pandemic     including a   supply chain   which   was still in lockdown, 
governmental institutions   that   were closed   not   being able to issue     export   permits   and   flights out of the country to ship the 
goods were limited. 

    I am thankful for the hard work and dedication of all   the divisions in   the Alaris   G  roup during th  ese     extremely trying a  nd   
difficult time  s  . This dedication has enabled the   G  roup to present financial results that are far more positive than what 
could have been the case in light of the worldwide economic hardships we are currently experiencing as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

    Our   r  esults
    As could be expected  ,   t  he Group   was   negatively affected by COVID-19   and this   is evident in the financial results presented 
for the 2020 financial year  . Revenue decreased by 1% from R245.2 million to R242.8 million and profit after tax (“PAT”) 
decreased by 24.6% from R41.1 million to R31.0 million. Headline earnings per share decreased by 25% from 34.29 cents to 
25.88 cents.   

    The Group is in a fortunate position to have a cash balance   in excess of   R110 million.   This   helped   the Group   weather the 
storm in the second half of the financial year   and provides a safety net   in these   uncertain times  .      

    The inter  -segmental sales increased significantly during the current financial year highlighting the synergies in the Group. 
Alaris USA, a division of   mWAVE  ,   contribute  d   R18.8 million of the inter-segmental sales. 

 R’000  2020  2019  Growth 

 Revenue          
 Alaris Antennas (South Africa)  104 790  129 075  (19%) 

 –     Total revenue  125 997     129 885   (3%) 
 –     Inter-segmental revenue  (21 207)   (810)  2 518% 

 COJOT (Finland)  69 019  84 058  (18%) 

 –     Total revenue  76 079      85 488   (11%) 
 –     Inter-segmental revenue   (7 060)   (1 430)  394% 

 mWAVE   (USA)  68 944  32 051  115% 

 –     Total revenue    68 944       32 051     
 –     Inter-segmental revenue  –  –       

    242 753  245 184  (1%) 

 R’000  2020  2019  Growth 

 Profit after tax          
 Alaris Antennas (South Africa)  23 142  29 663  (22%) 
 COJOT (Finland)  16 011  23 611  (32%) 
 mWAVE   (USA)  2 864  3 332  (14%) 
 Corporate and consolidation (South Africa)  (11 032)  (15 525)  (29%) 

    30     985  41 081  (25%) 



26 ALARIS HOLDINGS     Integrated Annual Report 2020| 

    The Alaris Group derives 93% of the revenue with international customers, which in turn means that 93% of the cash received 
is in   foreign   hard currency. The revenue split by territory   was   as follows:

    The cash at year-  end was split as follows:

    By looking at the above graph  ,   one will notice that the 
exposure to the volatile Rand has decreased in the current 
year and that 73% of the cash is based in   foreign   hard 
currency. 48% of the cash is located in South Africa where 
  we   hedge against the USD and EUR. The cash is earmarked 
for future acquisitions  . Due to the large portion of foreign 
currency held  ,   any potential negative impact as a result of 
the   weakening   of the   Rand  ,     is somewhat limited.

    Looking ahead
    In the coming year, the Alaris Group will continue to 
  embrace the current change  s     trending   in the world  .     We are 
positioned to   readjust   and adapt   to our   circumstances   and 
  will emerge   stronger with our   strategy focused on   growth 
focused  ,   still firmly in place.

    To   support   the   continued   growth of the Group  , we have 
  appointed   a Group Marketing Officer, Jenny   Heyes  , to 
provide focused support for public relations, investor 
relations and brand visibility across the subsidiaries. With 
increased marketing   activities   across the   G  roup  , it   should 
in turn increase   opportunities   in the various industries and 
market segments. Through various identified initiatives, 
this function will improve   customer and stakeholder 
communication and engagement. 

    As   the Group expanded  ,   it was decided to   introduce   
the role of   a Group CTO to co-ordinate the research 
and development activities amongst the subsidiaries. 
  Further c  ontinuous input from subject matter experts and 
technic  al research is provided by a UK-  based   company. 
  P  roduct roadmaps, new technology requirements   
and research   need to be developed   and analysed  . 

Dr     Chris     Vale     has     been   appointed   to   fulfil   this role and he 
has been promoted to the Group CTO from his CTO position 
at Alaris Antennas.    

    One   of the   growth areas   identified during the year,   is   the   
need to improve the   RF electronic capability in the Group. 
With antennas and RF technology converging, the Board 
deems it critical to   include   RF electronic capability into the 
  G  roup to secure future sustainable growth and ensure that 
the technology in the Group does not become   obsolete  . 
  This growth area is being given the attention it deserves 
and   is a key focus area for the executive team  .

    In these uncertain times, the biggest question   for   all 
investors   is whether the Group will be a going concern 
in the next 12 months. With a solid current ratio of 4.22:1, 
a quick ratio of 3.51:1 and a cash ratio of 2.54:1, we feel 
comfortable to say that the Group will continue as a going 
concern. 

    Thank you
    I would like to thank all the employees in the Group for 
your hard work this year. Thank   you   for embracing change, 
focusing on the future and ensuring that the Group will   be 
able to grow with an exciting outlook on the future.   

    Elsie Müller 
    Group CFO
    Alaris Holdings Limited

  

Financial Director’s Review (continued)
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    Carel   van der Merwe 
    Age  :   6  4
    Independent 
Non-Executive Director
    Appointed to the Board on 
1 June 2018
    B.   Eng   (Electronics) 
(Stellenbosch)

    Carel   started his career 
as a radio frequency 
development engineer and 
gained his first international 
experience by working in 
Germany from 1984 to 1986.

    In 1996 he was appointed as 
Managing Director of GEW 
Technologies who is active 
in the field of providing radio 
communication system 
solutions to international 
customers. He has held this 
position until his retirement in 
April 2018.

    Peter   Anania   
    Age  :   6  4
    Independ  ent 
  Non-Executive Director
    Appointed to the Board on 
1 November 2018
    BS in Business 
Administration University of 
Maine
    MBA University of Southern 
Maine
    Delta Class of the Institute 
for Civic Leadership

    Peter was a commercial 
lender before founding a 
Merger and Acquisition 
firm in 1987, which he sold 
in 2008. He has been or is 
currently the CEO/President 
or founder of over 
20     various manufacturing 
companies many of which 
are metals manufacturing 
and/or microwave concerns. 
He currently serves on the 
Board of several companies, 
the Maine Heritage Policy 
  Center   and the US Export 
Council for the Northern 
New England district. 
Peter earned a BS Business 
Administration from the 
University of Maine with a 
double major in Marketing 
and Management and 
a minor in Finance. 
He completed an MBA from 
the University of Southern 
Maine and completed an 
intensive course through the 
Institute of Civic Leadership.

    Elsie Müller
    Age  :   3  3
    Executive Director: Finance
    Appointed to the Board on 
1 July 2019
    CA(SA)

    Elsie studied at the University 
of Pretoria and obtained her 
Honours Degree in BCom 
(  Acc  ) in 2009. She completed 
her articles with Grant 
Thornton and qualified as 
a chartered accountant 
January 2013. Elsie started 
her corporate career as the 
group financial manager 
of   Bumbo   International, 
a local manufacturing 
concern which mainly 
export their   products 
where she obtained 
valuable experience in the 
manufacturing and sales 
exporting environment. 
She joined Alaris Antennas 
as Finance Manager 
in June 2015 and has 
become involved in the 
Alaris Holdings Group 
management functions from 
2016. On 1 July 2019 she was 
appointed as the full time 
Group Financial Director of 
the Alaris Group. 

    Chris Neser 
    Age  :   3  3
    Non-Executive Director 
    Appointed to the Board on 
  20 December 2019
    CA(SA)

    Chris has over   six   years’ 
experience in investment 
advisory and strategic 
involvement in Operating 
Entities, Asset Management 
and Group Restructuring. 
He has been extensively 
involved on boards of 
various investment entities 
with experience in hedge 
funds and unit trusts, 
including the listing of the 
Pivotal Fund in 2014 and 
  Tadvest   Limited in 2016. This 
includes the restructure and 
enhancement of balance 
sheets of companies 
within the   Abcon   Group 
of Companies. Chris 
completed his studies in 
accounting at the University 
of Stellenbosch in 2010 and 
qualified as a CA(SA) in 2013.

  

    Coenraad Bester 
(“Coen”) 
    Age  :   6  4
    Independent 
Non-Executive Director 
and Chairman
    Appointed to the Board on 
21 January 2004
    BSc   Eng   (Elec) (UP) BSc 
  Eng   (Elec) Hons (  Potch  )
    MBA (UP), OPM (Harvard 
Business School)
    PGDip (Futures Studies)

    Coen initially lectured 
in the faculty of 
Electronic Engineering at 
Potchefstroom University. 
From there he went on to 
become the founder and 
CEO of two companies. 
Following the sale of the 
second company to a 
listed entity, he founded a 
management consultancy 
in 1999. Amongst his 
responsibilities, he acts as 
a mentor to   a number of   
high-technology companies 
in the information, 
communications and 
electronics markets and 
serves on the boards of a 
number of such companies. 
Coen earned an Electronic 
Engineering Degree from 
the University of Pretoria 
and an Honours Degree in 
Electronic Engineering at the 
University of Potchefstroom. 
He completed an MBA at 
Pretoria University and an 
OPM course at Harvard 
Business School. He recently 
completed a postgraduate 
diploma in Futures 
Studies at the University 
of Stellenbosch.

    Jürgen     Dresel   
    Age  :   5  3
    Chief Executive Officer
    Appointed to the Board on 
21 February 2000
    Dipl.Ing  . (TU Munich) 
MSc     Eng   (Elec) (Wits)

    Jürgen   Dresel   is the Group 
CEO of Alaris Holdings 
Ltd and was appointed 
to the Board of Directors 
in February 2000. 
  He   completed his IT and 
Telecommunication studies 
with a Dipl.     Ing degree at 
the Technical University of 
Munich, Germany in 1993   and 
  i  n     2000 he completed 
an MSc in electrical 
engineering at   the   University   
of the Witwatersrand  .   Jürgen   
started his engineering 
career with work that 
comprised antenna design 
and development in the 
frequency range from 
10 kHz up to 6 GHz, antenna 
placement simulations, 
and project management. 
In 200  3  ,   Jürgen   took over 
the management of 
the defence section of 
Alaris Antennas where he 
concentrated his efforts on 
management and sales 
of large   d  efence-related 
projects. He was   involved 
in   taking the company 
public in 2008 and became 
group CEO of Alaris 
Holdings in 2015.     In 2016 and 
2018 respectively, he 
spearheaded the effort in 
which Alaris successfully 
concluded the acquisitions 
of COJOT and   mWAVE   into 
the Group of companies, 
thereby expanding 
the global footprint of 
Alaris Holdings.

    Gisela Heyman 
    Age  :   4  1
    Executive Director
    Appointed to the Board on 
1 June 2015
    CA(SA)

    Gisela qualified as a 
Chartered Accountant 
in 2005 after completing 
her articles with Deloitte. 
She started her corporate 
career as Group accountant 
with   Datacentrix  , a 
complete ICT systems 
integrator, listed on the JSE. 
She spent the last three 
of the seven years with 
  Datacentrix   as the Group 
Financial Manager in 
charge of the full financial 
function. Subsequently, 
she was appointed as 
Financial Director of 
G4S Secure Solutions, a 
multinational UK listed 
organisation in the security 
industry. Her responsibility 
spanned from finance 
with strict working capital 
management to   IT – and 
ERP systems, legal, company 
secretarial, procurement 
and logistics. She has 
been involved in foreign 
and local acquisitions 
including valuations, 
contract negotiations 
and post-acquisition 
implementation processes.   
Gisela was appointed as 
the Managing Director of 
Alaris Antennas on 1 April. 
She is also res  p  onsible for the 
Group HR role.

    Richard Willis 
    Age  :   5  1
    Lead   Independent 
Non-Executive Director
    Appointed to the Board on 
1 February 2015
    CA(SA)

    Richard qualified as a 
Chartered Accountant in 
1994 after having completed 
his articles at Deloitte. Since 
then Richard has occupied 
various positions, both 
locally and internationally, 
including chief operating 
officer of Standard Private 
Bank and Melville Douglas 
and financial director of 
Virgin Money South Africa. 
Currently Richard is chief 
operating officer at Clive 
Douglas Investments 
Proprietary Limited.

Our Governance Team Our Governance Team (continued)
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The Board of directors
The unitary Board is the foundation of Alaris’ corporate 
governance system and is accountable and responsible 
for the performance of the Company, the establishment 
and maintenance of the Group’s ethical culture and its 
corporate governance.

The Board determines the Company’s purpose and 
values, develops strategies in relation thereto, and 
provides strategic direction and leadership aligned to the 
Company’s value system to ensure the sustainability of the 
business. 

The Board recognises that it serves as the focal point and 
custodian of corporate governance in the organization as 
outlined in Principle 6 of King IV™. The directors recognise 
that good governance can create shareholder value by 
enhancing long-term equity performance. 

There is a clear division of responsibilities at Board level to 
ensure a balance of power and authority, such that no 
one individual has unfettered powers of decision-making. 
The Board is satisfied that its current composition ensures 
such a balance of power and authority. 

The directors, individually and collectively, assist the Group 
to realise its strategic objectives, to manage the risks that 
could threaten the Group’s ability to provide sustainable 
long-term growth to stakeholders and to maintain and 
enhance efficiencies within the Group’s businesses. 

GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 

Board responsibilities and Board charter
The Board is guided by a formal charter that sets out its 
powers, the directors’ duties and responsibilities, and 
provides a clear separation of responsibilities and the 
accountability of board members and management. 
This charter, which is aligned to King IV™, the JSE Listings 
Requirements and the Companies Act, is reviewed on a 
regular basis.  

The Board is accountable to the Company’s stakeholders for 
exercising leadership, integrity, and judgment in directing 
Alaris to achieve its strategy and ensure conformance with 
best business and corporate governance practices. 

The Board Charter provides guidelines to directors in respect 
of, among others, the Board’s responsibilities, authority, 
composition, meetings, and the need for performance 
evaluations. The Board’s primary functions include:

• acting as the focal point for, and custodian of, 
corporate governance by managing its relationship 
with management, shareholders, and other 
stakeholders of the Company along sound corporate 
governance principles;

• providing effective leadership based on ethical 
foundations;

• ensuring that the Company has an effective and 
independent Audit and Risk Committee;

• monitoring performance through the various Board 
Committees established to assist the Board in 
discharging its duties while retaining full accountability 
and without abdicating its own responsibilities. 

Audit and 
Risk Committee

Social and 
Ethics Committee

Nomination  
Committee

Remuneration  
Committee

Board

Corporate Governance

Introduction
The Alaris Board holds ultimate responsibility for 
governance, the setting of the Group’s strategy and the 
monitoring of the implementation thereof through the 
setting of short- to medium-term operational objectives for 
executive management. 

The Board also holds the responsibility for setting Alaris’ 
ethical tone and the creation of an ethical and compliant 
culture. The Board and management are committed to 
the adoption and effective implementation of policies and 
practices that ensure a culture of integrity and compliance, 
and that meets high levels of transparency and disclosure.

Shareholders elect the Board, who accepts overall 
accountability for the Group’s performance and ensuring 
that the business is adequately positioned to create 
sustainable value over the long term for all stakeholders, 
taking into account the material issues, risks and 
opportunities of the Group. 

King IV™ and governance 
The Board endorses the corporate governance principles 
and recommended practices encapsulated in the King 
Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa, 
2016 (“King IV™”), including the concept of integrated 
thinking, which underpins corporate citizenship, 
stakeholder inclusivity, sustainable development and 
integrated reporting. 

Following the publication of King IV™ in 2016, the Board has 
made changes to its practices in relation to governance 
in the Company to ensure that it meets the standards set 
out in King IV™. These changes include refreshing various 
governing documents such as the Board Charter and 

Constituting Board Committees such that they meet the 
prescriptions of King IV™, the JSE Listings Requirements and 
the Companies Act. 

A statement of the Company’s application of the principles 
of King IV™, on an apply and explain basis, is available 
on the Alaris Holdings website: www.alarisholdings.com. 
The Board is satisfied that Alaris, in the main, has applied 
the principles as envisaged in King IV™. 

Applicable governing frameworks
The Board is satisfied that it has fulfilled its responsibilities 
in accordance with its board charter, the Company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation, King IV™, the JSE Listings 
Requirements, the Companies Act and other applicable 
statutory and regulatory requirements and complied with 
all laws of establishing the Company for the financial period 
ended 30 June 2020. 

Governance framework

The Board has established the standing committees 
depicted below, to which specific functions are delegated, 
to assist the Board in meeting its responsibilities. The Board 
Committees are constituted with sufficient non-executive 
and independent representation and are subject to 
regular evaluation by the Board, to ascertain their level of 
performance and effectiveness.

The Board recognises that delegating authority does 
not reduce the directors’ responsibility to discharge 
their statutory and common-law fiduciary duties. 
The governance structures are regularly reviewed to ensure 
that they effectively support the Board in decision-making, 
establish a corporate culture and are aligned to evolving 
best practice.

Corporate Governance (continued)
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Independence
The Independent Non-Executive Directors are highly 
experienced and have the skills, background, and 
knowledge to fulfil their responsibilities. All directors have a 
duty to act with independence of mind in the best interests 
of the Company. The Board believes that the Independent 
Non-Executive Directors are of the appropriate calibre, 
diversity and number for their views to carry significant 
weight in the Board’s deliberations and decisions. 
The classification of Independent Non-Executive Directors 
is determined by the Board on the recommendation of the 
Nomination Committee. In determining the independence 
of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, and with 
due regard to the criteria for determining independence 
as set out in King IV™ and the JSE Listings Requirements, 
character and judgment are considered, together with 
any of their relationships or circumstances which are 
likely to affect, or could appear to affect, their judgment. 
Any term in office by an Independent Non-Executive 
Director exceeding a period of nine years is subject to a 
rigorous review by the Nomination Committee and the 
Board. The Board remained satisfied that Coen Bester, 
Peter Anania, Richard Willis and Carel van der Merwe are 
Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Board appointments
Directors are appointed by means of a transparent 
and formal procedure, governed by the Nomination 
Committee’s terms of reference. 

The Non-Executive Directors have no fixed terms of 
appointment as they are subject to reappointment 
by shareholders every three years. One-third of the 
non-executive Board members are required to retire by 
rotation every year and, if eligible, are considered for 
re-appointment at the Annual General Meeting.

Any new appointment is considered by the Nomination 
Committee and recommended to the Board for approval. 
The experience and skills required for the position are 
agreed by the Board and a short list of candidates is 
prepared. The curriculum vitae of the candidates are 
circulated to all Board members. The Board will nominate 
two or three of the Board members to interview the 
candidates. The outcome of the interviews is then reported 
to the Board, with the Board then selecting the successful 
candidate. All recommended Director appointments are 
subject to background and reference checks. 

Changes during the year
During the past financial year, Chris Neser was appointed 
as a non-executive director on 20 December 2020. 
Andries Mellet resigned as a non-executive director 
from the Board on 20 December 2019, following PSG’s 
exit as shareholders from Alaris. It is recommended that 
shareholders confirm Chris Neser’s appointment at the 
upcoming Annual General Meeting. 

Evaluation of the Board
During the period under review, the Board, through its 
Company Secretary, conducted performance and 
effectiveness evaluations of the Board and its individual 
directors. The results were tabled to the Board and 
did not necessitate any remedial actions. The Board is 
satisfied that the outcome suggests an effective and 
well-performing board.

Board committees
The Board has established the standing committees set 
out in the diagram on page 31 to promote independent 
judgment, to assist the Board to effectively fulfil its 
responsibilities and to assist with the balance of power. 
Nonetheless, the Board acknowledges that the delegation 
of authority to its Committees does not detract from the 
Board and individual director’s responsibility to discharge 
its fiduciary duties to Alaris. Each Committee consists of at 
least three members. The majority of the members of each 
committee are Independent Non-executive Directors, save 
for the Social and Ethics Committee, which composition is 
aligned with the provisions of the Companies Act and the 
applicable Regulations. 

Each Committee operates under its own terms of reference 
which set out the committees’ roles and responsibilities, 
functions, scope of authority, meeting procedures and 
composition. Committees report to the Board at each Board 
meeting and make recommendations in accordance with 
their terms of reference. The FY2020 assessment process 
of the Board’s committees concluded, amongst others, 
that each committee was satisfied that it had fulfilled 
its responsibilities in respect of its terms of reference. 
Attendance schedules for committee meetings held in 
FY2020 are included in the meeting attendance summary 
on page 34. The curriculum vitae on pages 28 and 29 set out 
the qualifications and experience of each of the committee 
members. 

Members of the executive management are invited to 
attend committee meetings either by standing invitation or 
on an ad hoc basis to provide pertinent information and 
insights in their areas of responsibility. Members of the Board 
are entitled to attend committee meetings as observers, 
however, these directors are not entitled to participate 
without the consent of the chairman of the committee; 
do not have a vote; and are not entitled to fees for such 
attendance, unless payment of fees is agreed to by the 
Board and shareholders.

Chairman and CEO
The roles and responsibilities of the Chairman and the CEO 
of the Board remained separated. Both the Chairman 
and CEO operate under distinct mandates issued and 
approved by the Board that clearly differentiate the 
division of responsibilities within Alaris and ensures a 
balance of power and authority. The Board has considered 
the chairmanship of Coen Bester and agrees that he is an 
independent non-executive director and remains the best 
person to lead the Board.

Appointment of Lead Independent 
Non-Executive Director
During the period under review, the Board, in line with the 
recommended practices of King IV™, appointed Richard 
Willis as the lead independent non-executive director with 
effect from 19 March 2020. 

The Board Charter documents the role and responsibilities 
of the chairman and lead independent non-executive 
director, who leads, inter alia, in the absence of the 
chairman or when the chairman has a conflict of interest.

Composition of the Board
A key aspect of Alaris’ governance philosophy is that no one individual has unfettered powers of decision-making. During 
the year under review, the Board comprised of four independent non-executive directors, one non-executive director 
and three executive directors and was chaired by an independent non-executive chairman. In compliance to the 
recommended practices of King IV™, the majority of the Alaris Board is non-executive directors, with the majority thereof 
being independent directors. The non-executive directors have unrestricted access to management. 

The changes to the Board during the period under review are reflected below.  

Each director brings to the Board a wide range of expertise, knowledge, qualifications, and experience that allow them 
to exercise independent judgment in the Board deliberations and decision-making processes. Directors receive regular 
briefings on changes in risks and laws which impact the Group, as well as changes to the business and operational 
environments. 

Alaris is committed to fostering a corporate culture that embraces diversity and focuses on the composition of its 
Board. During the period under review and in compliance to the amendments to the JSE Listings Requirements, the Board, 
with the assistance of the Nomination Committee, revisited its current Race and Gender Policies to form a Diversity Policy, 
which promotes the broader diversity aspects of amongst others, gender, race, culture, field of knowledge, experience, 
skills and age. The Nomination Committee will continue to monitor Alaris’ progress and implementation of the Diversity 
Policy in promoting broader diversity representation in relation to the composition of the Board. 

Members of the Board during the period under review were as follows: 

Mr C Bester Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman Appointed: 21 January 2004

Mr R Willis Lead Independent Non-Executive Director Appointed: 1 February 2015

Mr A Mellet Non-Executive Director Appointed: 17 October 2017*

Mr C van der Merwe Independent Non-Executive Director Appointed: 1 June 2018

Mr P Anania Independent Non-Executive Director Appointed: 1 November 2018

Mr CB Neser Non-Executive Director Appointed: 20 December 2019

Mr J Dresel Executive Director/Chief Executive Officer Appointed: 21 February 2000

Ms G Heyman Executive Director Appointed: 1 June 2015

Ms E Muller Financial Director/Chief Financial Officer Appointed: 1 July 2019

The curriculum vitae of the members of the Board can be found on pages 28 and 29 of the Integrated Report. 

* resigned with effect from 20 December 2019

The Board, together with the Nomination Committee, considers its composition on an annual basis. In considering the 
Board composition, competency in respect of the Group’s affairs carries as much weight as independence. 
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Non-Executive Directors and terms 
of appointment
The non-executive directors are not involved in the 
day-to-day business of the Company nor are they full-time 
salaried employees of the Company and/or any of its 
subsidiaries. All non-executive directors’ appointments 
are formalised through letters of appointment. 
The non-executive directors enjoy no benefits from the 
Group for their services as directors, other than their fees 
and potential capital gains and dividends on their interests 
in ordinary shares.

In terms of paragraph 24.7 of the Company’s Memorandum 
of Incorporation, a third of the non-executive directors 
are subject to retiring by rotation on an annual basis. This 
enables shareholders to hold directors to account and to 
appoint directors to the Board who shareholders believe 
will ensure long-term sustainable value creation for all 
stakeholders. 

The directors so to retire at the upcoming Annual General 
Meeting are Richard Willis and Peter Anania. The Board 
was satisfied with the recommendation of the Nomination 
Committee to recommend their re-election after being 
satisfied with past performance and experience. They 
have made themselves available for re-election at 
the Annual General Meeting to be held on Thursday, 
3 December 2020. 

Brief biographies of both are available on pages 28 and 
29 of this report. 

Executive directors
The CEO’s performance is evaluated annually by the 
Chairman of the Board. During the period under review, 
a 360º approach to the CEO’s performance evaluation 
was adopted. 

The executive directors are individually mandated and are 
held accountable for:

• The implementation of the strategies and key policies 
determined by the Board;

• Managing and monitoring the business and affairs of 
the Company in accordance with approved business 
plans and budgets;

• Prioritising the allocation of capital and other 
resources; and

• Establishing the best management and operating 
practices.

Chief Executive Officer and delegation 
of authority
The CEO is tasked with the running of the business and the 
implementation of policies and strategies approved and 
adopted by the Board.

The Board has delegated certain of its functions to its 
committees and other functions have been delegated 
via the CEO to the Group’s executive management. 
In the delegation of responsibilities, the CEO confers 
authority on management and is accountable for doing 
so. The board charter distinguishes between those matters 
that are reserved only for the Board and those that are to be 
delegated to management via the CEO. The committees’ 
terms of reference set out delegation to the committees.

The Board is satisfied that the delegation of authority 
framework, which monitors levels of authority within 
the Group with regards to human resources, capital 
expenditure, procurement and contracts, contributes to 
role clarity and the effective exercise of authority and 
responsibilities. 

Designated advisors
PSG Capital Proprietary Limited remained the Designated 
Advisors of the Company for the period under review.

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited 
remained the Transfer Secretary of the Company. 
Shareholders may address shareholding related queries to: 
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, South Africa, 2107. 

Directors’ attendance at Board and committee meetings

Our Board Committee Constitution
Audit and Risk Committee Remuneration Committee Social and Ethics Committee Nomination Committee

Richard Willis Carel van der Merwe Richard Willis Coen Bester 
(Chairman) (Chairman) (Chairman) (Chairman)

Carel van der Merwe Andries Mellet Carel van der Merwe Richard Willis 
(member) (member)** (member)* (member)

Peter Anania Coen Bester Ruenelle Ramnath Chris Neser
(member)* (member) (member) (member)***

Andries Mellet Chris Neser Gisela Heyman Andries Mellet
(invitee)** (member)*** (invitee) (member)**

Chris Neser Juergen Dresel   Juergen Dresel 
(invitee) (invitee)  (invitee)

E Müller Gisela Heyman  E Müller
(invitee) (invitee)  (invitee)

 E Müller   
 (invitee)   

* appointed as a Committee member with effect from 2 September 2019

** resigned with effect from 20 December 2019

*** appointed as a Committee member with effect from 3 March 2020 

Summary of meetings  held
The summarised meeting attendances presents the meetings for the financial year ended 30 June 2020:

 
Board 
meeting

Audit and Risk 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Nomination 
Committee

Social and Ethics 
Committee

CP Bester 4/4 – 3/3 2/2  

RC Willis 4/4 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2

A Mellet 1/2 0/0 0/1 0/1 – 

CB Neser 2/2 2/2 (invitee) 2/2 1/1 – 

C van der Merwe 4/4 4/4 3/3 – 2/2

P Anania 4/4 4/4 – – – 

J Dresel 4/4 2/3 (invitee) 3/3 2/2 (invitee) 2/2

GT Heyman 4/4 2/2 (invitee) 3/3 – 2/2 (invitee)

E Müller 4/4 4/4 (invitee) 3/3 2/2 (invitee)  

R Ramnath – – – – 2/2

Designated Advisor 4/4 – – – – 

External Auditors – 4/4 – – – 

Company Secretary 4/4 4/4 3/3 2/2 2/2

Note: Chris Neser was appointed as a Non-Executive Director as of 20 December 2019 and Andries Mellet resigned as 
Non-Executive Director as of 20 December 2019. 
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Audit and risk committee 
The Audit and Risk Committee, a statutory committee 
in terms of section of section 94 of the Companies Act, 
operated in terms of its board approved Terms of Reference. 

During the period under review, the Audit and Risk 
Committee was reconstituted to align its membership 
to the recommended practices of King IV™ by replacing 
the Chairman of the Board, who previously served as 
a member of the Audit and Risk Committee, with Peter 
Anania, an independent non-executive director. 

For more details on the Audit and Risk Committee’s 
responsibilities and powers, we refer you to the Audit and 
Risk Committee’s report available on pages 55 – 58  of 
this report.

Remuneration committee
The Remuneration Committee (the Committee) has 
pleasure in submitting its report for the year ended 30 June 
2020 (FY2020) to shareholders.

Composition, meetings and 
committee evaluation
The Committee comprised the following members for the 
period under review:

• Carel van der Merwe (independent non-executive 
director/chairman) 

• Coen Bester (independent non-executive 
director/member) 

• Andries Mellet (non-executive director/member).

The Committee was reconstituted following the resignation 
of Andries Mellet during the latter part of 2019 and Chris 
Neser was appointed to fill the vacancy occasioned by this 
resignation. 

In line with the recommended practices of King IV™, the 
majority of the Committee members are independent 
non-executive directors. 

The qualifications of members and the details of the 
Committee meetings attended by each of the members 
are set out on pages 28, 29 and 34 of this integrated 
annual report. In accordance with its Terms of Reference, 
the Committee meets twice annually, but more often if 
required. During the period under review, the Committee 
met three times. The chief executive officer, finance 
director and executive director attend meetings by 
standing invitation to make proposals and provide such 
information as the Committee may require. The executives 
are recused from participating and voting at Committee 
meetings where their remuneration is discussed. 

The Chairman of the Committee provides the Board with 
reports after each meeting of the Committee.

The Committee conducted a self-assessment evaluation 
to measure its effectiveness and performance during the 
reporting period. There were no concerns raised regarding 
the performance or functioning of the Committee. In line 
with the recommended practices of King IV™, the next 
evaluation of the committee will be conducted in FY2022.     

Role and responsibilities
The Committee acts in accordance with its Board-approved 
terms of reference, which are reviewed annually. 
The Committee is mandated to ensure that the Company 
remunerates fairly, responsibly, and transparently and in 
doing so, reviews the Company’s Remuneration Policy 
annually, to ensure that it promotes the achievement 
of strategic objectives and encourages individual 
performance. 

The main responsibilities of the Committee are:

• Advising on the remuneration of non-executive 
directors;

• Making recommendations to the Board with regards 
to the Company’s remuneration policies;

• Considering the results of the Chief Executive Officer’s 
performance evaluation;

• Overseeing the implementation of the Group’s 
remuneration policy and related activities;

• Overseeing the preparation of the Remuneration 
Committee report for inclusion in the Integrated 
Annual Report; and

• Ensuring the disclosure of directors’ remuneration in 
the Annual Financial Statements of the Group and its 
relevant material subsidiaries are accurate, complete, 
and transparent. 

Activities of the Committee
During the period under review, the Committee reviewed 
monitored, considered, recommended and where 
applicable, approved: 

• The Company’s remuneration policy and 
implementation report for approval by the Board, 
which will be presented to shareholders for 
non-binding advisory votes at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting (AGM);

• Executive directors’ remuneration;

• The non-executive director fees payable, for approval 
by shareholders;

• Conducted a 360° review of the Chief Executive 
Officer’s performance;

• The Group Executive Key Performance Indicators for 
the period under review;

• Its annual work plan and terms of reference;

• Allocation of share options in terms of the Company’s 
Long-Term Incentive Plan; and

• Succession planning in conjunction with the 
Nomination Committee. 

The Committee has considered the impact of King IV™, as 
well as the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited, on the 
remuneration policy and present this report in three parts: 

• Part 1: the background statement, the remuneration 
philosophy and the context of the decisions and 
considerations taken during the reporting year which 
influenced the remuneration outcomes. 

• Part 2: Alaris’ remuneration policy.

• Part 3: the disclosure on the implementation of the 
remuneration policy during the year.

Dealing in securities and insider trading
Alaris has a policy on dealing in securities and insider trading and enforces closed periods as per legislation and regulations. 
During these times, directors, officers and designated people are precluded from dealing in Alaris securities. Closed 
periods extend from the end of Alaris’ financial half-year and year-end until publication of the relevant results. All dealings 
in shares of Alaris by directors are reported on the JSE Stock Exchange News Service (“SENS”) within 72 hours of the trade. 

The Chairman of the Board is required to authorise such dealings in securities, prior to trades being executed. An independent 
non-executive director is required to authorise the Chairman of the Board’s dealings in securities, prior to trades being 
executed. 

Directors’ interest in securities is available on page 51 of the report. 

Analysis of shareholding
Please see the shareholder analysis report on page 50. 

Company secretary
Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services Proprietary Limited (“Fusion”) remained the Company Secretary of the Company 
during the period under review. The Company Secretary is not a director of Alaris and maintains an arm’s-length relationship 
with the Board.  

The Company Secretary has unfettered access to the Board and the latter has empowered the Company Secretary to 
carry out its role of governance gatekeeper. 

The Company Secretary is responsible for the duties as set out in section 88 of the Companies Act and for ensuring 
compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements. The Company Secretary is the custodian of the statutory records of the 
Company and acts as a central source of information and advice to the Board and to the Company in general on matters 
of ethics and good governance. The Company Secretary ensures that the proceedings and affairs of the Board, its 
committees and the company itself, are properly administered in line with pertinent laws.

 The Board believes that the corporate governance services are effective. Based on the outcome of the Board’s annual 
formal assessment of the Company Secretary, the Board confirms that the Company Secretary has the qualifications, 
competence, and expertise necessary for the role.

The certificate that the Company Secretary is required to issue in terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act is on 
page 61 of this Integrated Annual Report.

 
Members of the Group executive committee  

J Dresel Group CEO

ES Müller Group CFO

Chris Vale Group CTO from 1 July 2020

Jenny Heyes Group Marketing Officer – appointed 1 July 2020

GT Heyman Managing Director Alaris Antennas

S Lentonen Managing Director – COJOT

P Farnum Managing Director – mWAVE – until 1 June 2020 – handing over to J Detert

J Detert Managing Director – mWAVE – appointed 1 June 2020 

The responsibilities of the Group Executive Committee include:

• Monitoring and managing risk;

• Developing and implementing the Group’s strategic plan;

• Developing human resources policies and practices;

• Developing budgets and monitoring expenditure;

• Monitoring operational performance against agreed targets; and

• Adhering to financial and capital management policies.
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    The pay mix of the participants is as per the below:

    On Achieving Target performance  Maximum 

 Roles  Salary  STIP  LTIP  1     Salary  STIP  2  LTIP  1    

 G  roup Executive Directors 
and MD  s 

 100%  50%   (6 months)  100%     (12 months)  100%  100%   (12 months)  100%     (12 months) 

 1  LTIP is assessed after three years depending on performance vesting criteria. 

 2  Any STIP payment more than the target STIP amount (i.e. for executives more than   six   months’ worth of salary) is deferred by one year, 
with the only vesting condition being that the person is still employed. 

    Short-  term (annual) incentive scheme (STIP)

    The incentive scheme allows for a bonus based on a 
scale against which growth performance is measured. 
The target normalised earnings per share for the year and 
the corresponding scale is considered and approved by 
the Remco on an annual basis, for each subsidiary and for 
the Group respectively. A 30% portion of the bonus is based 
on the key performance indicators of the individuals that 
are agreed annually by the relevant line managers and 
assessed at the managers discretion.

    An overperformance bonus is applicable if the hurdle rate 
of growth in normalised earnings per share is exceeded. 
In such a case an overperformance pool is created 
in which participants will share a percentage of the 
overperformance profits. The bonus pool is created from 
a level below the target for the year to ensure there is a 
pool available to reward individual performance, even 
if the business does not grow sufficiently to reach target. 
However, no executive management shares in the bonus 
pool unless the business has achieved a certain target 
threshold amount set yearly by Remco, typically based on 
at least inflationary growth on the prior year. Management 
makes a recommendation on how the bonus pool is to be 
allocated, for final approval by Rem  Com  .

    Share-based long-term incentive plans (LTIP)

    A share incentive scheme for key executives and senior staff 
members was approved by the board in 2015 to incentivise 

individuals on a share-based plan. The key executives 
and senior staff members are those involved in creating 
shareholder value. The intention was to promote the 
effective participation in the Group of key employees 
to retain such employees and to align with stakeholder 
value creation.

    The Group implemented a new share-based incentive 
scheme owing to the following two reasons:

1.     T  he accounting treatment of equity settled incentive 
schemes with market conditions, in accordance 
with IFRS     2, does not always align the actual benefit 
the employee obtains with the cost incurred by the 
company. I.e. when the strike price of the option is 
higher than the market value, the option is under water 
and has no value and therefore the employee will in 
all likelihood not exercise the option, however the 
company will not show the benefit of not incurring this 
cost in the profits, since the share-based equity reserve 
remains in equity and does not recycle into the profits 
of the company.

2.     T  he objective of retention of key staff was not achieved 
in the existing scheme. Even though profits materialised 
year on year for the past three years, the share price 
did not track such profits, resulting in issued options 
being under water. 

    Part   1
    Remuneration   p  hilosophy

    Alaris’ remuneration strategy aims to create sustainable 
shareholder value by motivating and retaining competent 
leaders and talent. We aim to attract knowledgeable 
staff to allow the Group to achieve its strategic goals. 
It is imperative for the Group to attract top-class talent to 
grow the intellectual property value of the Group and to 
develop new ideas. Primary objectives include the need 
to have credible remuneration policies that enhance key 
business goals, address needs across the different cultures 
and drive performance.

    The Committee assists the Board by applying a 
remuneration strategy that ensures a balance in attracting, 
motivating, rewarding, and retaining key personnel 
through competitive remuneration practices, while 
creating shareholder value. In determining remuneration, 
the Committee considers the financial performance of the 
company, operational requirements and   future plans   of 
the company, as well as shareholders’ interests  .

    Remuneration packages are reviewed annually and are 
monitored and compared with reported figures for similar 
positions to ensure they are fair and sensible.     Differentials 
in pay are measured against industry benchmarks on an 
annual basis, taking job profiling and grading into account.

    Voting results and Shareholders Engagement 

    At the Company’s 2019 AGM, Alaris’ remuneration report 
was presented and voted on in sections, namely: 

    Remuneration Policy – supported by 99.97% of shareholders 
who voted. 

    Remuneration Implementation Report – supported by 100% 
of shareholders who voted. 

    The Remuneration Policy and Remuneration 
Implementation Report will again be tabled separately for 
non-binding advisory votes by shareholders. In the event 
that 25% or more of the voting rights exercised, vote against 
either the Remuneration Policy or the Remuneration 
Implementation Report, management, assisted by 
the Committee, undertakes to engage with dissenting 
shareholders to determine the reason for the dissenting 
vote and appropriately address any legitimate and 
reasonable concerns and objections. 

    Part   2  : Overview of remuneration policy 
    Non-executive directors

    The Board, through the Nomination Committee, proposes 
the re-election of non-executive directors to shareholders. 
In terms of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, 
one third of non-executive directors are required to retire 
by rotation. 

    Non-executive directors are not employees of the 
Company and receive monthly or quarterly remuneration 
as opposed to a fee per meeting. This recognises the 
responsibility of directors for the efficient control of the 
Company. A premium is payable to the chairman of the 
Board, as well as to the chairmen of the subcommittees. 
The non-executive directors’ remuneration is reviewed 
annually and recommended for approval by shareholders. 
Remuneration is not linked to the Company’s share price. 

    Details of the director  s’ remuneration are set out in 
N  ote   25   of the financial statements. 

    Executive directors

    In remunerating executives, the Group aims to motivate 
and retain competent and committed leaders in its drive 
to create sustainable shareholder value. Remuneration is 
linked to key performance indicators and a portion of the 
remuneration is not guaranteed.

    Alaris structures packages on a total cost-to-company 
basis. The salary structures of the staff can consist of up to 
three components: 

1.     Monthly, guar  anteed, market-  related 
basic salaries   

    The Group also has an employee benefit scheme 
which offers pension fund, death and disability 
and medical aid benefits. This allows individuals to 
structure their own pension, medical aid and other 
benefits. 

2.     Sho  rt-  term (annual) incentive plan (STIP)

    Bonus

    Certain staff qualify for individual and/or team 
annual performance incentives. The plan seeks 
to have a set of value drivers which funds a total 
STIP pool such that it aligns with stakeholder value 
creation and a set of drivers which distributes the 
pools such that it aligns with employee engagement 
and performance.

    Commission 

    Sales staff are eligible to receive a variable 
commission portion based on sales invoiced. 

3.     Long-  term incentive plan (LTIP)

    Key executives and senior staff members are 
nominated by the executive management 
and approved at the discretion of the board to 
participate in the long-term incentive scheme with 
the objective to retain such employees and to align 
with stakeholder value creation.
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Dear Stakeholders

The Social and Ethics Committee (the Committee) presents 
the following report to shareholders for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2020 (FY2020), in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act No. 71 of 2008, as 
amended (the Companies Act). This report will serve as the 
Committee’s report to the Company’s shareholders on the 
matters within its mandate, at the upcoming Annual General 
Meeting (AGM). Any specific questions to the Committee 
on matters within its mandate, may be sent to the Company 
Secretary prior to the AGM at melinda@fusioncorp.co.za 
and/or andrea@fusioncorp.co.za. 

Committee governance and meetings
The Companies Act stipulates that the Committee must 
comprise not less than three directors or prescribed 
officers of the Company, at least one of whom must be a 
non-executive director. King IV™ recommends a higher 
standard for the composition of this Committee than what 
is provided for in the Companies Act and Regulations. 
The recommendation is that the Committee should 
comprise of executive and non-executive members of the 
governing body, the majority thereof of whom should be 
non-executive directors.

During FY2020, the Committee was reconstituted to align its 
membership with the recommended practices of King IV™.  

Members of the Committee for FY2020 were independent 
non-executive directors, Richard Willis (chairman) and 
Carel van der Merwe and Ruenelle Ramnath (Director: 
Alaris Antennas (Pty) Ltd). 

Permanent invitees at the Committee meetings are 
executive director, Gisela Heyman, and the company 
secretary, who acts as the secretary of the Committee.  

In accordance with its Terms of Reference, the Committee 
met twice during the reporting period. Members’ 
attendance at Committee meetings are reflected on 
page 34 of this integrated report. 

Role of the Committee
The Committee is a statutory committee and its roles and 
responsibilities are governed by its Board-approved terms 
of reference, which are annually reviewed and updated 
where required. The Committee is of the view that, in 
all material respects, the Committee has achieved its 
objectives for the financial year ended 30 June 2020. 

The Board has allocated the oversight of, and reporting on, 
organisational ethics, responsible corporate citizenship, 
stakeholder engagement sustainable development and 
sustainability, to the Committee. 

The Committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its 
responsibilities in accordance with its Terms of Reference. 

Responsibilities of the Committee
The Committee is, amongst others, responsible for: 

• Good corporate citizenship – promoting ethical 
leadership, integrity, anticorruption, sustainability, 
value creation, equality, preventing discrimination and 
contributing to the development of the communities 
in which its activities are predominantly conducted.

• Stakeholder relations – ensuring that all 
communications to stakeholders are transparent and 
appropriate.

• Human capital – labour and employment, education, 
and skills development.

• Compliance with the 10 principles set out in the 
United Nations Global Compact Principles, the 
OECD recommendations regarding corruption, 
the Employment Equity Act, (Act 55 of 1998 and the 
Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act 
(Act 53 of 2003).

• The monitoring functions required in terms of the 
Companies Act and its regulations.

• Monitoring the Company’s sustainability performance 
to ensure that the Company’s ethics support its 
culture, it is seen as responsible citizen, and that there 
is a balance between the Company and the needs, 
interest, and expectations of all stakeholders. 

• Subsidiaries’ development and implementation of 
policies, guidelines, and practices congruent with the 
Group’s social and ethics policies.

B-BBEE and employment equity
The Board recognises the critical role it plays in the 
development and empowerment of historically 
disadvantaged individuals in South Africa and the 
long-term positive impact on the South African economy 
and community by investing in skills development and 
social initiatives. One of the primary roles of the Committee 
is to assist the Board in ensuring that it discharges its duties 
and obligations in respect of the South African businesses’ 
transformation in accordance with approved policy. 

The Committee continues to review the Group’s B-BBEE 
strategy to identify areas and initiatives to improve the 
Group’s overall B-BBEE rating. Alaris made slow progress 
in certain aspects of the scorecard primarily due to the 
uncertainty around the new Defence charter. Under the 
Department of Trade and Industry’s revised Codes of Good 
Practice, we have commenced with a project to re-assess 
our B-BBEE strategies to achieve B-BBEE compliance. 
For Alaris, transformation is beyond the need for B-BBEE but 
is inclusive of transformation of the organisation’s culture, 
ethics, and values. Alaris has been successful in providing 
equal employment opportunities and in promoting internal 
employees and is committed to driving employment 
equity goals and enhancing diversity across the Group. 
Alaris also supports empowering women in all its business 
units. A B-BBEE verification process was undertaken, 
in terms of which Alaris Holdings Limited was classified as 
non-compliant for the year ending June 2020.

Existing share option scheme, in run-off

This scheme required participants to pay a certain strike 
price determined at a point in time and the number of 
options allocated was based on a multiple factor of the 
salary and the 30 day VWAP at that time of issue.

The vesting conditions depended on the staff member still 
being in employ (non-market condition) and the option 
would, by its nature, only be exercised if the options are in 
the money (market condition).

The options already issued under this existing option 
scheme will run its course with the last options vesting in 
November 2022. 

No further top-ups are done under the current scheme. 
This scheme will terminate in November 2022.

New nil-cost share-based long-term incentive plans

The new long-term incentive plan, was implemented 
effective from 1 July 2018, and is based on the 
following principles:

• Annual LTIP awards will be subject to a combination of 
performance and time vesting conditions. 

• An annual allocation of nil cost options will be made, 
calculated as a factor of annual salary.

• The options will carry a nil strike price with the number 
of share options determined based on the 30-day 
volume weighted share price on the date of issue.

• The full amount of options is allocated on day one, 
but performance vesting criteria will determine after 
three years how many options actually vest.

• The options will vest after three years, if the participant 
is still employed and to the extent that the following 
performance vesting criteria are met:

• Metric: three-year cumulative growth in normalised 
earnings per share from year-end preceding the 
award to the year-end preceding vesting.

• The options will vest in full if the normalised earnings 
per share increase by the target set by the Board.

• No options will vest if the normalised earnings per 
share did not increase over the period by at least 
a cumulative minimum threshold, typically the 
average South African inflation rate over the period.

Executive management use their discretion to nominate 
relevant key staff members for consideration. Pre-approval 
is at the Group CEOs discretion and final approval at the 
Remuneration Committee if within approved maximum 
thresholds, as defined by the nil-cost share-based 
long-term incentive plan.

The Board approves the annual allocation of the nil-cost 
share options, at its discretion, on the recommendation of 
the Committee and based on the below guidelines:

Roles

LTIP Fair Value of Award (Max Value) 

100% vesting

Group Executive 
Directors and MDs

100% x Salary

Part 3: Implementation report
The remuneration policy has been implemented as per 
the remuneration policy. Refer to Note 25 for the detailed 
disclosure of directors’ emoluments.

During the past financial year certain options vested and 
were exercised. New share options were granted as per the 
remuneration policy to certain employees on 18 September 
2019. Refer to Note 13 of the consolidated financial 
statements for detail of the movement in authorised and 
issued ordinary share capital and refer to Note 14 for more 
detail on the share option scheme. 

The Board approved an extension to the exercise period 
of Tranche 1 (May 2015), which lapsed in June 2020, by 
12 months due to the share price of the holding company 
being affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. 

COJOT achieved normalised earnings growth higher than 
the target approved by the Board in the 2019 financial 
year. Based on this the staff allocated to this entity qualified 
for an over performance bonus in the prior year in line 
with the above remuneration policy. As required per the 
remuneration policy, the bonus portion relating to the prior 
year’s overperformance was retained by the Company for 
a period of 12 months and paid out in the current financial 
year, to the relevant employees that were still in employ on 
30 June 2020. In the current year, COJOT did not achieve 
targets and no bonuses were paid out in relation to the 
current financial year. 

Alaris Antennas did not achieve the normalised earnings 
growth target approved by the Board. Based on the above 
remuneration policy the entity did not qualify for any 
bonuses. 

mWAVE did not achieve the normalised earnings 
growth target approved by the Board. Based on the 
above remuneration policy, the participants did not 
qualify for any bonuses under the scheme as per 
remuneration policy. Incentives of R288 073 were paid to 
certain senior management, as agreed contractually 
during the acquisition, as part of the incentives in the 
employment contract.

The Group did not achieve any growth in the current year 
due to COVID-19. Based on this the staff allocated to this 
entity did not qualify for any bonuses in line with the above 
remuneration policy. 



The Board is responsible for the governance of risk by 
ensuring that an appropriate system and process of 
risk management is implemented and maintained. 
The Board has appointed and is assisted by the Audit 
& Risk Committee, which operates in terms of a formal 
charter. Its duties and activities include considering the risk 
management policy and plan, reviewing the effectiveness 
of the risk management activities, identifying the key risks 
facing the Group and ensuring appropriate responses to 
address these key risks.

• Events that may lead to risks materialising are identified 
within the generic risk framework.

• Events are then assessed to quantify probability and 
potential financial impact on the business if they 
materialise.

• Preventative actions (probability) and contingent 
actions (impact) are identified to mitigate these, 
as well as critical action plans (to be managed at 
Executive Committee level).

• The overall assessment of risk is compared against the 
level of risk deemed acceptable by the Group.

The Executive Committee reports to the Audit and Risk 
Committee on overall risk processes, identified events and 
mitigation action plans. The Audit and Risk Committee, in 
turn, presents to the Board an overview of these potential 
risks, processes and critical actions.

The focus of risk management in the Group is on identifying, 
assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms 
of risk across the Group. While operating risk cannot be 
fully eliminated, the Group endeavours to minimise it by 
ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems 
and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within 
predetermined procedures and constraints.

Risk Context Mitigating actions

Limited acquisitive 
growth 

Reduced share price impacts company valuation 
and possible deal structures for acquisition. Lower 
share price due to illiquid shares on the Alt-X impacts 
the market cap of Alaris Holdings and results in higher 
transaction fees for acquisitions due to circular 
requirement on Cat 1 being reached sooner

• Increase exposure in market through investor relations 
and press releases 

• Maintain focus on financial fundamentals (increase 
profits and EPS)

Scarce skills RF engineers worldwide are a scarce skill.  Engineers 
with RF expertise are even more scarce in South Africa 
due to skilled engineers emigrating from South Africa.

• Build a pipeline of good engineers through activities 
like vacation work, bursaries and learnerships to feed 
engineering talent pipeline from the bottom up

• Create opportunities for engineers in South Africa 
at fellow subsidiaries to keep valuable employees in 
the Group

Unstable economic 
conditions in South 
Africa

Doing business in South Africa is difficult and becomes 
commercially unviable [Exchange rate volatility, 
shrinking supply chain, lack of growth in the country, 
brain drain and electricity supply/infrastructure; limited 
business in SA]

• Expand further on international opportunities

• Maintain/increase export revenue

• Consider foreign outsource options – selected 5 products 
to be outsourced by Dec 2020 as risk mitigation

• Investigate feasible B-BBEE options

Lumpy nature 
of business and 
pandemic

Lumpy nature of underlying business threatens 
consistent growth on increased base. 
COVID-19 regulations have a limiting impact to 
reach our customers world-wide for face-to-face 
interactions.

• Actively drive & monitor rolling order forecast

• Add more companies into the structure to diversify risk 
and add higher volume 

• Increase business development capability/capacity. 

• Project the order intake on a quarterly basis instead of 
twice a year and plan the load management actively 
on a monthly basis

Material Risks in the Group
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Ethics and Values

Ethics and values
All employees of the Company are required to maintain the 
highest ethical standards in ensuring that the Company’s 
business practices are conducted in a manner, which in all 
circumstances are above reproach. All executive directors 
of the Group and its subsidiaries are required to sign an 
anti-bribery declaration on an annual basis confirming 
that they are not aware of any circumstances which the 
Group participated in that would bring our ethics and 
values in dispute.

Employees
Alaris’ employment policies allow for individuals, including 
individuals from historically disadvantaged backgrounds, 
to apply for bursaries. Employees are encouraged to 
improve their personal qualifications and several previously 
disadvantaged employees are currently on study courses 
financed by Alaris. We also promote a healthy, secure, 
participative social and working environment for our staff 
and business associates.

Risk management report
Our ability to deliver on Alaris’ business strategy depends 
on us being able to take calculated risks in a manner that 
does not jeopardise the interests of our stakeholders. Alaris 
has established a culture of managing existing, emerging 
or unpredictable risks. Various embedded processes and 
structures are in place to address our risk management 
needs. We have adopted an enterprise-wide approach 
to risk management, with every identified material risk 
included in a structured and systematic process of risk 
management. 

Social and Ethics Committee (continued)

The Company has re-established its Employment Equity 
Committee, to amongst others, oversee the updating 
and implementation of the Group’s Employment Equity 
Plan for the entities in the Group where applicable. During 
the period under review, the Committee monitored the 
Employment Equity Committee’s activities and progress 
made in relation to the implementation of the Group’s 
Employment Equity Plan. 

Alaris ethical code
All employees, executive officers, and members of the 
Board of Directors, agents, consultants, contract labourers 
or any other persons involved with rendering a service 
on behalf of the Company are required to maintain the 
highest ethical standards in ensuring that the Company’s 
business practices are conducted in a manner, which in all 
circumstances are above reproach.

The Company’s management is responsible for the 
implementation of the Ethical Code and reporting any 
material breaches to the Committee.

Whistle-blowing and anti-corruption 
and bribery
Alaris aims to promote a culture of openness and 
transparency within the Company and as such, employees 
and other stakeholders are encouraged to report unethical 
conduct and other transgressions that they may become 
aware of. 

In this regard, Alaris provides an internal, anonymous 
whistle-blowing facility to its employees to report 
incidences of fraud or unethical behaviour relating to 
the Group. All reports from this hotline or from other 
whistle-blowing sources received during the year were 
logged and, where appropriate, reported to the relevant 
managers and the Committee. 

Of the two allegations received via the Anonymous 
whistle-blower line during the financial year, both have 
been considered by the Committee are deemed to have 
been resolved.

All executive directors of the Group and its subsidiaries 
are required to sign an anti-bribery declaration on an 
annual basis confirming that they are not aware of any 
circumstances which the Group participated in that would 
bring our ethics and values in dispute.

Socio-Economic Development: Community, 
Social and Environmental Issues

Corporate social investment 

The past year saw the Group involved in several initiatives 
including the donation of stationary to the Louis Botha 
Children’s Home, the Care in Disaster Project, which 
assisted families in need and two orphanages with 
donations of non-perishable food and a donation of food 
to the Midrand SPCA.

Health, safety and environment 

The Group continues to make progress with persistent focus 
on its health, safety, and environment activities. Following 
the implementation of the Environmental Management 
Plan within Alaris Antennas, compliance with the Reach 
and RoHS requirements was achieved during the previous 
reporting period. The Committee continued to monitor the 
Environmental Management Plan to ensure compliance 
with the Reach and RoHS requirements is retained.  

The Committee regularly considers reports from the Health 
and Safety Committee and is satisfied to report that there 
were no reportable injuries during the period under review. 
The Committee will continue monitoring the Group’s 
compliance to the Occupational Health and Safety Act 
(“OHSA”). 

Stakeholder relations
The Group remains committed to transparent and fair 
business practices in all its dealings with stakeholders, 
shareholders and related business partners.

The Group communicates with shareholders, investors, 
analysts and regulators on a constant basis and public 
presentations are held when needed. Alaris believes that 
such communication is essential and endeavours to keep 
an open-door policy with relevant stakeholders.

COVID-19 global pandemic
The Committee is satisfied with the measures and protocols 
implemented by management, in line with the Company’s 
COVID-19 Policy, to reduce and mitigate the Company’s 
risks and exposure to the effect and impact of COVID-19. 
Weekly training has been provided to employees on how 
to minimise the risk of contracting the coronavirus whilst 
re-affirming rules and regulations. 

In the ensuing financial year, the Committee will continue 
to monitor any developments around the Coronavirus and 
its impact on the Company and its employees, to ensure 
that the protocols and measures remain adequate and 
relevant. 

Conclusion 
Alaris remains committed to identifying additional 
strategies to create value and contribute positively to the 
communities within which it operates

The Committee is satisfied to report that during FY2020, 
there have been no instances of material non-compliance 
with legislation or non-adherence to codes of best practice 
that fall within the Committee’s mandate. 

Signed on behalf of the Social and Ethics Committee by:

Richard Willis 
Chairman: Social and Ethics Committee

30 September 2020
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    Social Responsibility   

    “What counts in life is not the 
mere     fact that we have lived. It is 
what difference we have made to 
the lives of others that will determine 
the significance of the life we lead.” 
  –     Mr     Nelson     Mandela
    The Group believes that each citizen has a responsibility 
towards society and the environment. The Group therefore 
encourages employee participation through involvement 
by either giving in time or by donating towards social 
development issues.

    Stationery   c  ollection – January 2020 
    At     the beginning of   December   2019  ,   the Alaris team realised 
that the   year is rapidly coming to a close and   although 
they were   all looking forward to a break  , some people   will 
  spend their December holiday with a concern   about   reality 
strik  ing   in Janu  ary when so many children are returning 
back to school  . These are times when so many children   do 
not   have the required   stationery or any financial means to 
be able to purchase even the basic items.

    This is especially a concern at orphanages and children 
homes, where they are dependent on funding   from 
private institutions  .

    It was with that thought in mind, that the   Alaris Antennas   
team decided to do a collection of stationery, to be 
delivered in January   when schools re-open  . During the 
year  ,     Alaris was visited by   a learner from the Louis Botha 
Children’s Home who   spent a week shadowing some of 
the engineers. During this time,     he   indicated that they 
specifically battle with the more specialised stationery 
equipment which is needed for Engineering drawings.

    G  iven that   Alaris is   an engineering company,   it was 
decided to focus   on supplying some of this specialised 
equipment, which include  d   drawing boards, triangles, 
  French   curves, etc.   Ten     youngsters   in the Children's Home 
  followed   Engineering drawing as a subject and we were 
able to supply each of them   with a set  , in addition to the 
  everyday   stationery   for all.

    

Care in disaster   – A time of dire need!   – 
May 2020
    We hear  d   about it in the news, read about it in the papers 
and   witnessed   the desperation on social media   –   s  o many 
people   were   in dire need of food in the heart wrenching 
times   of C  OVID  -19 lockdown  .

    Not only   wa  s   this impacting people far away, but also in 
and around our community.   The team jumped   in  to action 
and   made   a collection of non-perishable foods to benefit 
families in our Alaris community.

    Due to irregularities exposed in the media with regards to 
the distribution of food,   Alaris   decided to join hands with 
an organisation who ha  d   a permit to distribute food to   
identified   people directly and not to a distribution centre. 
The organisation   with whom Alaris joined hands  ,   managed 
  a Care in Disaster project, supporting specific families 
and two orphanages. The areas covered   were   Centurion, 
Tembisa, Pretoria West and Olievenhoutbosch. The team 
running with the project at   Kerk  -sonder-  Mure   in Centurion 
verifie  d   the need before distribution.   As the   project is 
overseen by a social worker  , we were comfortable with the 
thought that the donations will reach those   in need.   

    The value of contributions from the staff totalled 
an outstanding amount of R5     950  .     Alaris Antennas 
  management   committed to match the value of the 
donations received from the staff on a rand-to-rand basis 
and therefore made a financial contribution of R5     950 to 
the organisation as well. The total value contributed to the 
project   was   an overwhelming amount of R11     900  .

45 Social Responsibility

  SUSTAINABILITY
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    Food drive in Maine  , USA
    In addition to the Alaris Antennas project,   mWAVE   also 
ran a food donation project during May in Maine, USA. 
The impact of C  OVID  -19 pandemic was not only restricted 
to one country, but the desperate need for help with 
basic items, was also felt in the USA. The team at   mWAVE   
immediately responded to the call and contributed about 
  USD  550,   (which is about ZAR  10     000) worth of food in a 
very short time to support a local food bank.   mWAVE   as a 
company generously matched the employee contribution 
with a USD550 financial contribution to the Windham 
Food Pantry.

    Again  ,   it was witnessed, that if we join hands, a bigger 
impact can be made to those who are in need –   “  we are 
stronger together  ”
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Social Responsibility (continued)

    Political   d  onations and   a  ffiliations
    As a proudly South African entity, Alaris supports the 
democratic system in South Africa and does not donate or 
contribute to individual political parties.

    Focus areas for FY2021
•     Improving the Group’s overall B-BBEE rating; and 

•     Review and implement policies in relation to the 
committee’s social and ethics responsibilities. 

Social Responsibility (continued)

    Mandela Day 2020   –   SPCA
    Due to the C  OVID-19   lockdown regulations   of social 
distancing  ,   the Alaris team was not able to do   an activity 
together for 67 minutes, however still wanted to   make a 
difference on Mandela Day this year.

    The desperate situation of animals in need touched the 
  staff’s   hears, and it was   decided to reach out to the   Midrand   
SPCA,   not far from the Alaris Antennas office in Centurion  , 
to make a difference in the lives of our furry friends. 
Unfortunately, not only humans have been impacted by 
the C  OVID-19   situation, but the animal shelters as well, 
since a lot of funding has been cut.   As a result of people 
losing their jobs during lockdown, the SPCA had to take in 
even more abandoned animals than they would under 
normal circumstances.   The SPCA is completely   dependent   
on the generosity of corporate companies and members 
of the public to ensure that their   much-needed   services 
can continue.

    A collection of dog and cat food, as well as blankets   was 
  made   and   donated to the SPCA  , who was very grateful as 
it   alleviate  d     some of the   stress,     they   have to   find sufficient 
food for the animals. The team at this organisation is doing 
  an awesome job   of looking   after the animals in their care   
and for the staff it was a privilege to be able to assist.

    CHOC Childhood Cancer Foundation 
    So many activities have been i  mpacted during 2020 by 
the COVID  -19 regulations, and it was no other way at Alaris 
when the Women’s Day event had to be cancelled this 
year. However, since budget was allocated and the staff 
at Alaris are in a favourable position to still earn a salary, it 
was thought to pay a good deed forward and allocate a 
donation towards a beneficiary in great need.

    CHOC Childhood Cancer Foundation is in dire need for 
support to cover essential services during these critical 
times. The economic situation in which they find themselves, 
is due to a large percentage of individuals who are 
currently unemployed or temporarily without an income, 
a reality that many of the families are facing. Without any 
form of income these families are unable to transport their 
children to and from the hospital for treatments and are 
unable to provide the necessary nutritional requirements 
the child needs to stay healthy.     The Coronavirus has greatly 
increased the needs of many of these families and they 
have seen a significant increase in the demand for some 
of these essential services, especially food parcels and 
transport funds. 

    In order to assist CHOC to ensure that the children are safe, 
are able to attend treatment and that the parents and 
caregivers are relieved of the financial stress of having to 
provide food, protection and support to their sick child, 
it was decided to provide CHOC with a donation to the 
value of R5     000 from Alaris.   

    Conclusion
    The Committee was satisfied that in all material respects, 
the committee   had   achieved its objectives for the financial 
year ended 30 June 20  20  .

    The Committee had no reason to suspect or report that 
there was non-complia  nce to the requirements of the 
Social and Ethics C  ommittee as set out in Regulation 43 of 
the Companies Act.
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  Assurance

    Introduction
    In respect of the level of assurance on information 
included in the integrated annual report and annual 
financial statements as set   out below, the Audit and Risk 
C  ommittee ensures that a combined assurance model is 
applied to and provides a co-ordinated approach to all 
assurance activities. The level of assurance obtained in 
the integrated annual report was approved by the Audit 
and Risk Committee and the Audit and Risk Committee 
will continue to evaluate the level of assurance obtained 
taking into account the factors and risks identified that may 
impact on the integrity of the integrated annual report and 
regulatory requirements.

    Financial information
    Our consolidated financial statements were audited by our 
external auditor, KPMG Inc.

    Non-financial information: Sustainability
    No assurance was obtained on our sustainability measures. 
The Audit and Risk   C  ommittee reviewed the disclosure 
of sustainability issues that may be commented on in 
the integrated annual report to ensure that it is reliable 
and does not conflict with the financial information and 
concluded that no additional external assurance is 
required on material sustainability issues.

    Non-financial information: B-BBEE
    Alaris Holdings and its South African subsidiaries (“Alaris”) 
support the promotion and implementation of a scorecard 
approach for achieving the objectives of B-BBEE. We firmly 
believe that investments in skills development and social 
initiatives will have a long-term positive impact on the 
South African economy and community. We have also 
embarked on various social initiatives which aided the 
following beneficiaries: Louis Botha   Children’s   Home 
Centurion SPCA,   Kerk  -  S  onder-  Mure   in Centurion Care 
in disaster project and a donation to CHOC Childhood 
Cancer Foundation.

    Even though our heritage is firmly rooted in South Africa, 
our international businesses remain a material contributor 
to the Group. Alaris is mindful of our obligation and 
responsibility to improve our B-BBEE status and support the 
need for transformation in South Africa in order to overcome 
the consequences of the previously disadvantaged. 

    We at Alaris believe that transformation is not a future event, 
but rather a present-day activity. Alaris has embarked on a 
transformation process over the past three years but have 
made slow progress in certain aspects of the scorecard 
primarily due to the uncertainty around the new Defence 
charter. Under the Department of Trade and Industry’s 
revised Codes of Good Practice, we have commenced 
with a project to re-assess our B-BBEE strategies to reach 
compliant status. For Alaris, transformation is beyond the 
need for B-BBEE but is inclusive of transformation of culture, 
ethics, and values of the organisation.

    Alaris has been successful in providing equal employment 
opportunities and in promoting internal employees and 
is committed to driving employment equity goals and 
enhancing diversity across the Group. Alaris subscribes to 
the Employment Equity Act to ensure ongoing compliance 
and proactive implementation of regulations and plans. 
Open dialogue is encouraged between employees 
and management through our information sessions 
and committees.

    Alaris (South African segment) has an employment equity 
plan in place, which is moni  tored by the Employment Equity 
C  ommittee. The committee strives to meet on a quarterly 
basis to review the reports submitted and an evaluation is 
done to check if the subsidiary is on target to meet their 
goals. Identifying, attracting, and retaining qualified 
candidates to support our employment equity targets 
remain a challenge due to scarce skills in the engineering 
field. Annual reports are submitted in accordance with the 
Employment Equity Act.

    Alaris is committed to promoting employees within the 
Group. Employees are the foundation of the Group’s 
success and the Group has a bursary program in place that 
encourages growth and further education The employees 
in the Group are actively involved with the University of 
Cape Town (UCT) Get Smarter program, University of Wits 
and various other tertiary institutions.

    Alaris complies with the Skills Development Act, whereby 
the skills development plans ensure that both the strategic 
needs of the business and the personal development 
needs of all employees are incorporated, and that 
implementation is planned and budgeted for during 
the year.

    Alaris further subscribes to affirmative action measures 
to address any employment matters experienced by 
historically disadvantaged groups and individuals. 
The training and development of employees within 
subsidiary companies is an important strategic objective 
of the Group. Our skills development programmes, internal 
and external training aims to develop the required skills to 
support our employment equity plans.

    Empowering women

    Alaris inspires and supports empowering women in all 
its business units. In order to retain women with career 
advancement opportunities, we continue promoti  ng   and 
develop  ing   women and this continues to gain momentum 
in the Group. 

  

49 Assurance

50 Shareholder Analysis

51 Directors’ Interest

ASSURANCE AND SHAREHOLDER 
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Directors’ interests in securities
• No securities have been furnished by Alaris or its subsidiaries for the benefit of any director (other than above) or any 

other associate of any director.

• Share options have been allocated to certain directors of the Company under the rules of the share incentive 
scheme. 

• Certain options were exercised by the below directors during the financial year. The Shares were transferred out 
of treasury shares held by the Share Trust to the individuals below. The remaining outstanding options as at 30 June 
2020 are reflected below:

    Old scheme New scheme   

   

Number 
of options 

still in 
issue from 
May 2015

Number 
of options 

still in 
issue from 

Sep 2016

Number 
of options 

still in 
issue from 
Nov 2017

Number 
of options 

still in issue 
from March 

2019

Number 
of options 

still in 
issue from 

October 
2019  

Options 
exercised 

and 
converted 

to shares 
during the 

year 

   

(Strike 
price 

R2.10)

(Strike 
price 

R2.30)

(Strike 
price 

R1.90)

(Strike 
price nil 
subject 

to perfor- 
mance)

(Strike 
price nil 
subject 

to perfor- 
mance)

Total 
number of 

options still 
in issue

J Dresel
Executive Director – 
Group CEO 950 000 – 427 500 1 105 200 1 695 100 4 177 800 142 500

GT Heyman
Executive Director – 
Alaris Antennas 125 000 250 000 952 500 666 100 1 112 400 3 106 000 317 500

S Lentonen
Executive Director – 
COJOT – 300 000 330 000 707 200 975 400 2 132 600 110 000

• Refer to Note 14 – Share-based payments of the financial statements, for details of the scheme.

• No changes have occurred in the directors’ interests between 30 June 2020 and the date of approval of this 
integrated annual report.

Shareholder Analysis

 
Number of 

shareholders %
Number of 

shares %
Shareholder spread 2020 2020

1 – 1 000 shares 545 48.40% 181 716 0.14%
1 001 – 10 000 shares 256 22.74% 1 151 177 0.92%
10 001 – 50 000 shares 206 18.29% 5 227 835 4.17%
50 001 – 100 000 shares 56 4.97% 4 028 098 3.21%
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares 51 4.53% 16 023 395 12.77%
1 000 001 shares and over 12 1.07% 98 862 853 78.79%

Totals  1 126 100.00% 125 475 074 100.00%

     
Public/non-public shareholders     
Non-public shareholders     
Directors and associates 7 0.62% 44 810 036 35.71%
Share trust 1 0.09% 3 545 543 2.83%
Alaris Antennas (Pty) Ltd 1 0.09% 1 659 000 1.32%
COJOT OY 1 0.09% 924 300 0.74%
Public shareholders 1116 99.11% 74 536 195 59.40%

Totals 1 126 100.00% 125 475 074 100.00%

Directors and associates      2020 2019

JP Morgan Chase Bank 
Chase Nominees * Associated Holding (CB Neser)A Indirect 30 815 237 24.56% – –
PSG Alpha Investments 
(Pty) Ltd  Associated Holding (A Mellet)B Indirect – – 30 815 237 24.56%
J Dresel ** Executive Director Direct 8 962 812 7.14% 8 935 525 7.12%
CP Bester ** Non-Executive Director Direct 100 000 0.08% 100 000 0.08%
The Willis Family Trust * Non-Executive Director (R Willis) Indirect 50 000 0.04% 50 000 0.04%
GT Heyman ** Executive Director Direct 154 863 0.12% 129 022 0.10%
Maine-Anjou LLC 
(P Anania) ** Non-Executive Director Indirect 4 672 124 3.72% 4 970 344 3.96%
ES Muller ** Executive Director Direct 55 000 0.04% 0 0.00%

    45 000 128 35.86% 39 141 163 32.48%

* Non-Beneficial 

** Beneficial

A Appointed on 20 December 2019

B Resigned on 20 December 2019

Beneficial shareholders holding 5% or more 2020 2019

JP Morgan Chase Bank 
Case Nominees * Associated Holding (TADVEST) 30 815 237 24.56% – –
PSG Alpha Investments 
(Pty) Ltd  Associated Holding (PSG) – – 30 815 237 25.57%
Andries Petrus Cronje 
Fourie Trust * APC Fourie 18 204 879 14.51% 18 285 580 15.17%
THE MAS TRUST * JSV Joubert 12 000 000 9.56% 12 599 923 10.46%
Dr DC Nitch ** Founder investor 9 628 796 7.67% 9 721 631 8.07%
J Dresel ** Executive Director 8 962 812 7.14% 8 171 151 6.78%

   79 611 724 63.45% 79 593 522 66.05%

* Non-Beneficial 

** Beneficial

Shareholder Analysis (continued)
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  General Information

    Country of incorporation and domicile
    South Africa

    Nature of business and principal activities
    The Group is engaged in the manufacturing and selling of specialised broadband antennas as well as other related radio 
frequency products.

    Directors
    CP Bester*  @   (Chairperson)
    J Dresel  #   (CEO) 
    ES Müller  &   (Group Financial Director and CFO) 
    C  B   Neser  @  ̂
    RC Willis*  @   
    C van der Merwe*  @

    GT Heyman 
    P Anania  @

    *Independent    
    @   Non-executive 
    #German 
    ̂  Appointed on   20 December 2019
    & Appointed 1 July   2019

    Registered office
    1 Travertine Avenue
    N1 Business Park 
    Centurion
    0157

    Postal address
    Private Bag X4
    The Reeds
    Pretoria
    0061

    Bankers
    Standard Bank
    Nordea Bank
    Androscoggin Bank   

    Auditor
    KPMG Inc.

    Company secretary
    Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services

    Company registration number
    1997/011142/06

    Level of assurance
    These consolidated financial statements have been audited in compliance with Section 30 of the Companies Act 71 of 2008.

    Preparer
    The consolidated annual financial statements were prepared under the supervision of E  S   M  ü  ller,   Group     Financial Director 
and   CFO, CA(SA).

    Published
    30     September 20  20
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  Audit and Risk Committee Report

    The Audit and Risk Committee (the Committee)     has pleasure in submitting its report for the year ended 30 June 2020 
(FY2020) to shareholders as required in terms of section 94(7)(f) of the Companies Act No. 71 of 2008, as amended 
(the     Companies     Act). 

    Composition, meetings and committee assessment   
    The Committee comprised the following members for the   year   under review: 

•     R Willis (Independent Non-Executive Director) (Chairman)

•     P Anania (Independent Non-Executive Director) (Member) 

•     C van der Merwe (Independent Non-Executive Director) (Member) 

    During the   year   under review, the composition of the Committee was aligned to comply with the recommended practices 
of the King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa, 2016 (King IV), by replacing the Chairman of the Board, 
who     served as a member of the Committee, with another independent non-executive director. 

    Shareholders will be requested to  ,   in addition to Richard Willis and Carel van der Merwe, approve the election of 
Peter     Anania as members of the Committee to serve until the next Annual General Meeting (AGM).  

    All Committee members have adequate, relevant skills and experience to execute their duties and responsibilities 
effectively.  Members’ qualifications and the details of their attendance of   C  ommittee meetings are set out respectively 
on pages   28   –   29   and   34   of this integrated report.  In line with its Board-approved terms of reference, the Committee met 
four times during the year under review.  The Chief Financial Officer, representatives of the external auditors and   C  ompany 
  S  ecretary, attend Committee meetings by invitation.  During the year under review, the Committee met with the external 
auditors, without management being present.  There were no matters that required the Committee’s attention which arose 
from those meetings.   

    The Chairman of the Committee provides the Board with a report of the Committee’s activities after each Committee 
meeting.  

    The Committee, with the assistance of the Company Secretary, conducted a self-evaluation of the effectiveness of the 
Committee.  The Committee is satisfied that the overall outcome of the self-evaluation reflected that the Committee 
functions well and effectively discharges its duties.    

    The role and responsibilities of the   C  ommittee
    The Committee is an independent statutory committee appointed by the shareholders of the Company in terms of 
section 94 of the Companies Act.  

    The Committee does not assume management functions, which remain the responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer, 
the Finance Director and other members of management.

    The responsibilities of the Committee include, but are not limited to: 

•     Statutory duties in terms of the Companies Act 

•     Duties relating to compliance 

•     Duties relating to IT governance 

•     Duties relating to risk management and governance 

•     Duties relating to the external auditors 

•     Duties relating to internal controls and processes 

•     Duties relating to integrated reporting 

    Activities of the   C  ommittee
    The Committee is governed by a formal term of reference that is reviewed annually and updated where necessary.  
The     Committee has conducted its activities in compliance with its Terms of Reference and discharged its responsi  bilities in 
terms of the relevant provisions of the Companies Act. 

    The Committee considered the draft interim and annual financial reports prepared by executive management and 
recommended the adoption of these reports to the Board. 
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Audit and Risk Committee Report (continued)

Proactive monitoring
The Committee confirms that it has considered the final findings of the JSE’s thematic review for compliance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 9 and IFRS 15 issued during November 2019.  Where necessary, the 
Committee has taken appropriate action to respond to the findings in the JSE report whilst preparing the annual financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2020. 

Internal controls 
Systems of internal control are designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and to provide 
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against misstatement or loss.

The Committee has oversight of the Company’s financial statements and reporting processes, including the system of 
internal financial control.  

While the Board is responsible for the internal control systems and for reviewing their effectiveness, responsibility for their 
actual implementation and maintenance rests with executive management. The systems of internal control are based 
on established organisational structures, together with written policies and procedures, and provide for suitably qualified 
employees, segregation of duties, clearly defined lines of authority and accountability. They also include cost and 
budgeting controls, and comprehensive management reporting.

No material matter has come to the attention of the Committee or the Board that has caused the directors to believe that 
the Company’s system of internal controls and risk management is not effective and that the internal financial controls 
do not form a sound basis for the preparation of reliable financial statements.  The Committee will continue to assess 
the Company’s internal controls and implement any necessary measures to strengthen the internal controls within the 
Company. 

Internal audit 
The internal audit function is an integral part of the corporate governance regime. The primary goal of internal audit is to 
evaluate the Company’s risk management, internal control and corporate governance processes, and to ensure that they 
are adequate and functioning correctly.

The position of the Committee is that the internal audit function continues to be performed by the Group finance 
department. The Board as a whole also considers internal controls. While considering the information and explanations 
given by management, as well as discussions held with the external auditors on audit results, the Committee is of the opinion 
that the system of internal financial controls is effective and forms a basis for the preparation of reliable financial statements.

The Committee will continue to review the necessity of an internal audit function on an annual basis and take the necessary 
action should the need arise. 

Statutory reporting 
The Committee evaluated and reviewed the consolidated annual financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020, 
the accounting practices and the internal financial controls of the Company. The Committee stays abreast of current and 
emerging trends in accounting standards.

The Committee is satisfied that the consolidated annual financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 comply with 
IFRS and the Companies Act. 

The Committee has evaluated and reviewed the integrated report and annual financial statements for the year ended 
30 June 2020 and is satisfied that in all material respects, it complies with IFRS, the requirements of the Companies Act as 
well as the SAICA Financial Reporting Standards Council, and that the adoption of the going concern basis in preparing 
the annual financial statements is appropriate. The Committee is of the opinion that the audited financial statements 
should be accepted and read together with the report of the independent external auditor.  The Board approved the 
Group annual financial statements on 15 September 2020. 

The Committee did not receive any concerns or complaints, within or outside the Company, relating to the accounting 
practices of the Company, the content or auditing of the Company’s financial statements, the internal financial controls 
of the Company, or any related matter.

The annual financial statements will be open for discussion at the forthcoming AGM.  The Chairman of the Committee, 
and in his absence, the other members of the Committee, will attend the AGM to answer questions falling within the 
Committee’s mandate. 

The Committee’s activities, in support of the Board, for the year under review are summarised as follows: 

IT and risk governance
The Board considers risk management to be a key process in the responsible pursuit of strategic objectives and in the effective 
management of related material issues. Oversight of the Company’s Risk Management function and IT Governance has 
been assigned to the Committee.  

During the year under review, the Committee monitored the implementation of the Company’s risk policy and plan, 
as approved by the Board.  In addition, the Committee reviewed reports on the risk management process and assessed 
the Company’s exposure to various risks.  At year-end, the Board was satisfied with the status of the effectiveness of risk 
governance in the Company and the adequacy of mitigation plans for materials risks.   

The Committee reviewed the Company’s disaster recovery plans and identified certain areas which required 
strengthening to ensure that the Company is adequately protected against potential ransomware attacks.  
The Committee will continue to monitor the effectiveness of the disaster recovery plans during the ensuing period.

The outbreak of the global Covid-19 pandemic and the implementation of the national lockdown during March 2020, 
which necessitated employees to work remotely for a period of time, increased the need for remote access to the 
Company’s computer network. A number of security measures and protocols, such as access through a dedicated Virtual 
Private Network (VPN), were introduced to ensure the integrity of the Company’s data remained intact. 

External auditors 
KPMG Inc. is afforded unrestricted access to the Company’s records and management, and presents any significant issues 
arising from the annual external audit to the Committee. In addition, Terrence Cheadle, the designated audit partner, 
where necessary, raises matters of concern directly with the Chairman of the Committee.

The Committee considered the independence of the external auditors and was satisfied that the external auditor was 
independent, as set out in section 94(8) of the Companies Act, which consideration includes compliance with criteria 
relating to independence or conflicts of interest as prescribed by the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors (IRBA). 
The requisite assurance was provided by the external auditor to support and demonstrate its claim to independence.

During the year under review, the Committee continued to monitor any new developments which might impact the 
sustainability of KPMG, following the outcome of IRBA’s investigation.  The Committee also noted the remedial steps 
committed to by KPMG Inc. and was satisfied that there were no negative developments in this regard. 

The Committee has nominated, for approval at the AGM, KPMG Inc. as the external auditor for the 2021 financial year, 
with Terrence Cheadle as the designated audit partner, having satisfied itself (as required by paragraph 22.15(h) of the 
JSE Listings Requirements) that:

• the audit firm is accredited by the JSE and IRB;

• the relevant designated auditor holds the requisite certification and registrations; and 

• the quality of the external audit is satisfactory (after referencing the most recent inspection reports issued by IRBA in 
respect of both the audit firm and the designated audit partner).

The Committee has determined the suitability of the fees to be paid to KPMG Inc., as well as their terms of engagement.

Non-audit services
In terms of the Company’s policy on non-audit services, the Committee determines the nature and extent of any non-audit 
services that the external auditor may provide to the Company. The non-audit related services provided by the KPMG 
Tax division during the period under review related to the Research and Development Section 11D application to the 
Department of Trade and Industry for tax incentives for research and development.

Finance function: expertise and experience of the finance director
As required in terms of paragraph 3.84(h) of the JSE Listings Requirements, the Committee considered the expertise and 
experience of the Group Financial Officer and Finance Director, Elsie Müller, and was satisfied with same.  

The Committee is satisfied with the overall expertise, skills and experience and adequacy of resources in the finance 
function, as well as the experience of the senior members of management responsible for it. The Committee is satisfied that 
the internal financial controls and procedures of the Company are operating effectively.  The Committee confirms that 
operating effectiveness was considered by all group companies and the Committee had access to all information and 
reports to ensure its responsibility to adequately determine that the operating effectiveness of group financial reporting 
controls and procedures were executed.  

Audit and Risk Committee Report (continued)
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Directors’ Report

The directors submit their report on the consolidated annual financial statements of Alaris Holdings Limited and its 
subsidiaries for the year ended 30 June 2020.

1. Incorporation
The Company was incorporated on 11 July 1997 and obtained its certificate to commence business on the same day.

2. Nature of business and principal activities
The Group designs and manufactures specialised antennas and other related radio frequency (RF) products.

3. Review of financial results and activities
The consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee 
and Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, the requirements 
of the Companies Act of South Africa and the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (“JSE Listings Requirements”). 
The accounting policies have been applied consistently compared to the prior year except where new Standards 
were adopted.

Full details of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Group are set out in these consolidated 
financial statements. The operating results and state of affairs of the Group are fully set out and, in our opinion, 
do not require any further comment.

4. Share capital

  2020 2019 2020 2019

  R’000 R’000 Number of shares

Issued shares – ordinary shares issued 6 6 125 475 074 125 475 074

Refer to Note 13 of the consolidated financial statements for detail of the movement in authorised and issued 
ordinary share capital. 

5. Dividends
The Company’s dividend policy is to consider an interim and a final dividend in respect of each financial year. At its 
discretion, the Board may consider a special dividend, where appropriate. Depending on the perceived need to 
retain funds for expansion or operating purposes, the Board may decide not to declare dividends.

The Group’s dividend policy is to declare a dividend equal to 40% – 50% of free cash flow less discretionary capital 
spend. Free cashflow will be adjusted for the expected COVID-19 effect on the Group. Discretionary capital spend 
includes cash earmarked for acquisitions (where is it probable that the closing will occur within three months as well 
as share buy-backs and innovation project funding. 

The growth strategy approved by the Board centres around acquisitions and or mergers. A number of targets have 
and are being explored but closing takes time.  The nature of the sellers of these targets are typically individual 
founders of the respective businesses making the selling process drawn out and, in some cases, complicated.  The 
Board believes that it would be more appropriate for the Group to conserve cash to ensure that the Group is best 
placed to implement its acquisitive growth strategy. Therefore, the Board has resolved not to declare a dividend for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: R0).

6. Directorate
The directors of the Company during the year and in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Directors Office Designation Changes

CP Bester Chairperson Independent non-executive  
RC Willis Independent Non-executive  
C van der Merwe Independent Non-executive  
A Mellet Non-independent Non-executive Resigned 20 December 2019
CB Neser Non-independent Non-executive Appointed 20 December 2019
P Anania Independent Non-executive  
J Dresel (German) Group CEO Executive  
GT Heyman  Executive  
ES Müller Group Financial Director and CFO Executive Appointed 1 July 2019

Compliance
The Committee is responsible for reviewing any major breach of relevant legal and regulatory requirements. The Committee 
is satisfied that there has been no material non-compliance with laws and regulations during the current reporting year. 

Going concern 
The Committee reviewed a documented assessment by management of the Company’s going concern premise, before 
recommending to the Board that the Company is a going concern and will remain so for the foreseeable future.  The Board’s 
statement on the going concern premise, as supported by the Committee, is contained in the directors’ responsibility 
statement on page 61. 

COVID-19 global pandemic 
The Committee is satisfied with the measures and protocols implemented by management to reduce and mitigate the 
Company’s risks and exposure to the effect and impact of COVID-19.  In the ensuing financial year, the Committee will 
continue to monitor any developments around the Coronavirus and its impact on the Company, to ensure that the 
protocols and measures remain adequate and relevant.  

Conclusion 
The Committee is satisfied that it conducted its affairs in compliance with and discharged its responsibilities in terms of its 
Terms of Reference for the year ended 30 June 2020.   

R Willis 
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee 

30 September 2020

Audit and Risk Committee Report (continued)
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Directors’ Report (continued)

13. Director’s responsibility statement
The directors accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given and certify that, to the best of 
their knowledge and belief, there are no facts that have been omitted which would make any statement false or 
misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made, and that this statement 
contains all information required by law and the Listing Requirements of the JSE Limited.

The directors acknowledge that their responsibility includes:

• ensuring that internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements that 
are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error, are appropriately designed, implemented 
and maintained;

• preparation and fair presentation of the annual financial statements, comprising the statement of financial 
position at 30 June 2020, and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in 
equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements which include a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa;

• selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and

• making accounting estimates that are reasonable under the circumstances.

The directors’ responsibility also includes ensuring that adequate accounting records and an effective system of 
risk management is maintained.

14. Approval of consolidated annual financial statements
The consolidated annual financial statements of Alaris Holdings Limited for the year ended 30 June 2020 were 
approved by the Board on 30 September 2020 and signed by: 

J Dresel ES Müller
Chief Executive Officer Group CFO and Financial Director

Certificate by Company Secretary

In our capacity as Company Secretary, we hereby confirm, in terms of Section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 
No.   71 of 2008), as amended (“the Act”), that for the year ended 30 June 2020, the Company has lodged with the 
Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all such returns as are required of a company in terms of the Companies 
Act and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date. 

Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services
Company secretary

30 September 2020

7. Interests in subsidiaries and trusts

  2020 2019

Name of subsidiary/trust % %

Alaris Holdings Limited Share Incentive Trust 100 100
Alaris Antennas Proprietary Limited 100 100
Alaris Investment Holdings UK Limited* 100 100
COJOT Oy* 100 100
mWAVE Industries LLC* 100 100
Alaris US Inc. (dormant)* 100 100

* Foreign subsidiary

8. Borrowing powers
In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company, the borrowing powers of the Company are unlimited 
and the directors may exercise all powers to borrow money as they consider appropriate. However, all borrowings 
by the Group are subject to Board approval as required by the Board delegation of authority.

9. Events after the reporting period
The directors are not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of 
this report.

10. Going concern
The outbreak of the global Covid-19 pandemic and the implementation of the national lockdown during March 
2020 resulted in certain operations within the Group not being able to operate for three weeks and have created 
delays in the Group’s production process as well as certain delays in the sales process. The Group primarily sells to 
companies in Europe, Asia and North America where most of these businesses are classified as essential service 
providers in the respective countries and have therefore seen limited impact from national lockdowns imposed by 
their governments. This places the Group in a favourable position as most of its goods are being exported to essential 
businesses overseas and the Group is not reliant on a South African customer base to sustain operations during the 
lockdown. Although the South Africa subsidiary experienced some delay towards the end of the financial year 
to complete certain projects, the subsidiary could deliver the goods in the new financial year. The Group had an 
acceptable open order book at the start of the new financial year. 

The Group has generated a net profit for the year ended June 2020 of R31 million and as at 30 June 2020, the Group 
has a cash and cash equivalents of R110 million. The current assets exceeded current liabilities by R140 million.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 have been prepared on the basis of 
accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future 
operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments 
will occur in the ordinary course of business.

11. Auditors
KPMG Inc. continued in office as auditors of the Group for 2020 in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies 
Act of South Africa.

12. Company secretary
The secretary of the Company is Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services.

Postal address: PO Box 68528, Highveld, 0169

Business address: Southdowns Office Park Block C Unit 7 Karee Street Irene Centurion, Pretoria

The Company has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all such returns as are required 
of a public company in terms of the Companies Act and such returns are true, correct and up to date.

Directors’ Report (continued)
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We followed a combined controls and substantive approach.

In addressing the key audit matter, as part of our audit procedures we:

• Understood the revenue recognition process in respect of 
these delayed sales transactions to ensure revenue recognised 
in compliance with IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers, both from a timing of revenue recognition and the 
measurement thereof.

• Assessed the adequacy of the design and implementation of 
identified controls over the revenue process

• Assessed whether sales transactions were supported by the 
relevant delivery documentation to ensure performance 
obligations are met and control is transferred to customers, prior 
to the sale being recognised; and

• Performed extended procedures over sales transactions occurring 
around financial year end to assess whether revenue has been 
recognised in the correct accounting period.

The outbreak of the global Covid-19 pandemic 
and the implementation of the national 
lockdown has created some delay towards 
the end of the group’s financial year in the 
completion of certain orders and the delivery 
of certain goods.

This delay created specific challenges in the 
determination of when control was transferred 
in respect of a product or service and the point 
in time in which the performance obligation 
was met and consequently the recognition of 
revenue on these delayed orders.

Given the additional factors resulting from the 
national lockdown, the appropriate recognition 
of revenue at year end was considered a key 
audit matter.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
document titled “Alaris Holdings Limited Integrated Annual Report 2020” and in the document titled “Alaris Holdings Limited 
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2020”, which includes the Audit and Risk Committee 
Report, the Directors’ Report and the Certificate by Company Secretary as required by the Companies Act of South Africa. 
The other information does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit 
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements 
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

Revenue recognition

Refer to accounting policy 1.14 and notes 19 and 31 to the consolidated financial statements

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

As required by IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets, 
the directors conduct annual impairment 
assessments to test the recoverability of the 
carrying amount of goodwill.

Impairment assessments of goodwill are 
performed using a discounted cash flow model. 
As disclosed in note 6, there are a number of key 
judgements made in determining the inputs into 
the discounted cash flow model which included:

• forecast profits;

• the discount rates applied to the projected 
future cash flows; and

• terminal growth rates.

Given the significance of goodwill to the 
consolidated financial statements and the 
judgements involved in determining the key 
assumptions used in the discounted cash 
flow model, this was considered to be a key 
audit matter.

We focused our testing on the directors’ annual assessment of the 
impairment of goodwill and the key assumptions applied.

In addressing the key audit matter, as part of our audit procedures we:

• Critically evaluated whether the discounted cash flow model 
used by the directors to calculate the value in use of each 
cash-generating unit complies with the requirements of IAS 36.

• Challenged the assumptions used by the directors in their value in 
use calculations by:
 – assessing the reasonableness of assumptions relating to profit 

growth in relation to our knowledge of the group and the 
industries in which it operates;

 – assessing the reasonableness of the terminal growth rates in 
relation to external market data; and

 – assessing the reasonableness of the discount rates applied by 
independently calculating the rates and comparing the rates 
to those used by management.

• Evaluated the future projected cash flows for each cash-generating 
unit to determine whether they are reasonable and supportable 
given the current macro-economic climate and expected future 
performance of each cash-generating unit.

• Compared the projected cash flows, including assumptions 
relating to profit growth and terminal growth rates, against historical 
performance to test the accuracy of the directors’ projections.

• Performed sensitivity analyses on key assumptions to assess the 
impact on the value-in-use calculations; and

• Evaluated the adequacy of the disclosures made by the directors 
in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
IAS 36.

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the shareholders of Alaris Holdings Limited

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Alaris Holdings Limited (the group) set out on pages 65 to 109, 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position at 30 June 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, and accounting policies and notes to the consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of Alaris Holdings Limited at 30 June 2020, and its consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the 
Companies Act of South Africa.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the group in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ 
Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence requirements applicable to 
performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. 
The IRBA Code is consistent with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards). We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

Refer to accounting policy 1.1, 1.10 and Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
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  Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
    at 30 June 2020

 R’000  Note  2020  2019 

 Assets          
 Non-Current Assets          
 Plant and equipment  4  9 376  7 242 
 Right-of-use-asset  5  13 250    
 Goodwill  6  50 289  42 034 
 Intangible assets  7  14 559  15 945 
 Deferred tax assets  8  12 850  11 229 

       100 324  76 450 

 Current Assets          
 Inventories  10  30 681  19 080 
 Trade and other receivables  11  40 689  80 935 
 Tax receivable     1 426   94 
 Cash and cash equivalents  12  110 268  41 836 

       183 064  141 945 

 Total Assets     283 388  218 395 

            
 Equity and Liabilities          
 Equity          
 Equity attributable to owners of the Company          
 Share capital  13   6   6 
 Share premium  13  205 250  207 283 
 Share-based payment reserve  14  17 350  9 941 
 Foreign currency translation reserve     17 899  (2 121) 
 Accumulated loss     (19 395)  (49 927) 

 Total equity      221 110  165 182 

 Liabilities          
 Non-Current Liabilities          
 Loans and borrowings  15  3 456  1 266 
 Lease liabilities  16  10 066  – 
 Deferred tax liabilities  8  5 342  2 475 

       18 864  3 741 

 Current Liabilities          
 Loans and borrowings  15  2 732   588 
 Lease liabilities  16  3 730  – 
 Trade and other payables  17  35 531  43 617 
 Tax payable     1 421  5 267 

       43 414  49 472 

 Total Liabilities     62 278  53 213 
 Total Equity and Liabilities     283 388  218 395 

  

Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

    As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.    

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s 
internal control.    

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.    

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the group to cease to continue 
as a going concern.    

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.    

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.    

    We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.    

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication    .

    Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that KPMG 
Inc. has been the auditor of Alaris Holdings Limited for 14 years.    

    KPMG Inc.
    Registered Auditor

    Per T Cheadle
    Chartered Accountant (SA)
    Registered Auditor
    Director

    30   September 2020

    KPMG Crescent
    85     Empire     Road
    Parktown
    Johannesburg
    2193
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2020

R’000 Note
Share 

capital
Share 

premium

Share-
based 

payment 
reserve

Accumu-
lated loss 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Total 
Equity

Balance at  6 202 051 7 428 (91 008) (2 149) 116 328
30 June 2018        

Total comprehensive income for 
the year:  – – – 41 081 28 41 109

– Profit for the year  – – – 41 081 – 41 081
– Foreign currency translation reserve  – – – – 28 28

Share-based payment – option charge 14 – – 2 808 – – 2 808
Share-options exercised on net basis 14 – 112 (295) – – (183)
mWAVE acquisition settled in shares 28 * 8 113 – – – 8 113
Movement in treasury shares  * (2 993) – – – (2 993)

Balance at 30 June 2019  6 207 283 9 941 (49 927) (2 121) 165 182
Adjustment from the adoption of IFRS 16  – – – (453) – (453)

Adjusted balance at 30 June 2019  6 207 283 9 941 (50 380) (2 121) 164 729

Total comprehensive income for 
the year:  – – – 30 985 20 020 51 005

– Profit for the year  – – – 30 985 – 30 985
– Foreign currency translation reserve  – – – – 20 020 20 020

Share-based payment – option charge 14 – – 7 498 – – 7 498
Share-options exercised on net basis 14 – (169) (89) – – (258)
Movement in treasury shares  * (1 864) – – – (1 864)

Balance at 30 June 2020  6 205 250 17 350 (19 395) 17 899 221 110

* Nominal amount – amount smaller than R1 000.

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 30 June 2020

R’000 Note 2020 2019

Revenue 19 242 753 245 184
Cost of sales  (79 876) (77 871)

Gross profit  162 877 167 313
Other income  1 689 1 111
Operating expenses  (125 031) (114 299)

Trading operating profit 20 39 535 54 125
Finance income 21 1 802  430
Finance costs 22 (558) ( 174)

Profit before taxation  40 779 54 381
Taxation 23 (9 794) (13 300)

Profit for the year  30 985 41 081
Other comprehensive income:    
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:    
Foreign currency translation reserve  20 020  28

Gross amount  23 738 (50)
Taxation  (3 718)  78

Total comprehensive income  51 005 41 109

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue  119 734 262 119 810 497
Weighted average number of diluted ordinary shares in issue  122 618 380 122 068 163
Basic earnings per ordinary share (cents) 24 25.88 34.29
Diluted basic earnings per ordinary share (cents) 24 25.27 33.65
Headline earnings per ordinary share (cents) 24 25.89 34.29
Diluted headline earnings per ordinary share (cents) 24 25.28 33.65
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Accounting Policies

1. Presentation of consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and 
Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, the requirements of 
the Companies Act of South Africa and the Listing Requirements of the JSE Limited. The financial statements have 
been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the measurement of certain financial instruments at fair value 
and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below.

The financial statements of the Company are presented separately from the consolidated financial statements and 
have been approved at the same date as the consolidated financial statements by the directors. The separate 
company financial statements are available on request at the registered office of the Company. 

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period, except for new standards and interpretations, 
effective and adopted in the current year as presented in Note 2.1.

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board on 15 September 2020.

Reporting entity

Alaris Holdings Limited (“the Company”) is a company domiciled in South Africa. The address of the Company’s 
registered office is 1 Travertine Avenue, N1 Business Park, Centurion, 0157. The consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended 30 June 2020 comprise the Company and all its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group” 
and individually as “Group entities”).

All information has been presented in South African Rand which is the Group’s presentation and functional currency. 
Amounts have been rounded to the nearest R1 000.

1.1 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which estimates are revised 
and in any future periods affected.

The accounting policies which have been identified as including assumptions and estimation uncertainties 
that may have an impact on the future results are as follows:

Fair value estimation

The gross carrying value less impairment allowance of trade receivables and payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by 
discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the 
Group for similar financial instruments.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The estimates and assumptions made by management in applying accounting policies, that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, are outlined as follows:

Impairment of non-financial assets

An asset is impaired when its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Goodwill and intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually while other assets are tested if there is 
an indication that they may be impaired. The assessment of recoverable amounts involves assumptions and 
estimates relating to the calculation of value-in-use, which is based on cash flow projections, variations in 
the amount and timing of these cash flows and the discount rate used to determine the present value of 
those future cash flows.

These are assessed for each cash-generating unit to which goodwill is attributed or for the cash-generating 
unit or asset where indicators of impairment have been assessed. See Note 6 for significant assumptions on 
value-in-use for goodwill.

Taxation

The Company recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that 
it is probable that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the 
recoverability of deferred income tax assets requires the Group to make significant estimates related to 
expectations of future taxable income. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows 
from operations and the application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 30 June 2020

R’000 Note 2020 2019*

Cash flows from operating activities    
Cash generated from operations 26 90 000 33 003
Finance income 21 1 802 387
Finance cost 22 (200) (174)
Tax paid 27 (16 637) (7 284)

Net cash flow from operating activities  74 965 25 932

Cash flows from investing activities    
Additions to plant and equipment 4 (4 423) (2 385)
Proceeds on disposal of plant and equipment  – 20
Additions to intangible assets 7 (1 770) (218)
Acquisition of a subsidiary 28 – (30 151)

Net cash flow used in investing activities  (6 193) (32 734)

Cash flows from financing activities    
Increase in loans and borrowings  4 334 178
Net increase in treasury shares – Share Incentive Scheme*  (2 122) (3 178)
Payment of lease liabilities  (2 657) –

Net cash flow used in financing activities  (445) (3 000)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents for the year  68 327 (9 802)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  41 836 51 679
Effect of exchange rate movement on cash balances  105 (41)

Total cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 12 110 268 41 836

* In the prior year, the net increase in treasury shares was classified under investing activities. After the release of the 2019 financial 
statements, it came to management's attention that the correct classification of the investment in holding company is under financing 
activities. In the current year, the classification was corrected, and the prior year classification was restated. 
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1.3 Plant and equipment
Cost of plant and equipment

Items of plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. The cost of an item of plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group; and

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of plant and equipment and costs 
incurred subsequently to add or replace a part of it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying 
amount of an item of plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with 
the expenditure will flow to the entity.

Costs include expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed 
assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, and any other costs directly attributable to bringing 
the assets to a working condition for their intended use. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality 
of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

Day-to-day expenses incurred on plant and equipment are expensed directly in profit or loss for the period. 

Depreciation of plant and equipment

Items of plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis over their expected useful lives to 
their estimated residual value. 

These following useful lives have been applied in the current and prior periods.

Item
Average useful 

life

Plant and machinery 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 10 years
Motor vehicles 4 years
Office equipment 5 years
IT equipment 5 years
Computer software 5 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years
Production tooling 5 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period. In the case where the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted 
for as a change in accounting estimate. 

Each part of an item of plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the 
item is depreciated separately.

The depreciation for each period is recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation commences when an asset is available for use. Depreciation is charged so as to write off 
the depreciable amount of items to their residual values, over the estimated useful lives using a method 
that reflects the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefit is expected to be consumed by the 
Group. Depreciation ceases at the earlier of the date the asset is classified as held for sale or the date it is 
derecognised. 

Derecognition of plant and equipment

Derecognition occurs when an item of plant and equipment is disposed of, or when it is no longer expected 
to generate any further economic benefits.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of plant and equipment is included in profit or 
loss when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of plant and 
equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying 
amount of the item.

When a decision is made by the directors that an item of property, plant and equipment will be disposed 
of, and the requirements of IFRS 5 non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations are met, 
then those specific assets will be presented separately in the statement of financial position. The assets 
are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, and depreciation on such 
asset’s ceases.

flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the Company to realise the net 
deferred tax assets recorded at the end of the reporting period could be impacted.

Lease term

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic 
incentive to exercise an extension option or not exercise a termination option. Extension options are only 
included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended. 

The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects 
this assessment and that is within the control of the lessee. During the current financial year, the financial 
effect of revising lease terms to reflect the effect of exercising extension was an increase in recognised lease 
liabilities and right-of-use assets of R5.7 million.

1.2 Basis of consolidation
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting. The cost of the 
business combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values of assets acquired, liabilities incurred 
or assumed and equity instruments issued. Costs directly attributable to the business combination are 
expensed as incurred, except the costs to issue debt which are amortised as part of the effective interest 
and costs to issue equity which are included in equity.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities which meet the recognition conditions 
of IFRS 3 Business Combinations are recognised at their fair values at acquisition date, except for non-current 
assets (or disposal group) that are classified as held-for-sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current assets 
held-for-sale and discontinued operations, which are recognised at fair value less costs to sell.

Contingent liabilities are only included in the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree where there is 
a present obligation at acquisition date.

On acquisition, the Group assesses the classification of the acquiree’s assets and liabilities and reclassifies 
them where the classification is inappropriate for Group purposes. This excludes lease agreements, whose 
classification remains as per their inception date except if a standard changes subsequently, then the 
classification of lease agreements will also change according to the standard.  

Goodwill is not amortised but is assessed for impairment on an annual basis. 

Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed 
as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities.

Business combinations

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group 
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on 
which control is transferred to the Group. Subsidiaries are consolidated until the date that control over the 
subsidiary ceases. 

On acquisition of an entity which is controlled by the Group, the Group recognises the subsidiary’s identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at fair value, except for assets classified as held-for-sale, which are 
recognised at fair value less costs to sell. 

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit 
or loss on disposal. 

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between group 
companies are eliminated. 

When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform to the Group’s 
accounting policies.

Foreign operations

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially such that control, significant influence or 
joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the foreign currency translation reserve related to that foreign 
operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. If the Group disposes of part 
of its interest in a subsidiary but retains control, then the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is 
reattributed to non-controlling interest. 

Net investment in foreign subsidiaries

Loans receivable from a foreign subsidiary for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the 
foreseeable future form part of the Company’s net investment in that foreign subsidiary.
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They have been classified in this manner because their contractual terms give rise, on specified dates 
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and the 
Group's business model is to collect the contractual cash flows on trade and other receivables.

Recognition and measurement

Trade and other receivables are recognised when the Group sells a product or service to a 
customer. They are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the receivable initially, minus principal repayments, 
plus cumulative interest using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial 
amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.

When trade and other receivables are denominated in a foreign currency, the carrying amount of 
the receivables are determined in the foreign currency. The carrying amount is then translated to 
the Rand equivalent using the spot rate at the end of each reporting period.  Any resulting foreign 
exchange gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss in other operating gains (losses) (Note 20).

Details of foreign currency risk exposure and the management thereof are provided in Note 11.

Application of the effective interest method

For receivables which contain a significant financing component, interest income is calculated using 
the effective interest method, and is included in profit or loss in finance income (Note 21).

Impairment

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables, 
excluding VAT, deposits and prepayments. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each 
reporting date.

The Group applies the simplified approach and measures the loss allowance for trade and other 
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses (lifetime ECL), which represents 
the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of 
the receivable.

Measurement and recognition of expected losses 

The Group uses the simplified approach of a provision matrix as a practical expedient to the 
determination of expected credit losses on trade and other receivables. The provision matrix is based 
on at least 24 full months (2019: 18 months) of historic credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that 
are specific to the debtors, the payment method for the customer and an assessment of both the 
current and forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including the time value of money. 
If the customer pays via a letter of credit, the percentage used will be reduced as the certainty will 
be higher to receive the money from the bank. 

The customer base is widespread and does not show significantly different loss patterns for different 
customer segments. The loss allowance is calculated on a collective basis for all trade and other 
receivables in totality. 

An impairment gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying 
amount of trade and other receivables, through use of a loss allowance account.  The impairment 
loss is included in other operating expenses in profit or loss as a movement in credit loss allowance.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a receivable when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in 
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty 
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Receivables written 
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the company recovery procedures, taking 
into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Credit risk

Details of credit risk are included in the trade and other receivables note (Note 11) and the financial 
instruments and risk management note (Note 30).

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 
financial position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends 
to either settle them on a net basis or to realise the assets and settle the liability simultaneously.

1.4 Intangible assets
An intangible asset is recognised when all of the following are met:

• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to 
the entity; and

• the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

Intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation or impairment.

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised as an expense when 
it is incurred.

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is 
recognised when all the following are met:

• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale; 

• there is an intention to complete and use or sell it;

• there is an ability to use or sell it;

• it will generate probable future economic benefits from more than one customer;

• no customisation fee was received for developing a new product based on another product in the Group;

• there are technical, financial and other resources available in order to complete the development and 
to use or sell the asset; and

• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably. 

The intangible assets consist of the customer relationships, patents and development expenditure incurred 
for models, designs and prototypes that are considered to possess the ability to ensure a future economic 
benefit, on a long-term basis in the future. This development expenditure could be measured reliably.

Development costs, mainly consisting of staff remuneration, are capitalised as incurred. Amortisation of 
intangible assets commences once the project is finished and the product has shipped to the customer.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset is reviewed at each 
reporting date.

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis for both the current and comparative year, 
as follows:

Item
Average useful 

life

Models, designs and prototypes 5 years
Customer relationships – COJOT 7 years
Customer relationships – MWAVE 5 years

The amortisation charge is included under operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.

1.5 Financial instruments 
Financial instruments held by the Group are classified in accordance with the provisions of 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

Financial assets which are debt instruments are measured at amortised cost. 

Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost.

Note 30 Financial instruments and risk management presents the financial instruments held by the Group 
based on their specific classifications.

The specific accounting policies for the classification, recognition and measurement of each type of 
financial instrument held by the Group are presented below: 

1.5.1  Trade and other receivables

Classification

Trade and other receivables, excluding, VAT, deposits and prepayments, are classified as financial 
assets subsequently measured at amortised cost (Note 11).
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retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group 
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the 
proceeds received.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets 
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Reclassification

Financial assets

The Group only reclassifies affected financial assets if there is a change in the business model for 
managing financial assets. If a reclassification is necessary, it is applied prospectively from the 
reclassification date. Any previously stated gains, losses or interest are not restated.

The reclassification date is the beginning of the first reporting period following the change in business 
model which necessitates a reclassification.

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are not reclassified.

1.6 Tax
Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount 
already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess 
is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
paid to (recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not 
recognised for:

• temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

• temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable that they will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future; and 

• taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when 
they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to 
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Dividend withholding tax

Dividends withholding tax is a tax on shareholders receiving dividends and is applicable to all 
dividends declared.

The Group withholds dividends tax on behalf of its shareholders at a rate of 20% on dividends declared. 
Amounts withheld are not recognised as part of the Group’s tax charge but rather as part of the dividend 
paid recognised directly in equity.

Where withholding tax is withheld on dividends received, the dividend is recognised at the gross amount 
with the related withholdings tax recognised as part of tax expense unless it is otherwise reimbursable in 
which case it is recognised as an asset.

Tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the 
period, except to the extent that the tax arises, from a transaction or event, which is recognised in the same 
or a different period, in other comprehensive income or equity.

1.5.2  Loans and borrowings

Classification

Loans and borrowings (Note 15) is classified as financial liabilities subsequently measured at 
amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

Loans and borrowings are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the loan. The loans are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and 
of allocating the interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that 
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the 
amortised cost of a financial liability.

Interest expense, calculated on the effective interest method, is included in profit or loss in finance 
costs (Note 22). 

Loans and borrowings expose the Group to liquidity risk and interest rate risk. Refer to Note 30 for 
details of risk exposure and management thereof.

1.5.3  Trade and other payables

Classification

Trade and other payables (Note 17), excluding VAT, payroll accruals, operating lease liability, deferred 
revenue, product warranty provision and amounts received in advance, are classified as financial 
liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

Trade and other payables are recognised when the Group purchases a product or service.

At initial recognition trade and other payables are recorded at fair value. They are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

If trade and other payables contain a significant financing component, and the effective interest 
method results in the recognition of an interest expense, then it is included in profit or loss in 
finance costs.

Trade and other payables expose the Group to liquidity risk and possibly to interest rate risk.  Refer to 
Note 30 for details of risk exposure and management thereof. 

When trade payables are denominated in a foreign currency, the carrying amount of the payables 
are determined in the foreign currency. The carrying amount is then translated to the Rand equivalent 
using the spot rate at the end of each reporting period.  Any resulting foreign exchange gains or 
losses are recognised in profit or loss in the other operating gains (losses) (Note 20).

Details of foreign currency risk exposure and the management thereof are provided in the Note 30.

1.5.4  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Cash and cash equivalents 
are measured at amortised cost which approximates their fair value.

Bank overdrafts

Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash 
management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the 
statement of cash flows. Bank overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Derecognition

Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its 
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group 
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Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line item on the Statement of Financial Position.

Right-of-use assets comprise the following:

• the initial amount of the corresponding lease liability; 

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date;

• any initial direct costs incurred;

• any estimated costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the 
site on which it is located, when the Group incurs an obligation to do so, unless these costs are incurred 
to produce inventories; and

• less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset.

For right-of-use assets which are depreciated over their useful lives, the useful lives are determined consistently 
with items of the same class of plant and equipment. Refer to the accounting policy for plant and equipment 
for details of useful lives.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset is reviewed at the end of each 
reporting year. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively 
as a change in accounting estimate. Each part of a right-of-use asset with a cost that is significant in relation 
to the total cost of the asset is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying 
amount of another asset.

1.8 Leases: Comparatives under IAS 17 (Policy applicable prior to 1 July 2019)
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership.

Finance leases – lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair 
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding 
liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the interest rate 
implicit in the lease.

The lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. 
The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic 
rate on the remaining balance of the liability.

Operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
The difference between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are 
recognised as an operating lease liability. 

Any contingent lease payments are expensed in the period they are incurred.

1.9 Inventories 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs 
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in 
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

The cost of inventories of items that are not ordinarily interchangeable and goods or services produced and 
segregated for specific projects is assigned by using specific identification of the individual costs.

The cost of inventories is assigned using the weighted average cost formula. The same cost formula is used 
for all inventories having a similar nature and use to the Group.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates 
to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are 
credited or charged, in the same or a different period, directly in equity. 

1.7 Leases (Policy applicable from 1 July 2019)
The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore the comparative 
information has not been restated and continues to be reported under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. 

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains a lease, at the inception of the contract. 

A contract is, or contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for 
a period of time in exchange for consideration.

In order to assess whether a contract is, or contains a lease, management determine whether the asset 
under consideration is "identified", which means that the asset is either explicitly or implicitly specified in the 
contract and that the supplier does not have a substantial right of substitution throughout the period of use. 
Once management has concluded that the contract deals with an identified asset, the right to control the 
use thereof is considered. To this end, control over the use of an identified asset only exists when the Group 
has the right to substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset as well as the right to direct 
the use of the asset.

In circumstances where the determination of whether the contract is or contains a lease requires significant 
judgement, the relevant disclosures are provided in the significant judgements and sources of estimation 
uncertainty section of these accounting policies. 

Company as lessee

A lease liability and corresponding right-of-use asset are recognised at the lease commencement date, for 
all lease agreements for which the Group is a lessee, except for short-term leases of 12 months or less, or leases 
of low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the 
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 

The various lease and non-lease components of contracts containing leases are accounted for separately, 
with consideration being allocated to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone prices 
of the lease components and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components (where non 
lease components exist).

Details of leasing arrangements where the Group is a lessee are presented in Note 16 Lease Liabilities.

Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

• Fixed lease payments, including in substance fixed payments, less any lease incentives; and

• Lease payments in an optional renewal period if the company is reasonably certain to exercise an 
extension option.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line item on the Statement of Financial Position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease 
liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect lease payments 
made. Interest charged on the lease liability is included in finance costs (Note 22).

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use 
asset) when:

• there has been a change to the lease term, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting 
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate; and

• there has been a change in the assessment of whether the Group will exercise an extension option, in 
which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised 
discount rate.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use 
asset has been reduced to zero.
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reserve – is recognised if the goods or services were received in an equity-settled share-based payment 
transaction. 

When the goods or services received or acquired in a share-based payment transaction do not qualify for 
recognition as assets, they are recognised as expenses.

For equity-settled share-based payment transactions the goods or services received and the corresponding 
increase in equity are measured, directly, at the fair value of the goods or services received provided that 
the fair value can be estimated reliably.

If the fair value of the goods or services received cannot be estimated reliably, or if the services received 
are employee services, their value and the corresponding increase in equity, are measured, indirectly, by 
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted.

Vesting conditions which are not market related (i.e. service conditions and non-market-related 
performance conditions) are not taken into consideration when determining the fair value of the equity 
instruments granted. Non-market related vesting conditions are taken into account by adjusting the number 
of equity instruments included in the measurement of the transaction amount so that, ultimately, the amount 
recognised for goods or services received as consideration for the equity instruments granted are based on 
the number of equity instruments that eventually vest. 

If the share-based payments granted do not vest until the counterparty completes a specified period of 
service, the Group accounts for those services as they are rendered by the counterparty during the vesting 
period, (or on a straight-line basis over the vesting period).

If the share-based payments vest immediately the services received are recognised in full.

In circumstances where the Group is involved in a share-based payment transaction among Group entities, 
the following is applied in the entity’s financial statements:

• Where the Company is the recipient of the goods or services, the transaction is measured as an equity 
settled share-based payment transaction only if the awards are granted in its own equity instruments or if 
the entity has no obligation to settle the transaction. 

• Where the Company settles the share-based payment transaction and another entity in the Company 
receives the goods or services, the entity recognises the transaction as an equity-settled share-based 
payment transaction only if it is settled in the entity’s own equity instruments. 

Currently the Group only has equity settled share-based payment transactions. 

1.12 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such 
as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care) are 
recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services 
that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of profit-sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal 
or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

Defined contribution plans

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is provided. 
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future 
payments is available.

1.13 Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:

• the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation; and

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

Product warranties

The Group warrants certain repairs on its products for a 12-month period. These warranties are provided for 
when the initial project is completed. Warranty repairs during the warranty period are monitored and written 
back against the provision when incurred.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amounts of those inventories are recognised as an expense in cost of 
sales in the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories 
to net realisable value and all losses of inventories is recognised as an expense in the period the write-down 
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in net 
realisable value, is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the reversal occurs.

Work in progress

Work in progress consists of unfinished goods measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
Once goods are completed, they are transferred to finished goods.

Obsolete inventory provision

The allowance for obsolescence represents the inventory that has not been sold or used in manufacturing 
within the past 24 to 36 months also considering quantities on hand compared to average usage. 
The movement in this allowance is based on the sale, usage or lack thereof in case of an increase of items 
in the manufacturing process.

1.10 Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell 
and its value-in-use.

Value-in-use is estimated taking into account future cash flows and discounting it using an appropriate 
weighted average cost of capital.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. This reduction is recognised as an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation and amortisation is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the Group tests goodwill acquired in a business 
combination for impairment annually. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised 
in prior periods may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or accumulated 
amortisation is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

1.11 Share capital and equity
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 
of ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

If the Group reacquires its own equity instruments, those instruments are deducted from equity. No gain 
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity 
instruments. Consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity.

Shares in the Group held by the Share Incentive Trust are classified as treasury shares. The cost of these shares 
is deducted from equity. The number of shares held is deducted from the number of issued shares and the 
weighted average number of shares in the determination of earnings per share. Dividends received on 
treasury shares are eliminated on consolidation.

Ordinary shares are recognised at par value and classified as “share capital” in equity. Any amounts 
received from the issue of shares in excess of par value is classified as “share premium” in equity. 

Share-based payments

Goods or services received or acquired in a share-based payment transaction are recognised when the 
goods or as the services are received. A corresponding increase in equity – in the share-based payment 
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The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable value, 
is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which 
the reversal occurs.

The related cost of providing services recognised as revenue in the current period is included in cost of sales.

1.17 Finance income and finance costs
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in 
profit or loss, using the effective interest method.

Finance costs comprise of interest expense on bank overdraft, unwinding of the discount on provisions and 
impairment losses recognised on financial assets. Finance costs that are not directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are recognised in profit or loss using the effective 
interest method.

1.18 Trading operating profit or loss
Trading operating profit or loss comprises sale of goods, rendering of services and directly attributable costs, 
but excludes finance income, fair value adjustments, impairment of goodwill and finance costs.

1.19 Translation of foreign currencies 
Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currency of the Group 
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of transactions. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency 
at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair 
value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair 
value was determined. Foreign currency differences are generally recognised in profit or loss.

However, foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the following items are recognised in 
other comprehensive income.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates 
different from those at which they were translated on initial recognition during the period or in previous 
consolidated financial statements are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

The Group policy to manage foreign exchange risk is to net off foreign debtors and bank balances against 
foreign creditors, and the remaining exposure is hedged via currency futures or options, with a maximum of 
R3 million of the total exposure left unhedged.

For revenue received in advance, the exchange rate to be used is the exchange rate on the date the foreign 
currency is received into the Group’s bank account.

Foreign operations

The financial statements of foreign operations in the Group are translated into South African Rand as follows: 

• Assets, including goodwill, and liabilities at the rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date.

• Income, expenditure and cash flow items at the weighted average rate of exchange during the 
accounting period.

• Equity at historical rates. 

Differences arising on translation are recognised in other comprehensive income and are presented in the 
foreign currency translation reserve in reserves.

2. New standards and interpretations

2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year
In the current year, the Group has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for 
the current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

IFRS 16 – Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a single on-balance sheet accounting model for lessees. As a result, the Group, as a 
lessee, has recognised right-of-use assets representing its rights to use the underlying assets and the related 
lease liabilities representing its obligation to make lease payments. 

1.14 Revenue from contracts with customers 
IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” and the related “Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers” replaces IAS 18 “Revenue”, IAS 11 “Construction Contracts”, and several 
revenue-related Interpretations. The Group applied IFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method in the prior 
year. There was no impact on the transition from IAS 18 to IFRS 15 and hence opening retained earnings was 
not adjusted in the prior year. 

Revenue for the Group is recognised using the five-step process:

• identifying the contract with a customer;

• identifying the performance obligations;

• determining the transaction price;

• allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations; and

• recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied.

The Group’s revenue is derived from two income streams: 

• Products that are fully configured where an order is received from the customer; and

• Products that are newly developed.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes 
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control of a 
product or service to a customer.   

Fully configured products

For sales of fully configured products, the product is manufactured and then shipped to the customer. 
The point of recognition of revenue is dependent on the sales contract terms, known as the International 
Commercial Terms (Incoterms®). The Incoterm® determines when the control of goods will transfer. 
A receivable is recognised by the Group when the goods are delivered under the Incoterms® as this 
represents the point in time at which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the passage 
of time is required before payment is due. No element of financing is deemed present as the sales are made 
with either prepayment terms or a credit term of 30 to 60 days. 

Newly developed products

For newly developed products a sales contract exists where performance obligations are clearly defined. 
The revenue is recognised at a point in time as per the performance obligations in the contract, as these 
are all short-term in nature. A receivable is recognised by the Group once the performance obligation 
per the contract is met as that will represent the point in time at which the right to consideration becomes 
unconditional, as only the passage of time is required before payment is due. No element of financing is 
deemed present as the sales are made with either prepayment terms or a credit term of 30 days. 

When a performance obligation is satisfied, revenue is recognised as the amount of the transaction price 
(excluding trade discounts, volume rebates and value added tax), allocated to that specific performance 
obligation. 

In certain instances, customers are sold extended warranties. This is seen as a separate performance 
obligation. These amounts are recognised as deferred revenue since the Group has not rendered the service 
relating to these warranties. Deferred revenue will be released to revenue at the earliest date of when the 
services are rendered relating to the warranty or the date of expiry of the warranty.

1.15 Other income
Other income is recognised for amounts received or receivable outside the normal course of business when 
the following conditions have been satisfied:

• The amount of other income can be measured reliably; and

• It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group.

Other income includes profit on foreign exchange, profit on sale of assets and sundry income. 

1.16 Cost of sales
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period 
in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable 
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. 
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IFRIC 23 does not introduce any new disclosures but reinforces the need to comply with existing disclosure 
requirements for: 

• judgements made; 

• assumptions and other estimates used; and 

• the potential impact of uncertainties that are not reflected. 

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

The Group has adopted the standard for the first time in the 2020 financial statements.

The interpretation did not have a material impact on the financial statements as there are no uncertainties 
over the income tax treatment.

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Annual Improvements IFRS

The amendment specifies that the income tax consequences on dividends are recognised in profit or loss, 
other comprehensive income or equity according to where the entity originally recognised the events or 
transactions which generated the distributable reserves.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

The impact of the amendment is immaterial.  

2.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective
The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been 
published and are mandatory for the company’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2020 or later periods. Only standards that are relevant to the Group have been listed below:

Standard/Interpretation
Effective date Periods 
beginning on or after Expected impact

Conceptual Framework amendments:  
Amendments to References to 
Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards 1 January 2020

The impact of the standard will 
not be material to the financial 
statements

IFRS 3 amendment:  Definition of a Business 1 January 2020

The impact of the standard will 
not be material to the financial 
statements

IAS 1 and 8:  Amendments to the definition 
of Material 1 January 2020

The impact of the standard will 
not be material to the financial 
statements

IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7:  Amendments to 
interest rate benchmark reform 1 January 2020

The impact of the standard will 
not be material to the financial 
statements

IAS 1: amendment:  Classification of 
liabilities as current or non-current

1 January 2022 
(proposed delay to 
1 January 2023)

The impact of the standard will 
not be material to the financial 
statements

The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, under which the cumulative 
effect of initial application is recognised in retained earnings at 1 July 2019. Accordingly, the comparative 
information represented for December 2018 and June 2019 has not been restated – i.e. it is presented, 
as previously reported, under IAS 17 and related interpretations. The details of the changes in accounting 
policies are disclosed below. 

Previously, the Group determined at contract inception whether an arrangement was or contains a lease 
under IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement contains a Lease. The Group now assesses whether 
a contract is or contains a lease based on the new definition of a lease. Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or 
contains, a lease if a contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration. 

On transition to IFRS 16, the Group elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of 
which transactions are leases. The Group applied IFRS 16 only to contracts that were previously identified as 
leases. Contracts that were not identified as leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 were not reassessed. Therefore, 
the definition of a lease under IFRS 16 has been applied only to contracts entered into or changed on or 
after 1 July 2019.  

As a lessee, the Group previously classified leases as operating or finance leases based on its assessment of 
whether a lease transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership. Under IFRS 16, the Group 
recognises a right-of-use asset and lease liabilities for most leases – the leases are on the balance sheet. 
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases with low value assets 
like IT and related equipment. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with these leases in the 
income statement. 

At transition, for leases classified as operating leases under IAS 17, the right-of-use asset and lease liabilities 
were measured as if IFRS 16 had always been applied. The lease payments were discounted using the 
Group’s incremental borrowing rate of 10% in South Africa and 5.25% in the United States of America at the 
date of transition. 

Renewal of leases are assessed as they become due if such lease contains a renewable option. Management’s 
assessment therefore includes all relevant facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive 
for the Group to exercise the option to renew. The South African premises are due for renewal at the end 
of September 2020 and management decided to renew the lease for another three years in June 2020. 
The modification to the asset and liability was done in June using the latest incremental borrowing rate of 
7.25%. The American premises are only renewable in 2026. As at 1 July 2019, the Finnish subsidiary had a 
month to month lease and no right-of-use asset was raised for this subsidiary. The Finnish subsidiary signed 
a lease agreement January 2020. An incremental borrowing rate of 3% was used to calculate the lease 
liability. 

The Group leases a number of items of production equipment and vehicles. These leases were classified as 
finance leases under IAS 17. For these finance leases, the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset and lease 
liability at 1 July 2019 were determined at the carrying amount of the lease asset and lease liability under 
IAS 17 immediately before that date. 

On transition to IFRS 16, the Group recognised additional right-of-use assets and additional lease liabilities, 
recognising the difference in retained earnings. The impact on the transition is summarised below:

 1 July 2019

Right-of-use asset 6 216
Deferred tax asset 175
Lease liabilities (7 387)
Straight-lining liability 543
Retained earnings 453

In addition to the above, the nature of the expenses relating to the leases have changed as IFRS 16 replaced 
the straight-line operating lease expense with a depreciation charge for right-of-use assets and interest 
expense on lease liabilities. The change in the nature of the expenses had a positive effect of R3.4 million on 
the EBITDA of the Group. The impact on earnings and headline earnings per share is negligible.

IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty over income tax treatments 

The interpretation clarifies how to apply the recognition and measurement requirements in IAS 12 when 
there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. Specifically, if it is probable that the tax authorities will 
accept the uncertain tax treatment, then all tax related items are measured according to the planned tax 
treatment. If it is not probable that the tax authorities will accept the uncertain tax treatment, then the tax 
related items are measured on the basis of probabilities to reflect the uncertainty. Changes in facts and 
circumstances are required to be treated as changes in estimates and applied prospectively.
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R’000
2019

Alaris 
Antennas COJOT mWAVE

Corporate and
consolidation

Total 
operations

Segmental revenue 129 075 84 058 32 051 – 245 184

– Total revenue 129 885 85 488 32 051 – 247 424
– Inter-segmental (810) (1 430) – – (2 240)
Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation 
(EBITDA) 42 362 30 227 4 856 (16 289) 61 156
Depreciation and amortisation (4 150) (601) (183) (2 097) (7 031)
Finance income 292 3 – 135 430
Finance costs (163) – – (11) (174)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 38 341 29 629 4 673 (18 262) 54 381

Taxation (8 678) (6 018) (1 341) 2 737 (13 300)

Profit/(loss) for the year 29 663 23 611 3 332 (15 525) 41 081

Normalised earnings profit/(loss) 
for the year 29 663 23 611 3 332 (13 934) 42 672
Reportable segment assets 97 203 48 268 28 512 44 412 218 395
Reportable segment liabilities (26 169) (18 720) (5 566) (2 758) (53 213)

Geographical information

Alaris Antennas operates its manufacturing, research and development and sales offices from South Africa. COJOT 
has its operations in Europe. mWAVE operates from the United States of America. The Corporate & Consolidation 
segment is based in South Africa. 

The geographic information analyses the Group’s revenue by region of operating activity. In presenting the 
geographic information, segment revenue is based on the geographic location of the customers.

R’000
2020

Amount
2020

%
2019

Amount
2019

%

REVENUE     
Total 242 753 100% 245 184 100%
Asia 2 732 1% 9 313 4%
Australia 6 060 2% 7 532 3%
Canada 1 665 1% 4 521 2%
East Asia 19 474 8% 15 549 6%
Europe 70 197 28% 75 772 30%
Middle East 28 569 12% 13 541 6%
North America 69 641 29% 45 857 19%
South America 6 917 3% – –
United Kingdom 21 593 9% 43 016 18%
South Africa 15 905 7% 30 083 12%

Normalised earnings per share

Normalised earnings is calculated by adjusting profit for the legal and consulting fees for acquisitions and is for 
information purposes only.

Normalised earnings per share is calculated by dividing normalised earnings by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares in issue.

R’000 2020 2019

Profit from operations for the year 30 985 41 081

Legal and consulting costs for acquisitions 40 1 591

Normalised earnings 31 025 42 672

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 119 734 262 119 810 497

Normalised earnings per ordinary share (cents) 25.91 35.62

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2020
3. Operating segments

The Group had four (2019: four) reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic divisions. 
Management has identified the segments based on the internal reports reviewed monthly by the Group’s chief 
operating decision-maker (CODM). The CODM at the reporting date is the Executive Committee. The responsibility 
of the Executive Committee is to assess performance and to make resource allocation decisions related to the 
individual operations of the Group. The segment financial information provided to and used by the CODM forms 
the basis of the segment information disclosure in these financial statements.

The operating segments comprise:

• Alaris Antennas: located in Centurion, Pretoria where it designs, manufactures and sells specialised broadband 
antennas as well as other related radio frequency products. 

• COJOT: located in Espoo, Finland where it develops innovative broadband antennas to improve connectivity, 
coverage and competitiveness of radio equipment which is deployed to save lives and protect property.

• mWAVE: located in Windham, Maine in the United States and is a leading global provider of innovative custom 
and commercial microwave antenna solutions. As of 1 June 2019, the new Alaris USA has been created as a 
division of mWAVE Industries to sell and support specialised antennas and other RF related products designed 
by COJOT and Alaris Antennas to its customer base in North America.

• Corporate and consolidation: located in Centurion, is a cost centre where costs relating to shared services and 
fees associated with being a listed company are included. Net funding costs are also included here.

The Group operates internationally, across all continents. Refer to Note 11 for disclosure on major customers.

Performance is measured based on earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation, as well as 
profit/(loss) for the year as included in the internal management reports. Management believes that such information 
is the most relevant in evaluating the results of the segments relative to other entities that operate within the industry. 

R’000
2020

Alaris 
Antennas COJOT mWAVE

Corporate and
consolidation

Total 
operations

Segmental revenue 104 790 69 019 68 944 – 242 753

– Total revenue 125 997 76 079 68 944 – 271 020
– Inter-segmental (21 207) (7 060) – – (28 267)
Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation 
(EBITDA) 35 471 21 276 5 565 (11 761) 50 551
Depreciation and amortisation (5 550) (1 274) (1 499) (2 693) (11 016)
Finance income 1 053 – – 749 1 802
Finance costs (257) (37) (231) (33) (558)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 30 717 19 965 3 835 (13 738) 40 779

Taxation (7 575) (3 954) (971) 2 706 (9 794)

Profit/(loss) for the year 23 142 16 011 2 864 (11 032) 30 985

Normalised earnings profit/(loss) 
for the year 23 145 16 011 2 864 (10 995) 31 025
Reportable segment assets 102 215 42 301 46 955 91 917 283 388
Reportable segment liabilities (31 061) (11 932) (13 760) (5 525) (62 278)
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for the year ended 30 June 2020 (continued)

5. Right-of-use assets
IFRS 16 is applied only to contracts that were previously identified as leases. Contracts that were not identified as 
leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 were not reassessed. Therefore, the definition of a lease under IFRS 16 has been 
applied only to contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 July 2019.

Renewal of leases are assessed as they become due if such lease contains a renewable option. Management’s 
assessment therefore includes all relevant facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive for the 
Company to exercise the option to renew. The subsidiary in South Africa extended the lease in respect of the 
building by three years during June 2020.

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases with low value assets 
like IT and related equipment. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with these leases in the 
income statement.

 
Balance at 
1 July 2019 Additions Depreciation FCTR

Closing 
balance

Property 6 206 9 167 (2 914)  791 13 250

6. Goodwill

 2020 2019

R’000

Carrying 
value – 

opening 
balance FCTR

Carrying 
value –
closing 

balance

Carrying 
value – 

opening 
balance Acquisitions FCTR

Carrying 
value – 
closing 

balance

Radiant 
Antennas 2 207 – 2 207 2 207 – – 2 207
COJOT 24 535 5 085 29 620 24 375 – 160 24 535
mWAVE 15 292 3 170 18 462 – 15 592 (300) 15 292

 42 034 8 255 50 289 26 582 15 592 (140) 42 034

Goodwill related to Radiant Antennas Proprietary Limited

The Group entered into a Sale of Business Agreement, dated 10 July 2012, with Radiant Antennas Proprietary Limited 
(“Radiant”) to acquire the business of Radiant as a going concern in order to expand business opportunities.

The Group acquired all assets of Radiant which include trade receivables, plant and equipment (excluding one 
motor vehicle), inventory, any prepayments and Radiant’s right, title and interest in and to contracts, and assumed 
all liabilities of Radiant, excluding any shareholder loan accounts.

The Radiant business acquisition was incorporated into Alaris Antennas effective 1 July 2012, however, is still 
measured as a separate cash-generating unit.  

Goodwill to the value of R2 207 122 was recognised from the Radiant transaction. The recoverable amount was 
determined as the value-in-use of the cash-generating unit estimated on the net present value of the future cash 
flows, expected to be derived from the unit, using a pre-tax discount rate of 20.16% (2019: 17.3%) and terminal 
growth rate of 1% (2019: 2%). The key assumptions are obtained from the budget for 2020 and business plans for the 
years thereafter as well as taking the expected effect of COVID-19 into account. Management’s forecast typically 
covers a five-year period and thereafter a reasonable growth rate is applied based on current market conditions. 
The recoverable amount was greater than the carrying value and hence no impairment was recognised.

Goodwill related to COJOT Oy

The Group entered into a purchase of share agreement, effective 1 May 2016 where 100% of the shareholding was 
purchased from private owners.

4. Plant and equipment

 2020 2019

R’000 Cost
Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value Cost

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
Value

Plant and machinery 22 353 (19 530) 2 823 19 420 (16 035) 3 385
Furniture and fixtures 755 (406) 349 1 422 (1 208) 214
Motor vehicles 477 (428) 49 477 (345) 132
Office equipment 157 (64) 93 85 (39) 46
IT Equipment 3 114 (1 812) 1 302 1 980 (1 090) 890
Computer software 9 552 (7 480) 2 072 7 222 (5 376) 1 846
Leasehold 
improvements 4 905 (3 053) 1 852 2 463 (2 307) 156
Production tooling 2 188 (1 352) 836 1 651 (1 078) 573

 43 501 (34 125) 9 376 34 720 (27 478) 7 242

Reconciliation of Plant and 
Equipment – 2020
R’000

Opening
balance

Reclass-
ification Disposals Additions FCTR

Depre-
ciation

Closing 
balance

Plant and machinery 3 385 – – 594 162 (1 318) 2 823
Furniture and fixtures 214 (92) – 272 1 (46) 349
Motor vehicles 132 – – – – (83) 49
Office equipment 46 – – 59 5 (17) 93
IT Equipment 890 92 (14) 707 60 (433) 1 302
Computer software 1 846 – – 274 683 (731) 2 072
Leasehold improvements 156 – – 2 074 (20) (358) 1 852
Production tooling 573 – – 443 50 (230) 836

 7 242 – (14) 4 423 941 (3 216) 9 376

Reconciliation of Plant and 
Equipment – 2019
R’000

Opening
balance

Reclass-
ification Disposals Additions FCTR

Depre-
ciation

Closing 
balance

Plant and machinery 2 652 672 (1) 1360 3 (1301) 3 385
Furniture and fixtures 125 172 – – – (83) 214
Motor vehicles 251 – – – – (119) 132
Office equipment 48 – – 13 – (15) 46
IT Equipment 863 – – 335 1 (309) 890
Computer software 1 906 90 – 439 7 (596) 1 846
Leasehold improvements 278 41 – – – (163) 156
Production tooling 496 – – 238 2 (163) 573

 6 619 975 (1) 2 385 13 (2 749) 7 242

Pledged as security

Plant and equipment with a carrying value of R1 091 443 (2019: R1 048 227) was ceded as security, refer Note 15.

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Plant and machinery 1 044 917
Motor vehicles 47 131

  1 091 1 048
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Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2020

R’000
Opening
balance Additions Amortisation FCTR

Closing
balance

Model, designs and prototypes 6 027 1 770 (2 277) 1 5 521
Customer relationships – COJOT 3 811 – (1 067) 656 3 400
Customer relationships – MWAVE 6 107 – (1 542) 1 073 5 638

 15 945 1 770 (4 886) 1 730 14 559

Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2019

R’000 Opening Additions Acquisition Amortisation FCTR Closing 

Model, designs and 
prototypes 8 009 218 – (2 199) (1) 6 027
Customer relationships 
– COJOT 4 773 – – (998) 36 3 811
Customer relationships 
– MWAVE – – 7 326 (1 083) (136) 6 107

 12 782 218 7 326 (4 280) (101) 15 945

Internally generated intangible assets with finite useful lives

The intangible assets consist of the development expenditure for models, designs and prototypes incurred that are 
considered to possess the ability to ensure a future economic benefit, on a long-term basis. The expenditure could 
be measured reliably. The useful life is five years with no residual value.

The amortisation charge of R4.9 million (2019: R4.3 million) is included under operating expenses in the statement 
of profit or loss. 

Total aggregate research and development cost incurred was R12.5 million (2018: R13.2 million).

Customer relationships

Fair value of the customer database was calculated by assessing the consistency of the customers in terms of 
their existence and value over the last three years prior to the acquisition of the related company. Based on this 
information an attrition percentage was applied to the expected revenues of the Company to determine what value 
of the future anticipated revenues is estimated to be received from the existing customer database. The lifetime of 
the COJOT customer database was estimated to be seven years and five years for the mWAVE customer database.  

The amortisation charge of R2.6 million (2019: R2.1 million) is included under operating expenses in the statement 
of profit or loss. 

Based on the valuation, amortisation of the customer relationships’ intangible asset of COJOT will be R1.1 million per 
year for the remaining period and R1.5 million per year for mWAVE for the remaining period. 

7. Intangible assets (continued)
Goodwill to the value of R24.8 million (EUR 1.5 million) was recognised from the transaction. The recoverable amount 
was determined as the value-in-use of the cash-generating unit estimated on the net present value of the future 
cash flows, expected to be derived from the unit, using a pre-tax discount rate of 14.73% (2019: 17.1%) and a terminal 
growth rate of 5% (2019: 5%). The key assumptions are obtained from the budget for 2021 and business plans for the 
years thereafter as well as taking the expected effect of COVID-19 into account. Management’s forecast typically 
covers a five-year period and thereafter a reasonable growth rate is applied based on current market conditions. 
The recoverable amount was greater than the carrying value and hence no impairment was recognised.

Possible changes in the assumptions used to calculate the value-in-use for all goodwill balances are not likely to 
cause the recoverable amount to fall below the carrying value of the cash-generating units.

Goodwill related to mWAVE LLC

The Group entered into a purchase of share agreement, effective 1 October 2018 where 100% of the shareholding 
was purchased from private owners.

Goodwill to the value of R15.6 million (EUR 0.9 million) was recognised from the transaction. The recoverable amount 
was determined as the value-in-use of the cash-generating unit estimated on the net present value of the future 
cash flows, expected to be derived from the unit, using a pre-tax discount rate of 14.45%( 2019: 19.45%) and a 
terminal growth rate of 2% (2019: 2%). The key assumptions are obtained from the budget for 2020 and business plans 
for the years thereafter taking the expected effect of COVID-19 into account. Management’s forecast typically 
covers a five-year period and thereafter a reasonable growth rate is applied based on current market conditions. 
The recoverable amount was greater than the carrying value and hence no impairment was recognised.

7. Intangible assets

 2020 2019

R’000 Cost

Accumulated 
amortisation 

and 
impairment FCTR

Carrying
 value Cost

Accumulated 
amortisation 

and 
impairment FCTR

Carrying
 value

Model, 
designs and 
prototypes 14 509 (8 988) – 5 521 12 739 (6 711) (1) 6 027
Customer 
relationships 
– COJOT 7 027 (4 035) 408 3 400 7 027 (2 968) (248) 3 811
Customer 
relationships 
– MWAVE 7 326 (2 625) 937 5 638 7 326 (1 083) (136) 6 107

 28 862 (15 648) 1 345 14 559 27 092 (10 762) (385) 15 945

6. Goodwill (continued)
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9. Financial assets by category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

R’000
2020

Amortised 
cost Total

Trade receivables 35 514 35 514
Cash and cash equivalents 110 268 110 268

 145 782 145 782

R’000
2019

Amortised 
cost Total

Trade and other receivables 76 926 76 926
Cash and cash equivalents 41 836 41 836

 118 762 118 762

The fair value of the financial assets is equal to their carrying values at year-end due to their short-term nature.

10. Inventories

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Raw materials and components 10 667 8 434
Work in progress 9 862 1 678
Finished goods 13 804 13 337

 34 333 23 449

Allowance for obsolescence (3 652) (4 369)

 30 681 19 080

Allowance for obsolescence   
Opening balance 4 369 1 012
Acquisition of subsidiary – 3 165
Allowance (decrease)/increase (717) 192

Closing balance 3 652 4 369

The allowance for obsolescence represents the inventory that has not been sold or used in manufacturing within 
the past 24 – 36 months also considering quantities on hand compared to average usage. The movement in this 
allowance is based on the sale, usage or lack thereof in case of an increase of items in the manufacturing process. 
An amount of R1 344 141 (2019: R448 798) was written-off and has been included in cost of sales.

8. Deferred tax

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Deferred tax liabilities (5 342) (2 475)
Deferred tax assets 12 850 11 229
Total net deferred tax assets 7 508 8 754
Reconciliation of total net deferred tax assets/(liabilities)   
At beginning of year 8 754 1 577
Opening balance adjustment for IFRS 16 175 –
Acquisition of mWAVE – 6 715
Decrease in tax loss available for set off against future taxable income (16) (148)
Reversing temporary difference on plant and equipment (375) (241)
Reversing temporary difference on right-of-use assets (188)  
Originating temporary difference on intangible assets 81 660
Originating temporary differences on deferred revenue, income received in 
advance, prepaid expenses and share-based payment 996 125
Temporary differences on unrealised foreign exchange loss/(profit) (1 919) 66

Closing balance 7 508 8 754

Beginning of year 8 754 1 577
Acquisition of mWAVE – 6 715
Opening balance adjustment for IFRS 16 175 –
Foreign currency translation reserve (1 919) 66
Charged through profit or loss 498 396

Closing balance 7 508 8 754

Net deferred tax balances consist of the following:   
Plant and equipment (1 157) (677)
Intangible assets 5 790 4 334
Right-of-use asset and lease liability 149 –
Deferred revenue, income received in advance, prepaid expenses and share-based 
payment 5 699 4 768
Tax losses available for set off against future taxable income – 17
Unrealised foreign exchange profit (2 973) 312

 7 508 8 754

Unrecognised deferred tax balances   
Estimated tax losses available to set off against future taxable income 414 294

Unrecognised estimated tax losses 414 294
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The 3 months past due historic loss ratio was reduced by 9% due to R8.4 million that is guaranteed by a letter of credit 
which reduces the risk for expected credit losses. The amount was received subsequent to year end when all the 
documentation was approved by the bank. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk of trade receivables (net of expected credit losses) based on geographical area:

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Europe 11 036 31 292
Asia – 1 304
USA 15 546 11 008
Middle East 2 586 10 082
Australia – 4 920
South Africa 2 296 7 060
United Kingdom 3 705 10 536
Canada 345 724

 35 514 76 926

Sales transactions with multinational customers with revenue of more than 10% of the Group’s revenue:

 2020 2020 2019 2019

 R’000
% of Group 

revenue R’000
% of Group 

revenue

Customer A (Alaris Antennas) 36 170 15% 25 687 10%

Trade receivables comprise a widespread continuing customer base. The Group’s exposure to credit risk is 
influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. Approximately 93% (2019: 88%) of the Group’s 
revenue is attributable to sales transactions with 240 (2019: 224) international customers. The Group generally deals 
with corporates who have a sound credit rating. Credit risk is controlled by credit limits being set by experienced 
personnel. Where credit history has not been established with the customer, upfront payment or Letters of Credit 
(LCs) are required. Listing of overdue customer balances are reviewed monthly. It is the policy of the Group to allow 
for 30 – 60 day payment terms.

Fair value of trade receivables

The fair value of trade approximates the carrying value due to the short-term nature.

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade receivables:

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Opening balance 373 –
Expected credit loss charged through profit and loss (182) 373

Closing balance 191 373

The Group makes use of the simplified approach of a provision matrix as a practical expedient to the determination 
of expected credit losses on trade and other receivables. The provision matrix is based on 24 (2019: 18) full months 
of historic credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, the payment method for 
the customer and an assessment of both the current and forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including the time value of money. For customers who pays via a letter of credit, the percentage used was reduced 
as the certainty is higher to receive the money from the bank.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of trade receivables 
mentioned above and cash and cash equivalents mentioned below.

11. Trade and other receivables (continued)11. Trade and other receivables

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Financial instruments at amortised cost   
Trade receivables 35 705 77 299
Expected credit loss (191) (373)

 35 514 76 926

Non-financial instruments   
Prepayments 1 648 2 239
VAT 3 307 1 461
Deposits 220 309

 5 175 4 009

Total trade and other receivables 40 689 80 935

Trade receivables ageing analysis

R’000
2020

Gross 
amount 

Expected 
credit loss  Net amount 

Current 28 664 (137) 28 527
1 month past due 1 768 (21) 1 747
2 months past due 4 779 (30) 4 749
3 months and more past due 494 (3) 491

 35 705 (191) 35 514

 
Historic loss 

ratio

Forward-
looking 

adjustment

Adjusted 
historic

loss ratio 

Current 0.48% – 0.48%
1 month past due 1.19% – 1.19%
2 months past due 0.63% – 0.63%
3 months and more past due 0.61% – 0.61%

   0.53%

R’000
2019

Gross 
amount 

Expected 
credit loss  Net amount 

Current 53 203 (170) 53 033
1 month past due 12 832 (113) 12 719
2 months past due 1 380 (36) 1 344
3 months and more past due 9 884 (54) 9 830

 77 299 (373) 76 926

 

Historic
loss

ratio

Forward-
looking 

adjustment

Adjusted 
historic

loss ratio 

Current 0.32% – 0.32%
1 month past due 0.88% – 0.88%
2 months past due 2.61% – 2.61%
3 months and more past due 9.55% (9%) 0.55%

   0.48%
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14. Share-based payments
Equity settled share-based payments.

Share Options Group 2020
Number

’000

Weighted
exercise

price

Total
IFRS charge

R’000

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 9 603 1 16 301
Options granted during the year 5 276 – 10 129
Options expired during the year (325) 2 (148)
Options exercised during the year (918) 2 (1 575)

Total options at the end of the year 13 636 1 24 707

Share Options Group 2019
Number

’000

Weighted
exercise

price

Total
IFRS charge

R’000

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 9 490 2 10 576
Options granted during the year 3 508 – 9 295
Options expired during the year (125) 2 (148)
Options exercised during the year (1 775) 2 (1 943)
Options forfeited during the year (1 495) 2 (1 479)

Total options at the end of the year 9 603 1 16 301

Outstanding options

Exercise 
date

within one
year

Exercise 
date

from two to
five years Total

Options with exercise price of R2.10 – Tranche May 2015 1 450 – 1 450
Options with exercise price of R2.30 – Tranche September 2016 325 325 650
Options with exercise price of R1.90 – Tranche November 2017 917 1 835 2 752
Options with exercise price of R0 Tranche March 2019  3 508 3 508
Options with exercise price of R0 Tranche October 2019  5 276 5 276

 2 692 10 944 13 636

Information on options granted

Fair value was determined by using the Black-Scholes model. The following inputs were used:

 

Tranche
May
2015

Tranche
September

2016

Tranche
November

2017

Tranche
March

2019

Tranche 
October

2019

Exercise price R2.10 R2.30 R1.90 R0.00 R0.00
Spot price R2.39 R2.35 R2.14 R2.65 R1.92
Risk free rates used      
Period 1 6.70% 7.35% 7.40% – –
Period 2 6.93% 7.42% 7.58% – –
Period 3 7.09% 7.50% 7.73% 6.98% 6.73%
Period 4 2.21% 7.61% 7.88% – –
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Number of options allocated 1 450 650 2 752 3 508 5 276

The option life for tranche 1 – 3 is five years and it will vest in four equal tranches from year two onwards. During 
the year new options were given to employees. The options life is 36 months and will vest in one tranche if the 
performance vesting criteria are met. 

The volatility was obtained by calculating the change in share price based on a 90-day volume weighted 
average price.

12. Cash and cash equivalents

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:   
Cash on hand 26 14
Bank balances 86 007 41 822
Short-term deposits 24 235 –

 110 268 41 836

The Standard Bank of South Africa holds collateral of suretyship limited to R16.1 million between Alaris Holdings 
Limited and Alaris Antennas Proprietary Limited.

The US subsidiary has a $250 000 line of credit with the bank. Borrowings bear interest at prime plus 1%, are secured 
by all business assets and are guaranteed by the member. The line is subject to annual review and renewal on 
1 November 2020. There were no borrowings outstanding on the line at year-end. 

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents balance approximates the fair value due to the short-term nature. 

13. Share capital

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Authorised share capital   
2 000 000 000 Ordinary shares of R0.00005 each 100 100

1 874 524 926 unissued ordinary shares are under the control of the directors. This authority remains in force until the 
next annual general meeting. The issued share capital is fully settled. A total of 0.83 million shares were repurchased 
at an average price of R2.04 and held as treasury shares in a subsidiary company.

Issued share capital

Number of 
shares

2020

Number of 
shares

2019

Share
capital

2020
R’000

Share
capital

2019
R’000

Share 
premium

2020
R’000

Share 
premium

2019
R’000

Opening balance 125 475 074 120 504 730 6 6 218 586 210 361
Acquisition of company – 4 970 344 – * – 8 113
Share options exercised 
during the year –  * – (169)  112

 125 475 074 125 475 074  6  6 218 417 218 586
Treasury shares (6 128 843) (5 401 744) * * (13 167) (11 303)

 119 346 231 120 073 330  6  6 205 250 207 283

* Nominal amount – amount smaller than R1 000.
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15. Loans and borrowings (continued)

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Minimum instalment sales payments due   
– within one year 2 824 760
– in second to fifth year inclusive 3 503 1 416

 6 327 2 176

Less: Future finance charges (139) (322)

Present value of minimum instalment sales payments 6 188 1 854
Present value of minimum instalment sales payments due:   
– within one year 2 732 588
– in second to fifth year inclusive 3 456 1 266

 6 188 1 854

16. Lease liabilities
The Group adopted IFRS 16 for the first time in the current financial period. 

 
2020

R’000

Non-current liabilities  
At amortised cost 10 066
Current liabilities  
At amortised cost 3 730
Minimum lease payments due:  
– within one year 4 382
– in the second to fifth year inclusive 10 081
– after five years 873

 15 336
Less future finance charges (1 540)

 13 796

Present value of minimum lease payments due:  
– within one year 3 730
– in the second to fifth year inclusive 9 212
– after five years 854

 13 796

Comparative information operating leases under IAS 17

 
2019

R’000

Operating lease liability  
Minimum lease payments due  
– within one year 2 647
– in second to fifth year inclusive 675

 3 322

Operating lease liability (543)

A total expense of R7 498 000 (2019: R2 808 000) related to equity-settled share-based payments transactions was 
recognised in profit or loss.

On 6 May 2015, 13 September 2016, 22 November 2017, 31 March 2019 and October 2019, share options were granted 
to certain employees that entitled them with the option to purchase Alaris Holdings Limited shares at the exercise 
price indicated above. The employees have 30 days after each tranche vests to exercise their option, otherwise 
the options expire.

The Board decided to extend Tranche 1 (May 2015) which lapsed in June 2020 by 12 months due to the share price 
of the holding company being affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.

15. Loans and borrowings

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Instalment sales liability   

Standard Bank of South Africa Limited 141 257

Instalment sale agreement for motor vehicles secured by first covering bond over 
plant and equipment. Refer to Note 4. The loan bears interest at prime rate plus 0.5% 
and is repayable in 60 instalments of R11 171 per month. The net carrying value of the 
assets pledged as security R47 368 (2019: R131 016).   

Standard Bank of South Africa Limited 1 119 1 597

Instalment sale agreement for Plant & Machinery secured by first covering bond over 
plant and equipment. Refer to Note 4. The loan bears interest at prime rate plus 0.5% 
and is repayable in 60 instalments of R50 127 per month. The net carrying value of the 
assets pledged as security R676 304 (2019: R917 212).   

Androscoggin Bank 4 571 –

In April 2020, mWAVE received loan under the Paycheck Protection Program (PPP). 
The PPP, established as part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act 
(CARES Act), provides for loans to qualifying businesses for amounts up to 2.5 times the 
average monthly payroll expenses of the qualifying business. The loans and accrued 
interest are forgivable as long as the borrower uses the loan proceeds for eligible 
purposes, including payroll, benefits, rent and utilities during the forgivable covered 
period of either eight or 24 weeks, at mWAVE’s election beginning on the date of 
receipt of the PPP loan and ending no later than 31 December 2020. The amount of 
loan forgiveness may be reduced if the borrower terminates employees or reduces 
salaries during the measurement period. The unforgiven portion of the PPP loan bears 
interest at 1%, with a deferral of payments for the first six months. The loan may be 
prepaid at any time without penalty and matures in April 2022. mWAVE intends to use 
the proceeds for purposes consistent with the PPP. While mWAVE currently believes 
that its use of the loan proceeds will meet the conditions for forgiveness of the loan, 
as of the date of issuance of these financial statements, there is no assurance that the 
loan will be forgiven.   

Androscoggin Bank   

Instalment sale agreement for Plant & Machinery secured by first covering bond over 
plant and equipment. Refer to Note 4. The loan bears interest at prime plus 1% in the 
USA and is repayable in 48 instalments of R9 735 per month. The net carrying value of 
the asset is R367 502. 357 –

 6 188 1 854

14. Share-based payments (continued)
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19. Revenue

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Fully configured products 205 710 199 497
Newly developed products 37 043 45 687

 242 753 245 184

The geographical split of revenue is disclosed in Note 3 in segmental reporting. No information is provided about 
remaining performance obligations at 30 June 2020 or 30 June 2019 that have an original expected duration of one 
year or less, as allowed by IFRS 15.

20. Trading operating profit

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Trading operating profit for the year is stated after accounting for the following:   

Amortisation of intangible assets 4 886 4 280
Depreciation on plant and equipment 3 216 2 749
Depreciation on right-of-use assets 2 914 –
Employee costs 95 537 87 676
Share-based payment expense 7 498 2 808
Net foreign exchange gains* (1 250) (523)
Consultants 5 823 4 811
(Loss)/Profit on sale of assets 14 (19)
Professional and advisory services 2 447 1 404
Expected credit loss 191 373

* Foreign exchange gains were included in other income.

21. Finance income

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents 1 802 387
Interest income from SARS – 43

 1 802 430

22. Finance costs

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Interest expenses on financial liabilities at amortised cost 200 174
Interest on lease liabilities 454 –

 654 174

Less: Interest on lease liabilities included in cost of sales (96) –

 558 174

17. Trade and other payables

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Financial liabilities   
Trade payables 7 808 14 008
Other accrued expenses 5 698 3 959

 13 506 17 967

Non-financial liabilities   
Payroll accruals 12 100 16 579
VAT payable – 93
Operating lease liability – 543
Deferred revenue 7 636 5 091
Product warranty provision 428 425
Income received in advance 1 861 2 919

 22 025 25 650

Total trade and other payables 35 531 43 617

Fair value of trade and other payables

The fair value of trade payables approximates its carrying value, due to the short-term nature.

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Product warranty provision   
Opening balance 425 348
Provisions raised during the year 380 427
Utilised during the year (457) (352)
FCTR 80 2

Closing balance 428 425

The Group’s obligation relating to this warranty expires in the next 12 months.

18. Financial liabilities by category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

2020
R’000

 Amortised 
cost Leases Total

Trade and other payables 13 506 – 13 506
Loans and borrowings – 6 188 6 188

Lease liabilities – 13 796 13 796

 13 506 19 984 33 490

2019
R’000

 Amortised 
cost Leases Total

Trade and other payables 17 967 – 17 967
Loans and borrowings – 1 854 1 854

 17 967 1 854 19 821

The fair value of the financial liabilities approximates their carrying values at year-end.



101ALARIS HOLDINGS     Integrated Annual Report 2020| 100 ALARIS HOLDINGS     Integrated Annual Report 2020| 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2020 (continued)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2020 (continued)

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Profit for the year 30 985 41 081

Basic earnings 30 985 41 081

Losses on disposal of assets 14 –

Headline earnings 30 999 41 081

Diluted earnings 30 985 41 081

Diluted Headline earnings 30 999 41 081

Basic earnings per ordinary share (cents) 25.88 34.29
Diluted basic earnings per ordinary share (cents) 25.27 33.65
Headline earnings per ordinary share (cents) 25.89 34.29
Diluted headline earnings per ordinary share (cents) 25.28 33.65

25. Directors’ emoluments

2020
Executive

Emol-
uments 

R’000 

Other
benefits*

R’000 

Total
short-term

remun-
eration

R’000

Value 
of share 
options 

exercised
R’000

Total remun-
eration 

R’000 

Number of
outstanding 

share 
options not 

vested
’000 

J Dresel 3 200 75 3 275 64 3 339 4 178
GT Heyman 2 100 63 2 163 105 2 268 3 106

ES Müller 1 350 49 1 399 – 1 399 –

 6 650 187 6 837 169 7 006 7 284

* Other benefits include a defined contribution expense of R11 700 and R7 800 and R4 000 for J Dresel, GT Heyman and ES Müller 
respectively. 

Non-executive

Comp-
ensation

R’000

Mentoring 
services for
subsidiaries

R’000
Total

R’000

CP Bester 355 85 440
RC Willis 213 – 213
A Mellet – Resigned 20 December 2019 63 – 63
CB Neser – Appointed 20 December 2019 55 – 55
CP van der Merwe 199 – 199
P Anania 136 – 136

 1 021 85 1 106

24. Earnings per share (continued)23. Taxation

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Current tax 10 292 13 696

Current year 10 607 13 696
Prior year adjustment (315) –

Deferred tax (498) (396)

Current year (498) (1 520)
Prior year adjustment – 1 124

 9 794 13 300

Reconciliation of the tax expense
2020

R’000
2019

R’000
2020

%
2019

%

Profit before taxation 40 779 54 381   
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28%, 45%, 28.05% and 
20% (2019: 28%, 45%, 28.05% and 20%) 10 031 13 041 24.6 24
Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income     
Non-deductible expenses     
– Legal and consulting fees – 342 – 0.6
– Non-deductible due to apportionment 403 362 1 0.7
– Other non-deductible expenses 55 147 0.1 0.3
Prior year adjustment (315) 1 124 (0.8) 2.1
Share-based payment – lapsed options 496 489 1.2 0.9
Deferred tax asset not recognised – AIH UK
(2018 – computed loss) 326 294 0.8 0.5
S11D allowance (1 202) (2 499) (2.9) (4.6)

 9 794 13 300 24 24.5

24. Earnings per share

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Issued ordinary shares at closing per share register 125 475 074 125 475 074
Less: Treasury shares (closing balance) (6 128 843) (5 401 744)

Net number of shares issued outside the Group 119 346 231 120 073 330

Issued ordinary shares at closing per share register 125 475 074 125 475 074
Less: Treasury shares (weighted) (5 740 812) (4 357 309)
Shares issued to mWAVE sellers (weighted) – (1 307 268)

Basic weighted average number of shares 119 734 262 119 810 497

Share options – free shares based on strike price of options 300 817 504 366

Nil cost treasury shares purchased in the market 2 583 300 1 753 300

Diluted weighted average number of shares 122 618 380 122 068 163
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2019
Executive

 Emol-
uments 

 R’000 

Bonus 
earned

up to 
30 June

– payable
sub-sequent 

to
year-end

 R’000 

Other
benefits

 R’000 

 Total
short-term

remun-
eration 

 R’000 

Value 
of share 
options 

exercised
R’000

Total remun-
eration

R’000

Number of
out-standing 

share 
options not 

vested
’000 

S Lentonen 1 771 1 476 238 3 485 345 3 830 1 597

P Farnum 1 040 437 56 1 533 – 1 533 –

 2 811 1 913 294 5 018 345 5 363 1 597

The Group does not provide non-cash benefits to directors and executive officers and does not contribute to 
post-employment defined benefits on their behalf. 

The director’s direct and indirect shareholding of the Company control 35.71% (2019: 35.86%) of the voting shares 
of the Company. 

25. Directors’ emoluments (continued)

26. Cash generated from operations

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Profit for the year 30 985 41 081
Adjustments for:   
Tax expense 9 794 13 300
Unrealised (profit)/loss on foreign exchange (105) 42
Depreciation and amortisation 11 016 7 029
Finance income (1 802) (430)
Finance costs 654 174
Share-based payment expense 7 498 2 808
Profit on sale of assets 14 (19)
Foreign currency translation reserve 11 387 160
Changes in working capital:   
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (11 601) 6 371
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 40 246 (39 014)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (8 086) 1 501

 90 000 33 003

27. Tax paid

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Balance at beginning of the year (5 173) 1 165
Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss (10 607) (13 696)
Overprovision of prior year tax 315 –
Interest receivable – 43
Exchange rate movements (1 167) 31
Balance at end of the year (5) 5 173

 (16 637) (7 284)

2019
Executive

Emol-
uments 

R’000 

Bonus 
earned

up to 
30 June

– payable
sub-sequent 

to
year-end

R’000 

Other
benefits*

R’000 

Total 
short-term 

remun-
eration

R’000

Value 
of share 
options 

exercised
R’000

Total remun-
eration 

R’000 

Number of 
out-standing 

share 
options not 

vested
’000 

J Dresel 2 785 1 369 87 4 241 438 4 679 2 625
GT Heyman 1 733 865 77 2 675 124 2 799 2 436

 4 518 2 234 164 6 916 562 7 478 5 061

* Other benefits include a defined contribution expense of R27 000 and R17 000 for J Dresel and GT Heyman respectively. 

Non-executive

Comp-
ensation

R’000

Leadership 
develop-

ment
R’000

Mentoring 
services for 
subsidiaries

R’000
Total

R’000

CP Bester 332 213 195 740
RC Willis 161 – – 161
A Mellet 123 – – 123
CP van der Merwe 154 – – 154
P Anania – Appointed 1 November 2018 49 – – 49

 819 213 195 1 227

Prescribed officers

2020
Executive

 Emol-
uments 

 R’000 

 Bonus 
earned

up to 
30 June

– payable
sub-sequent 

to
year-end

R’000 

 Other
benefits

R’000 

Total
short-term

remun-
eration

 R’000 

Value 
of share 
options 

exercised
R’000

Total remun-
eration

R’000

Number of
out-standing 

share 
options not 

vested
’000 

S Lentonen 2 071 – 10 2 081 17 2 098 2 313

P Farnum 1 618 288 119 2 025 – 2 025 –

J Detert 
(appointed 
1 June 2020) 135 – 12 147 – 147 –

 3 824 288 141 4 253 17 4 270 2 313

25. Directors’ emoluments (continued)
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29. Related parties
Relationships    

Subsidiaries Alaris Antennas Proprietary Limited – 100% (2019: 100%)

 COJOT Oy – 100% (2019: 100%)*

 mWAVE Industries LLC – 100% (2019: 100%)*

 Alaris Investment Holdings UK Limited – 100% (2019: 100%)*

 Alaris US Incorporated (dormant) – 100% (2019: 100%)*

Trusts under entity’s control Alaris Holdings Limited Share Incentive Trust

Shareholder with significant influence TADVEST Limited 

Members of key management CP Bester

 J Dresel

 GT Heyman

 P Anania

 RC Willis

 C van der Merwe

 A Mellet Resigned 20 December 2019

 ES Müller Appointed 1 July 2019

 CB Neser Appointed 20 December 2019

 S Lentonen  

 P Farnum  

 J Detert Appointed 1 June 2020

* Foreign subsidiaries

Key management personnel are those having authority and responsibility for planning and controlling the activities 
of the Group, directly or indirectly, including any director of the Group. The directors of the Group have been 
identified as key management personnel of the Group. 

28. Business combination – 2019
As announced on SENS the Group concluded an agreement to acquire 100% of the issued share capital of mWAVE 
Industries LLC (“the Acquisition”). All conditions precedent to the Acquisition as per the agreement were fulfilled 
and the results of mWAVE were included in the Group results from 1 October 2018.

mWAVE is located in the USA and fits the Alaris Group strategy namely radio frequency (RF) technology, own 
intellectual property and global presence. The US market is the largest defense market in the world representing 
approximately 60% of the global market. With mWAVE being located in the USA it will provide increased market 
access for the sales of Alaris and COJOT products. Research has proven that the US market can best be developed 
from a platform which is fully integrated into the country’s operations. mWAVE’s business model and product range is 
complementary to the two existing operating entities in the Alaris Group. The combined operations and intellectual 
property will provide a strategic advantage to the Group to capitalise on new opportunities. This can be achieved 
through the design and development, as well as cross-selling of products. Alaris will gain access to the US supply 
chain, which has great additional benefits to the enlarged group in light of current local economic circumstances.

Identifiable assets and liabilities acquired consist of:

Recognised 
values
R’000

Fair value 
adjustments

R’000

Carrying 
amount

R’000

Plant and equipment 975 – 975
Intangible assets – 7 326 7 326
Inventories 6 371 – 6 371
Trade and other receivables 6 770 – 6 770
Cash and cash equivalents 2 238 – 2 238
Deferred tax 8 770 (2 055) 6 715
Trade and other payables (5 485) – (5 485)

Total identifiable net assets 19 639 5 271 24 910
Goodwill   15 592

Total purchase consideration   40 502

Less: Consideration in shares (4.9 million shares)   (8 113)
Less: Cash acquired   (2 238)

Net cash outflow   30 151

Illustrative example of the business combination’s impact for the period: Revenue
Profit after 

tax

Reported per statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income   245 184    41 109
Less: mWAVE acquisition     (32 051)   (3 332)

  213 133    37 777
Estimated impact of business combination (if acquired 1 July 2018)    42 818      3 447

Estimated impact of the business combination for the period (1 July to 30 June 2019)   255 951    41 224
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Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash deposits, cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and trade receivables. 
The Group only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any 
one counterparty.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluates credit risk relating to customers 
on an ongoing basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no 
independent rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, 
past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance 
with the limits set by the Board. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. 

Financial assets which expose the Group to credit risk at the reporting date were as follows:

 
2020

R’000
2019

R’000

Financial instruments   
Cash and cash equivalents 110 268 41 836
Trade receivables 35 514 76 926

 145 782 118 762

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk mainly arises from financial liabilities/assets. Financial liabilities and assets 
consist of floating rate and non-interest-bearing components. The table below analyses the breakdown of financial 
instruments by type of interest rate:

Financial assets

2020
Floating

R’000

2019
Floating

R’000

Cash and cash equivalents 110 268 41 836
Financial liabilities   
Loans and borrowings (6 188) (1 854)
Lease liabilities (13 796)  

 90 284 39 982

Sensitivity analysis

A hypothetical increase/(decrease) in interest rates by 50 basis points, with all other variables remaining constant, 
would increase/(decrease) profits after tax and retained earnings by R325 017 (2019: R143 935). A hypothetical 
increase/(decrease) in interest rates by 100 basis points, with all other variables remaining constant, would 
increase/(decrease) profits after tax by R650 035 (2019: R287 870). The analysis has been performed for floating 
interest rate financial liabilities. The impact of a change in interest rates on floating interest rate financial liabilities 
has been assessed in terms of the changing of their cash flows and therefore in terms of the impact on net expenses.

 2020 2019

 

50 basis 
point 

increase
R’000

100 basis 
point

increase
R’000

50 basis 
point

increase
R’000

100 basis 
point

increase
R’000

Cash and cash equivalents 397 794 150 301
Overdraft, loans and borrowings (22) (45) (6) (13)
Lease liabilities (50) (99) – –

 325 650 144 288

30. Risk management (continued)30. Risk management
Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the loans disclosed in Notes 15 and 16, cash and 
cash equivalents disclosed in Note 12, and equity as disclosed in the statement of changes in equity.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.

This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as loans (current and non-current) 
less cash and cash equivalents as shown in the statement of financial position. Total capital is calculated as equity 
as shown in the statement of financial position plus net debt.

There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or 
externally imposed capital requirements from the previous year.

Currently the Group is negatively geared since the Group does not have large long-term liabilities. 

Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), 
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group applies an enterprise wide risk management framework to assess and report 
on risks including financial risks.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of 
funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. 
Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, Group treasury maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining 
availability under committed credit lines.

The Group’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments, which mainly relate to 
trade and other payables. Current cash and cash equivalents are sufficient to ensure payment of the amounts due 
in the next 12 months.

Cash flow forecasts are prepared and adequately utilised borrowing facilities are monitored on a regular basis.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their fair values due to their short-term nature.

At 30 June 2020

Less than
1 year
R’000

Between
2 and 5 years

R’000

After
5 years

R’000

Loans and borrowings 2 732 3 456 –

Lease liabilities 3 730 9 212 854
Trade and other payables 13 506 – –

At 30 June 2019    

Loans and borrowings 588 1 266 –
Trade and other payables 17 967 – –
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31. Going concern
The outbreak of the global COVID-19 pandemic and the implementation of the national lockdown during March 
2020 resulted in certain operations within the Group not being able to operate for three weeks and have created 
delays in the Group’s production process as well as certain delays in the sales process. The Group primarily sells to 
companies in Europe, Asia and North America where most of these businesses are classified as essential service 
providers in the respective countries and have therefore seen limited impact from national lockdowns imposed by 
their governments. This places the Group in a favourable position as most of its goods are being exported to essential 
businesses overseas and the Group is not reliant on a South African customer base to sustain operations during the 
lockdown. Although the South African subsidiary experienced some delay towards the end of the financial year 
to complete certain projects, the subsidiary could deliver the goods in the new financial year. The Group had an 
acceptable open order book at the start of the new financial year. 

The Group has generated a net profit for the year ended 30 June 2020 of R31 million and as at 30 June 2020, the 
Group has a cash and cash equivalents of R110 million. The current assets exceeded current liabilities by R140 million.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 have been prepared on the basis of 
accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future 
operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments 
will occur in the ordinary course of business. 

32. Events after the reporting period
The directors are not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of 
this report.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s statement of financial position consists of foreign monetary assets and liabilities at any given time 
which exposes the Group to foreign exchange risk. The Board has established a policy for the Group to manage 
their foreign exchange risk against their functional currency. The Group is required economically to hedge their net 
foreign exchange risk exposure, if greater than R3 million, with financial institutions where necessary. Net foreign 
exchange exposure is defined as foreign monetary assets less foreign monetary liabilities. The Group uses forward 
exchange contracts and derivatives to hedge net exposure within the limit approved by the Board.  

The Group evaluates the net foreign exposure on a monthly basis and either increases or decreases the hedge as 
appropriate. Under specific circumstances the Group may have net foreign exposure of greater than R3 million. This 
typically arises when the Group is holding foreign cash which has been earmarked for a foreign acquisition. The Group 
measures currency futures at fair value using inputs as described in level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

Sensitivity analysis  

At 30 June 2020, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the US dollar, with all other variables 
held constant, the impact on profit after tax and retained earnings for the year would have been R4 235 153 
(2019: R1 407 247) higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains or losses on translation of US dollar 
denominated trade receivables and foreign exchange losses or gains on translation of US dollar denominated 
trade payables.

At 30 June 2020, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the Euro, with all other 
variables held constant, the impact on profit after tax and retained earnings for the year would have been 
R3 637 676 (2019: R4 665 988) higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains or losses on translation of 
Euro denominated trade receivables.

At 30 June 2020, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the GBP, with all other variables held 
constant, profit after tax and retained earnings for the year would have been R16 152 (2019: R2 436) higher/lower, 
mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains or losses on translation of GBP denominated trade receivables.

Foreign currency exposure at the end of the year

The Group reviews its net foreign currency exposure, including commitments on an ongoing basis. 

 
2020

*FC’000
2020

R’000
2019

*FC’000
2019

R’000

Trade receivables – USD $905 15 690 $1 260 17 829
Trade receivables – EUR €903 17 569 €3 244 52 250
Cash and cash equivalents – USD _x001E_ $2 553 44 240 $265 3 746
Cash and cash equivalents – EUR €1 844 35 856 €1 276 20 533
Cash and cash equivalents – GBP £12 247 £2 34
Trade payables – USD $(64) (1 108) $(144) (2 030)
Trade payables – EUR €(149) (2 902) €(497) (7 998)
Trade payables – GBP £(1) (22) – –

Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were:

Closing exchange rate used for conversion of foreign items were: 2020 2019

USD 17.33 14.15
EUR 19.45 16.11
GBP 21.29 17.93

Average exchange rates used during the year   
USD 15.64 14.18
EUR 17.29 16.18
GBP 19.68 18.36

* Foreign currency (“FC”)

30. Risk management (continued)
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  Notice of Annual General Meeting

    Alaris Holdings Limited
    Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
    (Registration number 1997/011142/06)
    Share code: ALH ISIN: ZAE000201554
    (“Alaris” or “the Company” or “the Group”)

    Notice is hereby given that an Annual General Meeting   (AGM)   of shareholders of the Company will be held on   Thursday, 
  3   December 20  20   at 12:00     at the registered office of the Company at 1 Travertine, N1 Business Park, Old Johannesburg 
Road, Centurion, 0157  .   Shareholders will be notified of any changes in the venue should it be required for reasons outside 
our control.   

    IMPORTANT INFORMATION
    One of   Alaris’   top priorities is to protect the health and safety of all its stakeholders and, with this in mind, the Company will 
continue to closely monitor developments around COVID-19 (coronavirus). 

    In view of the COVID-19 pandemic,   Alaris   strongly encourages its shareholders not to attend   the Annual General Meeting   
in person but to exercise their voting rights by way of electronic or written proxy and to submit their questions relating to the 
2020 AGM Agenda in advance by email to the Company Secretary   melinda@fusioncorp.co.za   or   andrea@fusioncorp.co.za  . 

    F  urther changes, such as limiting the number of attendees to enable social distancing, changing the venue, providing live 
voting facilities, or even prohibiting physical attendance,   will be made   should same be required     in terms of   any regulations 
issued by Government prior to the A  GM  .

    Shareholders should regularly check the release of SENS announcement on the JSE Limited’s platform and on the   Alaris   
website for any further updates.  

    Alaris   will continue to evaluate the implications of regulations announced by the South African government, as well as any 
potential future measures that may be imposed by the government or recomme  nded by the World Health Organiz  ation.

    Purpose
    The purpose of the Annual General Meeting is to transact the business set out in the agenda below.

    If you are in doubt as to what action to take in regard to this notice, please consult your Central Securities Depository 
Participant (“CSDP”), broker, banker, accountant, attorney or other professional adviser immediately and refer to the 
instructions set out in the conclusion of this notice.

    Agenda
•     Presentation of the audited annual financial statements of the Company, including the reports of the Directors and 

the Audit and Risk Committee for the year ended 30 June 2  020  . These annual financial statements, including the 
unmodified audit opinion, are available on Alaris’ website at   wwww.alarisholdings.com  , or may be requested and 
obtained in person, at no charge, at the registered office of Alaris during office hours. T  he Integrated Annual Report, 
of   which this notice forms part, contains the summarised Group financial statements and the aforementioned Directors’ 
reports. 

•     To consider and, if deemed fit, approve, with or without modification, the following ordinary and special resolutions.

    Shareholders are requested to note the following dates:

•     Record date to receive notice of the Annual General Meeting is Friday,   25 September 2020  

•     Last date to trade to be eligible to vote is Tuesday, 2  4   November 20  20

•     Record date to be eligible to vote is Friday, 2  7   November 20  20

•     Last date for lodging forms of proxy is Tuesday,   1   December 20  20

    Annual General Meeting participants (including shareholders and proxies) are required to provide reasonably satisfactory 
identification before being entitled to attend or participate at the Annual General Meeting. Suitable forms of identification 
include valid identity documents, driver’s licences and passports.

    Report of the Social and Ethics Committee
    The Company’s Social and Ethics report included on page   41   of the integrated annual report will serve as the Social and 
Ethics Committee’s report to the Company’s shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on the matters within its mandate. 
Any specific questions to the Committee may be sent to the Company Secretary prior to the Annual General Meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS’ 
INFORMATION

111 Notice of Annual 
General Meeting

123 Form of Proxy

124 Summary and Notes to the 
Form of Proxy 

127 Electronic Communication  
Election Form
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4. Re-appointment of the members of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Company 

Note: For the avoidance of doubt, all references to the Audit and Risk Committee of the Company is a reference to 
the audit committee as contemplated in the Companies Act.

4.1 Ordinary resolution number 5
Resolved that subject to the passing of ordinary resolution number 1, Mr. Peter Anania, being eligible, be and 
is re-appointed as a member of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Company, as recommended by the 
Board of Directors of the Company, until conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.  

4.2 Ordinary resolution number 6
Resolved that, Mr Carel van der Merwe, being eligible, be and is re-appointed as a member of the Audit 
and Risk Committee of the Company, as recommended by the Board of Directors of the Company, 
until conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.  

4.3 Ordinary resolution number 7
Resolved that that subject to the passing of ordinary resolution number 2, Mr Richard Willis, being eligible, 
be and is re-appointed as a member and Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Company, 
as recommended by the Board of Directors of the Company, until conclusion of the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.  

Reason for and effect of ordinary resolution numbers 5 to 7

The reason for ordinary resolution numbers 5 to 7 (inclusive) is that the Company, being a public listed company, 
must appoint an Audit Committee and the Companies Act requires that Independent Non-Executive 
Directors of the Company be appointed or re-appointed, as members of such Audit Committee, as the 
case may be, at each Annual General Meeting. Brief curriculum vitae of the director(s) up for re-election to 
the Audit and Risk Committee appear on pages 28 and 29 of the integrated annual report.

5. Non-binding endorsement of Alaris' Remuneration Policy and Implementation Report

5.1 Ordinary resolution number 8
Resolved that the Company’s remuneration policy as set out on page 38 of the integrated annual report, be 
and is hereby endorsed by way of a non-binding advisory vote. 

Reason for and effect of ordinary resolution number 8

The reason for ordinary resolution number 8 is that King IV™ and the JSE Listings Requirements recommend 
that the remuneration policy of the Company be endorsed through a non-binding advisory vote by 
shareholders each year.

This enables shareholders to express their views on the remuneration policies adopted. Ordinary Resolution 
Number 8 is of an advisory nature only and failure to pass this resolution will therefore not have any legal 
consequences relating to existing remuneration arrangements.

However, the Board will engage with dissenting shareholders in good faith in the event that a vote of 
25% or more is recorded against the remuneration policy, to ascertain with best reasonable effort the 
reasons for the dissenting votes, and to address legitimate and reasonable objections which may include 
amending the remuneration policy, or clarifying or adjusting remuneration governance and/or processes. 
Dissenting shareholders are also invited to engage with the Company to communicate their concerns 
to the Group Company Secretary, Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services (Pty) Ltd (“Fusion”), represented 
by Melinda van den Berg at melinda@fusioncorp.co.za within a reasonable period after the Annual 
General Meeting.

The Board will take the outcome of the vote, and any subsequent engagement with dissenting shareholders, 
into consideration when considering amendments to the Company’s Remuneration Policy.

Note:  
For any of the ordinary resolutions numbers 1 to 7 (inclusive), 10 and 12 to be adopted, more than 50% of the voting 
rights exercised on each such ordinary resolution must be exercised in favour thereof. The endorsement of the Company’s 
remuneration policy and remuneration implementation report, as contemplated in ordinary resolutions numbers 8 and 9 
(inclusive) requires a non-binding advisory vote. The voting percentages required to pass the remaining resolutions are set 
out below such respective resolutions.  

1. Election of a Director 

Ordinary resolution number 1: Confirmation of Director Appointment
Resolved that shareholders confirm Mr Chris Neser’s appointment as a director of the Company in terms of 
section 24.2 of the Company’s MOI. 

A brief curriculum vitae of Mr Chris Neser appears on page 29 of the Integrated Annual Report.

2. Retirement and Re-Election of Directors  

2.1 Ordinary resolution number 2: Re-election of Director who retires by rotation – 
Mr Peter Anania 
Resolved that shareholders re-elect, by way of a separate vote, Mr Peter Anania as a Non-Executive 
Director, who retires by rotation in terms of section 24.7 of the Company’s MOI, and who has offered himself 
for re-election.

A brief curriculum vitae of the Director offering himself for re-election is contained on page 29 of the 
integrated annual report.

2.2 Ordinary resolution number 3: Re-election of Director who retires by rotation – 
Mr Richard Willis
Resolved that shareholders re-elect, by way of a separate vote, Mr. Richard Willis as a Non-Executive 
Director, who retires by rotation in terms of section 24.7 of the Company’s MOI, and who has offered himself 
for re-election.

A brief curriculum vitae of the Director offering himself for re-election is contained on page 28 of the 
integrated annual report.

Reason for and effect of ordinary resolution numbers 2 and 3 

The reason for ordinary resolution numbers 2 and 3 (inclusive) is that the MOI of the Company, 
the JSE Listings Requirements and, to the extent applicable, the Companies Act, require that a component 
of the Non-executive Directors rotates at every Annual General Meeting of the Company and, being eligible, 
may offer themselves for re-election as Directors.

3. Ordinary resolution number 4: Re-Appointment of External Auditors and Designated 
Audit Partner

Resolved that KPMG Incorporated, be and is hereby re-appointed as the Independent External Auditor of the 
Company and Mr TG Cheadle as the individual designated Auditor of the Company, for the ensuing year on the 
recommendation of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Company, and that shareholders authorise the Board to 
determine the remuneration of the Auditors.

Reason for and effect of ordinary resolution number 4 

The reason for ordinary resolution number 4 is that the Company, being a public listed company, must have its 
financial results audited and such, the Auditor must be appointed or reappointed each year at the Annual General 
Meeting of the Company as required by the Companies Act.
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The JSE Listings Requirements currently provide, inter alia, that:

• the securities which are the subject of the issue for cash must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not the 
case, must be limited to such securities or rights that are convertible into a class already in issue;

• any such issue may only be made to “public shareholders” as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements and not 
to related parties;

• the number of ordinary shares issued for cash shall not in any one financial year in the aggregate exceed 50% 
(fifty percent) of the number of listed securities, excluding treasury shares, as at the date of this notice, being 
59 673 116 securities. The 12 547 507 securities for which management is seeking general authority to issue and 
sell, is below the 50% JSE threshold. Any securities issued under this authorisation during the period of 15 (fifteen) 
months from the date of this authorisation granted will be deducted from the aforementioned 12 547 507 listed 
securities. In the event of a sub-division or a consolidation the authority will be adjusted to represent the same 
allocation ratio. Even though the Group currently has a healthy cash balance on hand, this resolution is required 
in the event where a viable acquisition is identified and preference share liability has to be settled;

• this general authority will be valid until the earlier of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting or the expiry 
of a period of 15 (fifteen) months from the date that this authority is given;

• an announcement giving full details, including the number of securities issued, the average discount to the 
weighted average traded price of the securities over the 30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the issue 
is agreed in writing between the issuer and the parties subscribing for securities, and in respect of the issue of 
options and convertible securities, the effects of the issue on the statement of financial position, net asset value 
per share, net tangible asset value per share, the statement of comprehensive income, earnings per share, 
headline earnings per share and, if applicable, diluted earnings and headline earnings per share, or in respect 
of an issue of shares, an explanation, including supporting information (if any), of the intended use of the funds, 
will be published when the Company has issued securities representing, on a cumulative basis within the earlier 
of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting or the expiry of a period of 15 (fifteen) months from the date 
that this authority is given, 5% (five percent) or more of the number of ordinary shares in issue prior to the issue;

• in determining the price at which an issue of ordinary shares may be made in terms of this authority, the maximum 
discount permitted will be 10% (ten percent) of the weighted average traded price of such securities measured 
over the 30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed between the issuer and 
the party subscribing for the securities; and

• whenever the Company wishes to use ordinary shares, held as treasury stock by a subsidiary of the Company, 
such use must comply with the JSE Listings Requirements as if such use was a fresh issue of ordinary shares.

Under the JSE Listings Requirements, ordinary resolution number 11 must be passed by a 75% (seventy-five percent) 
majority of the votes cast in favour of the resolution by all members present or represented by proxy at the Annual 
General Meeting.

Reason for and effect of ordinary resolution number 11 

For listed entities wishing to issue shares for cash (other than issues by way of rights offers), in consideration for 
acquisitions and/or to share incentive schemes (which schemes have been duly approved by the JSE and by 
the shareholders of the Company), it is necessary for the Board to obtain prior authority of the shareholders in 
accordance with the Listings Requirements and the MOI of the Company. Accordingly, the reason for ordinary 
resolution number 11 is to obtain a general authority from shareholders to issue shares for cash in compliance with 
the Listings Requirements. 

8. Ordinary resolution number 12: Authority to sign all required documents

Resolved that, subject to the passing of the ordinary and special resolutions at the Annual General Meeting, any 
Director of the Company or the Company Secretary shall be and is hereby authorised to sign all documentation 
and perform all acts which may be required to give effect to such ordinary and special resolutions.

Reason for and effect of ordinary resolution number 12

The resolution grants authority to any Director or the Company Secretary to carry out, execute all documentation 
and do all such things as he may in his discretion consider necessary or appropriate in connection with and to 
implement and give effect to the ordinary resolutions above and special resolutions below.

9. Special resolution number 1: General authority to acquire (repurchase) shares

Resolved that the Company and/or any subsidiary be and is hereby authorised by way of a specific approval as 
contemplated in section 48, read with section 46 of the Companies Act, to acquire from time to time issued ordinary 
shares of the Company, upon such terms and conditions and in such amounts as the Directors of the Company may 
from time to time determine, but subject to the MOI of the Company, the provisions of the Companies Act and the 
JSE Listings Requirements, provided that:

5.2 Ordinary resolution number 9
Resolved that the Company’s Implementation Report in regard to its Remuneration Policy, as contained in 
this integrated annual report on page 40, be and is hereby endorsed by way of a non-binding advisory vote. 

Reason for and effect of ordinary resolution number 9

The reason for ordinary resolution number 9 is that King IV™ recommends that every year the Company’s 
remuneration framework be disclosed in three parts, namely:

• a background statement; 

• an overview of the Remuneration Policy; and  

• an Implementation Report. 

and that shareholders be requested to pass separate non-binding advisory votes on the policy and the 
implementation report at the Annual General Meeting. Voting on the above two resolutions enables 
shareholders to express their views on the remuneration policy adopted and on its implementation.  

This enables shareholders to express their views on the remuneration policies adopted. Ordinary Resolution 
Number 9 is of an advisory nature only and failure to pass this resolution will therefore not have any legal 
consequences relating to existing remuneration arrangements.

However, the Board will engage with dissenting shareholders in good faith in the event that a vote of 25% or 
more is recorded against the implementation report, to ascertain with best reasonable effort the reasons for 
the dissenting votes, and to address legitimate and reasonable objections which may include amending 
the implementation report, or clarifying or adjusting remuneration governance and/or processes. Dissenting 
shareholders are also invited to engage with the Company to communicate their concerns to the Group 
Company Secretary, Fusion, at melinda@fusioncorp.co.za within a reasonable period after the Annual 
General Meeting.

The Board will take the outcome of the vote, and any subsequent engagement with dissenting shareholders, 
into consideration when considering amendments to the Company’s implementation report.

6. Ordinary resolution number 10: General authority to Directors to allot and issue authorised but 
unissued ordinary shares

Resolved that the authorised but unissued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company be and are hereby placed 
under the control and authority of the Directors of the Company and that the Directors of the Company be and 
are hereby authorised and empowered to allot, issue and otherwise dispose of such ordinary shares to such person 
or persons on such terms and conditions and at such times as the Directors of the Company may from time to time 
and in their discretion deem fit, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the MOI of the Company and the JSE 
Listings Requirements, when applicable, such authority to remain in force until the next Annual General Meeting.

Reason for and effect of ordinary resolution number 10

In terms of the Company’s MOI the Board may, with the prior approval of the shareholders at a general meeting, 
subject to the statutes and the approval of the Issuer Regulation Division of the JSE (where necessary), issue 
authorised but unissued shares in the Company to such person or persons on such terms and conditions and with 
such rights or restrictions attached thereto as the Directors may determine from time to time.

7. Ordinary resolution number 11: General authority to issue ordinary shares, and to sell treasury 
shares, for cash limited to 12 547 507 shares (10% of the number of listed securities)

Resolved that, the directors of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries from time to time be and are hereby 
authorised, by way of a general authority, to –

• allot and issue, or to issue any options in respect of, all or any of the authorised but unissued ordinary shares in 
the capital of the Company; and/or

• sell or otherwise dispose of or transfer, or issue any options in respect of, ordinary shares in the capital of the 
Company purchased by subsidiaries of the Company,

• for cash, to such person/s on such terms and conditions and at such times as the directors may from time to time 
in their discretion deem fit, subject to the Companies Act, the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company 
and its subsidiaries and the JSE Listings Requirements from time to time.
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Directors’ responsibility statement

The Directors, whose names appear on pages 28 and 29 of the integrated annual report, collectively and individually 
accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information pertaining to this special resolution and certify that, 
to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no facts that have been omitted which would make any 
statements false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that 
this special resolution contains all information required by law and the JSE Listings Requirements.

Material changes

Other than the facts and developments reported on in the integrated annual report, there have been no material 
changes in the financial or trading position of the Company and its subsidiaries since the date of signature of the 
Audit and Risk Committee report and up to the date of the Notice of Annual General Meeting.

The Directors have no specific intention, at present, for the Company or its subsidiaries to acquire any of the 
Company’s shares but consider that such a general authority should be put in place should an opportunity present 
itself to do so during the year, which is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. 

The Directors are of the opinion that it would be in the best interest of the Company to extend such general authority 
and thereby allow the Company or any of its subsidiaries to be in a position to acquire the shares issued by the 
Company through the order book of the JSE, should the market conditions, tax dispensation and price justify such 
an action.

Adequacy of working capital 

At the time that the contemplated repurchase is to take place, the directors of the Company will ensure that, 
after considering the effect of the maximum repurchase and for a period of 12 (twelve) months thereafter: 

• the Company and its subsidiaries will be able to pay their debts as they become due in the ordinary course 
of business;

• the consolidated assets of the Company and its subsidiaries, fairly valued in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, will be in excess of the consolidated liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries;

• the issued share capital and reserves of the Company and its subsidiaries will be adequate for the purpose of 
the ordinary business of the Company and its subsidiaries; and

• the working capital available to the Company and its subsidiaries will be sufficient for the Group’s requirements.

Reason for and effect of special resolution number 1 

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 1 is to grant the Company general approval to acquire its 
own issued shares on such terms, conditions and in such amounts determined from time to time by the Directors of 
the Company by the limitations set out above.

Pursuant to and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, the Directors of the Company hereby state:

• The Directors of the Company have no specific intention to effect the provisions of special resolution number 1 but 
will, however, continually review this position having regard to prevailing circumstances.

• The intention of the Company and/or its subsidiaries is to utilise the general authority to repurchase if at some 
future date the cash resources of the Company are in excess of its requirements.

• The method by which the Company and any of its subsidiaries intends to repurchase its ordinary shares and the 
date on which such repurchase will take place, have not yet been determined.

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is more than 75% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution.

10. Special resolution number 2: Remuneration of Non-executive Directors

Resolved, in terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act, that the Company be and is hereby authorised to 
remunerate its Non-Executive Directors for their services as Directors on the basis set out below (exclusive of 
value-added tax), provided that this authority will be valid until the next AGM of the Company.

(a) any such acquisition of ordinary shares shall be effected through the order book operated by the JSE trading 
system and done without any prior understanding or arrangement with the counterparty (reported trades 
being prohibited);

(b) this general authority shall be valid until the Company’s next Annual General Meeting, provided that it shall 
not extend beyond 15 (fifteen) months from the date of passing of this special resolution number 1, whichever 
period is shorter;

(c) when the Company has cumulatively repurchased 3% of the initial number of the relevant class of securities, 
and for each 3% in aggregate of the initial number of that class acquired thereafter, an announcement will be 
made in accordance with paragraph 11.27 of the Listings Requirements;

(d) the general authority to repurchase is limited to a maximum of 20% in the aggregate in any one financial year 
of the Company’s issued share capital at the beginning of the financial year;

(e) ordinary shares may not be acquired at a price greater than 10% above the weighted average of the market 
value at which such ordinary shares traded for the five business days immediately preceding the date of the 
transaction. The JSE should be consulted for a ruling if the Company’s ordinary shares have not traded in such 
five-business-day period;

(f) the Company has been given authority by its MOI;

(g) at any point in time, the Company and/or its subsidiaries may only appoint one agent to effect any 
such acquisition;

(h) the aggregate of such acquisitions by subsidiaries of Alaris may not result in such subsidiaries holding more than 
10% of Alaris’ issued share capital;

(i) the Company and/or its subsidiaries undertake that they will not enter the market to so acquire the Company’s 
shares until the Company’s sponsor has provided written confirmation to the JSE regarding the adequacy of the 
Company’s working capital in accordance with Schedule 12 of the JSE Listings Requirements;

(j) a resolution has been passed by the Board of Directors confirming that the Board has authorised the general 
repurchase, that the Company passed the solvency and liquidity tests and that, since the tests were done, there 
have been no material changes to the financial position of the Company and the Group; and

(k) the Company and/or its subsidiaries may not acquire any shares during a prohibited period, as defined in the 
JSE Listings Requirements unless a repurchase programme is in place, where dates and quantities of shares to 
be traded during the prohibited period are fixed and full details of the programme have been disclosed in an 
announcement on the Stock Exchange News Service prior to the commencement of the prohibited period.

Although no such repurchases are currently being contemplated, the Directors undertake that they will not effect 
a general repurchase of shares as contemplated above unless the following can be met for a period of 12 months 
after the date of this notice:

• the Company and the Group would in the ordinary course of their business be able to pay debts;

• the consolidated assets of the Company and the Group would exceed the consolidated liabilities of the 
Company and the Group respectively, such assets and liabilities being fairly valued and recognised and 
measured in accordance with the accounting policies used in the financial statements; 

• the issued capital and reserves of the Company and the Group would be adequate for the purposes of the 
Company’s and the Group’s business;

• the Company’s and the Group’s working capital would be sufficient for ordinary business purposes; and

• a resolution by the Board of Directors will have been passed that authorised the repurchase, that Alaris and its 
subsidiaries have passed the solvency and liquidity test and that, since the test was performed, there have been 
no material changes to the financial position of the Group.

The JSE Listings Requirements require the following disclosures, which appear in the integrated annual report: 

Directors and management – refer to pages 32 and 36 of the integrated annual report 

Major shareholders – refer to page 50 of the integrated annual report

Directors’ interests in ordinary shares – refer to page 51 of the annual financial statements available on the 
Company’s website at www.alarisholdings.com

Share capital of the Company – refer to page 94 of the consolidated annual financial statements which are 
available on the Company’s website at www.alarisholdings.com

Litigation statement

The directors, whose names appear on pages 28 and 29 of the integrated annual report of which the Notice of 
Annual General Meeting forms part, are not aware of any legal or arbitration proceedings that are pending or 
threatened, that may have or had in the recent past, being at least the previous 12 months, a material effect on 
Alaris’ financial position.
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11. Special resolution number 3: General approval to provide financial assistance for subscription 
or purchase of ordinary shares in related or interrelated entities in terms of section 44 of the 
Companies Act

Resolved that, in terms of and subject to the provisions of section 44 of the Companies Act, the shareholders of 
the Company hereby approve, as a general approval, the giving by the Company of financial assistance, by 
way of a loan, guarantee, the provision of security or otherwise to any person for the purpose of, or in connection 
with, the subscription of any option, or any securities, issued or to be issued by the Company or any affiliate, or for 
the purchase of any ordinary shares of the Company or its affiliates (including, without limitation, the giving of a 
guarantee to any subscriber, holder or purchaser of preference shares in any affiliate, as security for such affiliate’s 
obligations under such preference shares), as set out in section 44 of the Companies Act, which approval shall be 
valid for a period of 2 (two) years from the date that this special resolution is passed.

The shareholders of the Company hereby resolve that the Board may, subject to compliance with the requirements 
of the MOI, the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, each as presently constituted and as amended 
from time to time, authorise the Company to provide financial assistance as contemplated in section 44 of the 
Companies Act, on such terms and conditions and for such amounts as the Board may determine.

It is hereby noted that the Company may from time to time provide financial assistance in terms of section 44 of the 
Companies Act, by way of a loan, guarantee, the provision of security or otherwise to any person for the purpose of, 
or in connection with, the subscription of any option, or any securities, issued or to be issued by the Company or a 
related or interrelated company (as contemplated in the Companies Act, including, without limitation, any present 
or future subsidiaries of the Company, its holding company and subsidiaries of its holding company and/or any 
other company or corporation that is or becomes related or interrelated to the Company) (collectively for purposes 
of this resolution, the “affiliates”), or for the purchase of any ordinary shares of the Company or its affiliates, on such 
specific terms as may be authorised by the Board.

It is further noted that the Board of Directors of the Company shall not authorise any financial assistance 
contemplated in such special resolution unless the Board:

(a) is satisfied that immediately after providing the financial assistance, the Company will satisfy the solvency and 
liquidity tests contemplated in section 4 of the Companies Act (read with section 44(3)(b)(i));

(b) is satisfied that the terms under which the financial assistance is proposed to be given are fair and reasonable 
to the Company (section 44(3)(b)(ii)); and

(c) is satisfied that any applicable conditions or restrictions in respect of the granting of financial assistance set out 
in the Company’s MOI have been satisfied (section 44(4)).

In compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act the Board is seeking a general authority from shareholders 
to cause the Company to provide financial assistance for subscription and purchase of ordinary shares as set out 
in section 44 of the Companies Act.

Reason for and effect of special resolution number 3

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 3 is to grant the Board a general authority in terms of the 
Act to cause the Company to provide financial assistance by way of a loan, guarantee, the provision of security or 
otherwise to any person for the purpose of, or in connection with, the subscription of any option, or any securities, 
issued or to be issued by the Company or any affiliate, or for the purchase of any ordinary shares of the Company 
or its affiliates, as set out in section 44 of the Act in such amounts and on such terms and conditions as may be 
determined by the Board. The passing of special resolution number 3 will have the effect that the Board will have 
the flexibility, subject to the requirements of the MOI, the Companies Act, the JSE Listings Requirements and the 
requirements of any other stock exchange on which the shares of the Company may be quoted or listed from time 
to time, to provide financial assistance as set out in section 44 of the Companies Act should it be in the interests of 
the Company to do so.

This general authority shall be valid for a period of 2 (two) years from the date of approval of this special resolution 
unless such general authority is varied or revoked by special resolution of shareholders prior to the expiry of such 
2- (two) year period.

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is at least 75% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution.

Type of fee (per annum)

Approved fee for 
the year ended 

30 June 2021

Approved fee for 
the year  ended 

30 June 2020

Board   
Chairperson* R325 538 R308 567
Member R82 800 R78 483
International member €10 331 €10 128
Audit Committee   
Chairperson R99 540 R94 350
Member R60 435 R57 284
International member €7 557 €7 409
Remuneration Committee   
Chairperson R46 001 R43 603
Member R22 646 R21 465
International member €2 772 €2 772
Nomination Committee   
Chairperson** – –
Member R10 550 R10 000
Social and Ethics Committee   
Chairperson R31 650 R30 000
Member R21 100 R20 000
Hourly remuneration   
For services of non-executive directors’ in excess of their attendance at 
regular Board and Committee meetings, payable with pre-approval at 
the Board’s discretion. The Lead Independent Non-Executive Director *** 
will be remunerated by the hour should his services be used.  R2 500 per hour R2 500 per hour

* The chairperson of the Board does not receive additional remuneration if he/she is a member of, or chair of, any subcommittee 
of the Board.

** The Chairperson of the board and the nomination committee is always the same person; therefore, the Chair of the Nomination 
Committee will not receive additional remuneration.  

*** Richard Willis was appointed as the Lead Independent Non-Executive Director with effect from 19 March 2020. 

Reason for and effect of special resolution number 2

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 2 is for the Company to obtain the approval of shareholders, 
by way of a special resolution, for the payment of remuneration to its Non-executive Directors in accordance with 
the requirements of the Companies Act.

The effect of special resolution number 2 is that the Company will be able to pay its Non-executive Directors for 
the services they render to the Company as Directors without requiring further shareholder approval until the next 
Annual General Meeting of the Company.

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is more than 75% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution.
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13. Voting instructions

To transact such other business as may be transacted at an Annual General Meeting or raised by shareholders with 
or without advance notice to the Company.

Voting instructions

In terms of the Companies Act, any member entitled to attend and vote at the above Annual General Meeting 
may appoint one or more persons as proxy, to attend, speak and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member 
of the Company. Forms of proxy must be deposited at the office of the Transfer Secretaries not later than 48 hours 
before the time fixed for the Annual General Meeting (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and gazetted South African 
public holidays).

If your Alaris ordinary shares have been dematerialised and are held in a nominee account then your Central 
Ordinary shares Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker, as the case may be, should contact you to ascertain 
how you wish to cast your vote at the Annual General Meeting and thereafter cast your vote in accordance with 
your instructions.

If you have not been contacted it would be advisable for you to contact your CSDP or broker, as the case may be, 
and furnish them with your instructions. If your CSDP or broker, as the case may be, does not obtain instructions from 
you, they will be obliged to act in terms of your mandate furnished to them, or if the mandate is silent in this regard 
to abstain from voting.

Dematerialised shareholders whose ordinary shares are held in a nominee account must not complete the attached 
form of proxy. Unless you advise your CSDP or broker timeously in terms of the agreement between yourself and your 
CSDP or broker by the cut-off time advised by them that you wish to attend the Annual General Meeting or send 
a proxy to represent you at the Annual General Meeting your CSDP or broker will assume that you do not wish to 
attend the Annual General Meeting nor send a proxy. If you wish to attend the Annual General Meeting your CSDP 
or broker will issue the necessary letter of representation to you to attend the Annual General Meeting.

Shareholders who have dematerialised their ordinary shares through a CSDP or broker, other than “own name” 
registered dematerialised shareholders, who wish to attend the Annual General Meeting, must request their CSDP 
or broker to issue them with a letter of representation, or they must provide the CSDP or broker with their voting 
instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement/mandate entered into between them and the CSDP 
or broker.

Shareholder rights

It is recommended that forms of proxy should be forwarded to reach the Company’s Transfer Secretaries at 
the address given below by no later than 12:00 on Tuesday, 1 December 2020. Any form of proxy not delivered 
to the Transfer Secretaries by this time may be handed to the Chairperson of the AGM at any time prior to the 
commencement of the AGM.

12. Special resolution number 4: Direct or indirect financial assistance (“financial assistance” 
will herein have the meaning attributed to it in section 45(1) of the Companies Act) to any 
company related or interrelated to the Company or to any juristic person who is a member of 
or related to any such companies

Resolved that, as a general approval, the Company may, in terms of section 45(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act and 
subject to compliance with the remainder of section 45 of the Companies Act, provide any direct or indirect financial 
assistance that the Board of Directors of the Company may deem fit to any related or interrelated company or to 
any juristic person who is a member of or related to any such companies (“related” and “interrelated” will herein 
have the meaning so attributed in section 2 of the Companies Act) (on the terms and conditions, to the recipient(s), 
in the form, nature and extent, and for the amounts that the Board of Directors of the Company may determine 
from time to time). 

Reason for and effect of special resolution number 4 

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 4, if adopted, will be to confer authority on the Board of 
Directors of the Company to authorise financial assistance to companies related or interrelated to the Company, 
or to any juristic person who is a member of or related to any such companies generally as the Board of Directors 
of the Company may deem fit, on the terms and conditions, and for the amounts that the Board of Directors may 
determine from time to time, for a period of two years after this Annual General Meeting of the Company.

The granting of the general authority would obviate the need to refer each instance of provision of financial 
assistance in the circumstances contemplated in this special resolution for ordinary shareholder approval.

This general authority would assist the Company with, inter alia, making intercompany loans to subsidiaries 
of the Company, or interrelated companies, as well as granting letters of support and guarantees in 
appropriate circumstances.

This would avoid undue delays and attendant adverse financial impact on subsidiaries, or interrelated companies, 
as it would facilitate the expeditious conclusion of negotiations.

In the event that this special resolution is adopted by the ordinary shareholders of the Company, thereby conferring 
general authority on the Board of Directors of the Company to authorise financial assistance to companies related 
or interrelated to the Company or to any juristic person who is a member of or related to any such companies, then 
the Board of Directors of the Company shall not authorise any financial assistance contemplated in such special 
resolution unless the Board:

(a) is satisfied that immediately after providing the financial assistance, the Company will satisfy the solvency and 
liquidity test contemplated in section 4 of the Companies Act (section 45(3)(b)(i)); 

(b) is satisfied that the terms under which the financial assistance is proposed to be given are fair and reasonable 
to the Company (section 45(3)(b)(ii)); and

(c) has ensured that any conditions or restrictions in respect of the granting of financial assistance set out in the 
Company’s MOI have been satisfied (section 45(4)).

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is at least 75% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting (continued) Form of Proxy

FORM OF PROXY FOR THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING TO BE HELD AT 12:00 AT THE REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE COMPANY AT 1 TRAVERTINE, 
N1 BUSINESS PARK, OLD JOHANNESBURG ROAD, CENTURION, 0157, ON THURSDAY, 3 DECEMBER 2020 – FOR USE BY CERTIFICATED ORDINARY 
SHAREHOLDERS AND DEMATERIALISED ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS WITH “OWN NAME” REGISTRATION ONLY 

Holders of dematerialised ordinary shares, other than “own name” registration, must inform their Central Ordinary shares Depository 
Participant (“CSDP”) or broker of their intention to attend the Annual General Meeting and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with 
the necessary authorisation to attend the Annual General Meeting in person or provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions 
should they not wish to attend the Annual General Meeting in person but wish to be represented thereat.

I/We    (please print)

of    (address)

E-mail:   Tel:    Cell:  

Being the registered holder(s) of    ordinary shares in the capital of the Company, do hereby appoint:

1    or failing him/her,

2    or failing him/her,

the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting, as my/our proxy to act on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company, for 
the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the ordinary and special resolutions to be proposed 
thereat and at any adjournment thereof, and to vote for and/or against such resolutions and/or abstain from voting in respect of the shares 
registered in my/our name/s, in accordance with the following instructions: 

  Number of ordinary shares

  For Against Abstain

1 Ordinary resolution number 1: Confirmation of election of Director – Mr Chris Neser    

2.1 Ordinary resolution number 2: Re-election of Director who retires by rotation – Mr Peter Anania    

2.2 Ordinary resolution number 3: Re-election of Director who retires by rotation – Mr Richard Willis     

3 Ordinary resolution number 4: Re-appointment of External Auditors and Designated Audit Partner    

4.1 Ordinary resolution number 5: Re-election of Audit and Risk Committee member – Mr Peter Anania     

4.2 Ordinary resolution number 6: Re-election of Audit and Risk Committee member – 
Mr Carel van der Merwe 

   

4.3 Ordinary resolution number 7: Re-election of Audit and Risk Committee member and Chairperson – 
Mr Richard Willis   

   

5.1 Ordinary resolution number 8: Non-binding endorsement of Alaris’ Remuneration Policy    

5.2 Ordinary resolution number 9: Non-binding Endorsement of the Implementation Report    

6 Ordinary resolution number 10: General authority to Directors to allot and issue authorised but 
unissued ordinary shares

   

7 Ordinary resolution number 11: General authority to issue ordinary shares, and to sell treasury shares, 
for cash limited to 12 547 507 shares (10% of the number of listed securities)

   

8 Ordinary resolution number 12: Authority to sign all required documentation    

9 Special resolution number 1: General authority to acquire (repurchase) shares    

10 Special resolution number 2: Remuneration of Non-executive Directors    

11 Special resolution number 3: General approval to provide financial assistance for subscription 
or purchase of ordinary shares in related or interrelated entities in terms of section 44 of the 
Companies Act

   

12 Special resolution number 4: Direct or indirect financial assistance (“financial assistance” will herein 
have the meaning attributed to it in section 45(1) of the Companies Act) to any company related 
or interrelated to the Company or to any juristic person who is a member of or related to any 
such companies

   

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces provided above how you wish your vote to be cast. If no indication is given the proxy 
will be entitled to vote or abstain as he or she deems fit.

Signed at   on   2020.

Signature  

Assisted by me (where applicable)  

Please read the summary and notes on the reverse hereof. 

Electronic participation

Shareholders or their proxies may participate in the AGM by way of telephone conference call (“teleconference 
facility”). Please note that the teleconference facility will only allow shareholders to listen in and raise questions 
during the allocated time. Shareholders will not be able to vote using the teleconference facility. Should such 
shareholders wish to vote, they must either:

• complete the form of proxy and return it to the transfer secretary in accordance with paragraph 13 above; or 

• contact their CSDP or broker in accordance with paragraph 13 above.

Shareholders or their proxies who wish to participate in the AGM via the teleconference facility must notify the 
Company by emailing the Company Secretary (by email at melinda@fusioncorp.co.za) by no later than 12:00, 
Tuesday, 1 December 2020. The Company Secretary will first validate such requests and confirm the identity of the 
shareholder in terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act and thereafter, if validated, provide further details on 
using the teleconference facility. 

The cost of the participant’s phone call will be for his/her own expense and will be billed separately by his/her own 
telephone service provider.

The Company cannot guarantee there will not be a break in communication which is beyond the control of 
the Company.

The participant acknowledges that the telecommunication lines are provided by a third party and indemnifies the 
Company against any loss, injury, damage, penalty or claim arising in any way from the use or possession of the 
telecommunication lines, whether or not the problem is caused by any act or omission on the part of the participant 
or anyone else. In particular, but not exclusively, the participant acknowledges that he/she will have no claim against 
the Company, whether for consequential damages or otherwise, arising from the use of the telecommunication 
lines or any defect in it or from total or partial failure of the telecommunication lines and connections linking the 
telecommunication lines to the AGM.

By order of the Board

Melinda Gous
Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services Proprietary Limited
Company Secretary

30 September 2020 

Transfer Secretaries 
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited 

Rosebank Towers
15 Biermann Avenue
Rosebank, 2196
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107)
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Notes to form of proxy

1. An ordinary shareholder holding dematerialised shares by “own name” registration, or who holds shares that are not dematerialised, 
may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of the ordinary shareholder’s choice in the space provided, 
with or without deleting “the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting”. The person whose name stands first on this form of proxy and 
who is present at the Annual General Meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow. Should a 
proxy not be specified, this role will be exercised by the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting. A proxy need not be a shareholder 
of the Company.

2. An ordinary shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, to that proportion of the total votes in the Company 
which the aggregate amount of the nominal value of the shares held by him or her bears to the aggregate amount of the nominal 
value of all the shares issued by the Company. An ordinary shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by inserting the 
relevant number of votes exercisable by the ordinary shareholder in the appropriate box(es). An “X” in the appropriate box indicates 
the maximum number of votes exercisable by that shareholder. Failure to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise the 
proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the Annual General Meeting as he or she deems fit in respect of the entire number of the 
shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat. An ordinary shareholder or his or her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by 
the ordinary shareholder, or to cast all those votes exercised in the same way, but the total of the votes cast and in respect whereof 
abstention is recorded, may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable by the ordinary shareholder.

3. If any ordinary shareholder does not indicate on this instrument that his or her proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution 
or to abstain from voting, or give contradictory instructions, or should any further resolution(s) or any amendment(s) which may be 
properly put before the Annual General Meeting be proposed, the proxy shall be entitled to vote as he or she thinks fit.

4. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the Annual General 
Meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat instead of any proxy appointed in terms hereof.

5. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity must 
be attached to this form of proxy, unless previously recorded by the Company or waived by the Chairman of the Annual 
General Meeting.

6. The Chairman of the Annual General Meeting may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or received other 
than in compliance with these notes.

7. A proxy may not delegate his or her authority to act on behalf of the shareholder, to another person.

8. It is recommended that forms of proxy should be lodged with or mailed to The Meeting Specialist (Proprietary) Limited. Proxy forms to 
be received by them no later than Tuesday 1 December 2020, at 12:00 provided that any form of proxy not delivered to the Meeting 
Scrutineers by this time may be handed to the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting prior to the commencement of the Annual 
General Meeting, at any time before the appointed proxy exercises any shareholder’s rights at the Annual General Meeting.

Hand deliveries to: Postal deliveries to:

The Meeting Specialist (Proprietary) Limited The Meeting Specialist (Proprietary) Limited

One Exchange Square, PO Box 62043

Gwen Lane Marshalltown

Sandown 2107

2196  

An email can be sent to: proxy@tmsmeetings.co.za

9. Should a shareholder lodge this form of proxy with the Transfer Secretaries less than 48 hours before the Annual General Meeting, 
such shareholder will also be required to furnish a copy of such form of proxy to the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting before 
the appointed proxy exercises any of such shareholder’s rights at the Annual General Meeting.

ADDITIONAL FORMS OF PROXY ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE TRANSFER SECRETARIES ON REQUEST.

Summary and Notes to the Form of Proxy (continued)Summary and Notes to the Form of Proxy 

Summary of rights contained in section 58 of the Companies Act

In terms of section 58 of the Companies Act:

• a shareholder of a company may, at any time and in accordance with the provisions of section 58 of the Companies Act, appoint 
any individual (including an individual who is not a shareholder) as a proxy to participate in, and speak and vote at, a shareholders’ 
meeting on behalf of such shareholder;

• a proxy may delegate his or her authority to act on behalf of a shareholder to another person, subject to any restriction set out in the 
instrument appointing such proxy;

• irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy, the appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time and to the extent 
that the relevant shareholder chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise of any of such shareholder’s rights as a shareholder;

• any appointment by a shareholder of a proxy is revocable, unless the form of instrument used to appoint such proxy states otherwise;

• if an appointment of a proxy is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment by: (i) cancelling it in writing, or making a later 
inconsistent appointment of a proxy; and (ii) delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy and to the relevant company;

• a proxy appointed by a shareholder is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right of such shareholder without 
direction, except to the extent that the relevant company’s memorandum of incorporation, or the instrument appointing the proxy, 
provides otherwise; and

• if the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies has been delivered by a shareholder to a company, then, for so long as that appointment 
remains in effect, any notice that is required in terms of the Companies Act or such company’s memorandum of incorporation to be 
delivered to a shareholder must be delivered by such company to:

 – the relevant shareholder; or

 – the proxy or proxies, if the relevant shareholder has:

(i) directed such company to do so, in writing; and

(ii) paid any reasonable fee charged by such company for doing so.
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Electronic Communication Election Form

Alaris Holdings Limited
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
(Registration number 1997/011142/06)
Share code: ALH ISIN: ZAE000201554
(“Alaris” or “the Company” or “the Group”)

To:

The Directors

Alaris Holdings Limited

I/We,    the undersigned

(please print)

of  

(address)

being the registered holder(s) of   ordinary shares in the capital of the Company, 

with account number  

do hereby elect to receive any documents or notices from Alaris by electronic post or notification, to the extent that the Company is 
permitted to so distribute any notices, documents, records or statements in terms of the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as amended, and 
any and every other statute, ordinance, regulation or rule in force from time to time, including the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited 
concerning companies and affecting Alaris.  

I/We hereby furnish the following e-mail address or mobile number for such electronic communication:

E-mail address  

Mobile number  

Any written amendment or withdrawal of any such notice of consent by me/us, shall only take effect if signed by me/us and received by 
the Company.

Signed at  

Date  

Signature  

Assisted by me (where applicable)  

Please complete, detach and return this election form to:

• the Company Secretary: Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services at melinda@fusioncorp.co.za 

or 

• the Transfer Secretaries:

Fax Number: 011 688 5248
E-mail: ecomms@Computershare.co.za 
Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Ave, Rosebank, 2196, South Africa 
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107

Dear Alaris Holdings Limited Shareholder

Notice of publication of annual financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2020

Alaris Holdings Limited hereby gives notice in terms of section 31(1) of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended, to all its 
shareholders of the publication of the annual financial statements of the Company for the financial year end 30 June 2020.

A copy of the annual financial statements of the company may be obtained by a shareholder, without charge:

1. By downloading a copy of the annual financial statements from the company’s website: www.alarisholdings.com; or

2. By requesting a copy of the annual financial statements from Alaris by means of either:

(a) Email: Investor@alaris.co.za;  

(b) Post to Private Bag X4, The Reeds, Pretoria, 0061; or

(c) By requesting post-delivery as per the records on file with your current brokers.

(Please note that the 2020 integrated annual report will only be available in electronic format unless a specific hard copy is requested.)

Yours faithfully

J Dresel

Summary and Notes to the Form of Proxy (continued)
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Corporate Information
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°American
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